
 
NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Your attendance is requested at a meeting to be held in the Jeffrey Room, 
The Guildhall, St. Giles Square, Northampton, NN1 1DE on  

9 June 2014 commencing at 6:00pm 
 

D Kennedy 
Chief Executive  

If you need any advice or information regarding this agenda please 
‘phone Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, telephone 01604 837408 (direct dial), 
email ttiff@northampton.gov.uk who will be able to assist with your 
enquiry.  For further information regarding Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee please visit the website www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
 
Members of the Committee    
 

Chair  Councillor Jamie Lane 

Deputy-Chair  Councillor Brian W Sargeant 

Committee Members Councillor Tony Ansell 
Councillor Joy Capstick 
Councillor Michael Ford 
Councillor Brendan Glynane 
Councillor Elizabeth Gowen 
Councillor Anna S King 
Councillor Phil Larratt 
Councillor Matthew Lynch 
Councillor Lee Mason 
Councillor Nilesh Ramesh Parekh 
Councillor Suresh Patel 
Councillor Sivaramen Subbarayan 
Councillor Winston Strachan 
 

 
Calendar of meetings    
 

Date  Room   

 8 September 2014   6:00 pm 
10 November 
26 January 2015 
23 March 
 6 July 

All meetings to be held in the Jeffery 
Room at the Guildhall unless 
otherwise stated 

 
 

mailto:ttiff@northampton.gov.uk
www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny


Northampton Borough Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

     

Agenda 
 

Item No 
and Time 

Title  Pages Action required  

1  
6:00pm 

 

Apologies  Members to note any apologies and 
substitutions 

2  
 

 

Minutes 1 - 4 Members to approve the minutes of 
the meeting held on 7 April 2014. 

3  
 

 

Deputations/Public 
Addresses 

 The Chair to note public address 
requests. 
 
The public can speak on any agenda 
item for a maximum of three minutes 
per speaker per item.  You are not 
required to register your intention to 
speak in advance but should arrive at 
the meeting a few minutes early, 
complete a Public Address Protocol 
and notify the Scrutiny Officer of your 
intention to speak. 

4  
 

 

Declarations of Interest 
(Including Whipping) 

 Members to state any interests. 

5  
6:05pm 

 

Monitoring implementation 
of the accepted 
recommendations 
contained in the following 
Overview and Scrutiny 
report: Retail Experience 

5 - 10 A copy of the Executive Summary of 
the O&S Report (Retail Experience) 
is attached. 

6  
6:20pm 

 

NBC owned street lighting  The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to consider a briefing 
about NBC owned street lighting. 

7  
6:25pm 

 

West Northants 
Development Corporation 
(WNDC) 

 The Committee to receive a briefing 
on the handover from WNDC to 
Northampton Borough Council (NBC). 

 

8  
6:45pm 

 

Guidelines of Section 106 
Agreements 

11 - 12 The Committee to receive a briefing 
note detailing the clear guidelines on 
Section 106 Agreements and the 
spending of this money. 

9  
6:55pm 

 

Northampton Bus Terminal  The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to receive a briefing 
regarding the Northampton Bus 
Terminal 
 

10  
7:15pm 

Community Safety 
Partnership  

13 - 16 The Chair of the CSP to provide a 
progress report on the levels of 

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=792


Northampton Borough Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

     

 (CSP Performance) performance. 

11  
7:30pm 

 

Licensing Function 
Performance 

17 - 24 The Committee to consider a briefing 
on the Licensing Function 
Performance. 

12  
7:40pm – 
8:10pm 

 

Scrutiny Panels  The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to receive a progress 
report from the Scrutiny Panels.  

12 (a)  
7:40pm 

Scrutiny Panel 1 - Impact 
of the Welfare Reform Act 

25  

12 (b)  
7:45pm 
 

Scrutiny Panel 2 - 
Management and 
Regulation of Private 
Sector Housing (including 
HIMOs) 

 The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to consider the final report 
of Scrutiny Panel 2 – Management 
and Regulation of Private Sector 
Housing (Including HIMOs). (Copy to 
follow). 

12 (c)  
7:55pm 
 

Scrutiny Panel 1 - 
Interpersonal Violence 

26 - 31 The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to approve the scope of 
this Scrutiny Review. 

12 (d)  
8:00pm 
 

Scrutiny Panel 2 - Poverty 
in the Town 

32 - 37 The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to approve the scope of 
this Scrutiny Review. 

 
12 (e)  
8:05pm 
 

Scrutiny Panel 3 - Keep 
Northampton Tidy 

38 - 44 The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to approve the scope of 
this Scrutiny Review. 

 

13  
8:10pm 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 

45 - 60 The Committee to approve the 
Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 
2013/2014. 

14  
8:15pm 

 

Report back from NBC's 
representative to NCC's 
Health, Adult Care and 
Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Councillor Matt Lynch to provide an 
update on the work of NCC’s  Health, 
Adult Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee (Copy to follow). 

15  
8:20pm 

Potential future pre 
decision scrutiny 

61 - 62 The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to consider any potential 
issues for future pre decision scrutiny. 

16  
 

 

Urgent Items  This issue is for business that by 
reasons of the special circumstances 
to be specified, the Chair is of the 
opinion is of sufficient urgency to 
consider.  Members or Officers that 
wish to raise urgent items are to 
inform the Chair in advance. 



1 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Monday, 7 April 2014 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 7 April 2014 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor Jamie Lane (Chair); Councillors Tony Ansell, Phil Larratt, Lee 

Mason, Nilesh Ramesh Parekh, Suresh Patel, Winston Strachan and 
Sivaramen Subbarayan 
 
Councillor Mike Hallam – Cabinet Member for Environment  
Councillor Brandon Eldred – Cabinet Member for Community Engagement 
Julie Seddon – Director of Customers and Communities 
Tracy Tiff – Scrutiny Officer 
Nicola Brindley – Democratic Services Officer 
 

 

 
1. APOLOGIES 

There were none.  
 

2. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meetings held on 28th January 2014 and 10th February 2014 were 
agreed as a true record.  
 

3. DEPUTATIONS/PUBLIC ADDRESSES 

There were none.  
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (INCLUDING WHIPPING) 

Councillor Suresh Patel declared an interest in Item 11 as a Northamptonshire County 
Council Cabinet Member for Adult Care Services.  
 

5. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT SCRUTINY 

Councillor Mike Hallam addressed the Committee and provided a verbal update on the 
following points:- 
 
Missed Bins  
 
He confirmed that in recent months there had been a significant increase in performance 
and they were now meeting the targets. 
 
Councillors Lee Mason and Suresh Patel reported that they had noted an improvement in 
their wards. 
 
Graffiti  
 
Councillor Mike Hallam confirmed that there had been a new approach taken to tackle this 
problem where an officer takes the lead and an Action Plan is then taken forward with the 
relevant parties.  This method had been successful in the Town Centre and they would 
extend it to include the Wellingborough and Kettering Roads.  A similar action plan would be 
set up in Exeter Place. 
 
In response to a question, Councillor Mike Hallam confirmed that there would not be a wall 
set up in Abington Park where people would be allowed to graffiti and would like a zero 

1

Agenda Item 2



2 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Monday, 7 April 2014 

tolerance approach. 
 
Councillor Phil Larratt requested the graffiti be removed at the electricity sub station near 
Sainsburys.  This was noted. 
 
Recycling 
 
Recycling rates had stayed the same although the food recycling had dropped over the past 
12 months.  This was due to people wasting less food or doing more home composting.  
There was also less packaging from manufacturers.  Comparable to other Local Authorities  
Northampton was 44.34%, Cambridgeshire was 42.85% and Leicestershire was  41.5%. 
 
Councillor Phil Larratt confirmed that as the Chairman of Development and Control at 
Northamptonshire County Council waste and recycling was restricted in areas and wanted 
to change planning conditions to draw in a wider area. 
 
Councillor Mike Hallam reported that there had been a 10% increase in recycling and 9000 
recycle containers had been issued which was a positive step forward and final figures 
would be available in June. 
 
Councillor Jamie Lane thanked Councillor Mike Hallam for his quick responses. 
 
Agreed:  That the report be noted.  
 

6. PROGRESS REPORT - RAISING SPONSORSHIP TO OFFSET COST OF NBC 
EVENTS AND CONDITIONS 

Councillor Brandon Eldred addressed the Committee and presented the report.  He 
confirmed that they had met all of the targets and congratulated the team for their hard work 
over the last 12 months. 
 
It was suggested that the Committee would not monitor raising sponsorship in the 
immediate future but would consider re-visiting it during the budget consultation period. 
 
AGREED:  That the report be noted. 
  
 

7. MONITORING OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE ACCEPTED 
RECOMMENDATIONS CONTAINED IN THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
REPORTS: 

 

7.A COMMUNITY CENTRES 

Councillor Brandon Eldred confirmed that all of the Community Centres had been handed 
over to the relevant groups and would visit the current community groups to continue to 
work closely with them.  He congratulated the Community groups who had taken this on. 
 
AGREED: That the report be noted and that monitoring is complete on this Scrutiny 
report. 
  
  

7.B COMMISSIONING FRAMEWORK FOR THE VOLUNTARY AND COMMUNITY 
SECTOR 

Councillor Brandon Eldred confirmed that the small grants fund had been operating well and 
had an application for CEFAP.  Over the last 12 months all of the people who had applied 
for a small grants had met the targets.  In response to a question, he confirmed that any 
money which had been underspent would be carried forward. 

2



3 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Monday, 7 April 2014 

 
Councillor Lee Mason commented that the small grants were extremely valuable to 
organisations. 
 
Agreed:  That the report be noted and that monitoring is complete on this Scrutiny 
report. 
  
  

8. CABINET'S RESPONSE TO THE FOLLOWING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
REPORTS 

 

8.A SERIOUS ACQUISITIVE CRIME, VIOLENT CRIME AND COMMUNITY SAFETY 

Councillor Jamie Lane reviewed Cabinet’s responses and confirmed that all of the 
responses were commented on and accepted. 
 
Councillor Lee Mason noted that the summary of duties had not been circulated to all 
Councillors and requested the information. 
 
Agreed:   

1. That the report be noted and that the summary of duties of the Neighbourhood 
Wardens be circulated to all Councillors. 

2. That the Committee monitors the implementation of the accepted 
recommendations contained within this report in six months’ time. 

  
  

8.B INFRASTRUCTURE REQUIREMENTS AND S106 AGREEMENTS 

Councillor Jamie Lane confirmed that Cabinet had noted their report and a response would 
be made at a future meeting. 
 
Agreed:  

1. That the report be noted. 
2. That the Committee monitors the implementation of the accepted 

recommendations contained within this report in six months’ time. 
 

  
  

8.C IMPROVING THE TOWN'S PARKS 

Councillor Jamie Lane confirmed that they had received a good response from Cabinet and 
all of the recommendations had been agreed.  He noted that this was a good example of 
how Scrutiny and Cabinet could work together for a better town. 
 
Agreed:   

1. That the report be noted. 
2. That the Committee monitors the implementation of the accepted 

recommendations contained within this report in six months’ time. 
 

  
  

9. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2014/2015 

Councillor Jamie Lane confirmed that the suggested reviews were Interpersonal Violence, 
Keep Northampton Tidy and Poverty. 
 
The Committee membership was as follows:- 
 
Interpersonal Violence  -Councillor Sivaramen Subbarayan Chair 

3



4 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Monday, 7 April 2014 

 
Keep Northampton Tidy – Councillors Tony Ansell (Chair), Sivaramen Subbarayan (Deputy 
Chair), Mick Ford, Phil Larratt and Jamie Lane 
 
Poverty in the town – Suggested Chair Councillor Elizabeth Gowen, Lee Mason 
 
An invite would be sent out to all Councillors to request what panels they would like to go 
on. 
  
 

10. SCRUTINY PANELS 
 

10.A SCRUTINY PANEL 1 - IMPACT OF THE WELFARE REFORM ACT 

The Briefing Note was presented to the Committee and its contents noted. 
 
Agreed: That the report be noted. 
  
  

10.B SCRUTINY PANEL 2 - MANAGEMENT AND REGULATION OF PRIVATE SECTOR 
HOUSING (INCLUDING HIMOS) 

The Briefing Note was presented to the Committee and its contents noted. Councillor Phil 
Larratt expressed a concern that there were people in Northampton dwelling in their garages 
or sheds. 
 
Councillor Jamie Lane confirmed that this would be investigated further. 
 
Agreed: That the report be noted. 
  
  

11. REPORT BACK FROM NBC'S REPRESENTATIVE TO NCC'S HEALTH, ADULT 
CARE AND WELLBEING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Councillor Matt Lynch was our representative on the NCC’s Health, Adult Care and 
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee and Councillor Lee Mason was elected as a Deputy. 
 
Agreed:   

1. That the update be noted 
2. That Councillor Mason be nominated as Deputy representative to NCC’s Health 

and Adult Care Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee.       
 

12. POTENTIAL FUTURE PRE DECISION SCRUTINY. 

There were none.  
 

13. URGENT ITEMS 

There were none.  
 

The meeting concluded at 18.45 
 
 

4



 4 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
The purpose of the Review was to: 
 

o To investigate how NBC can support the town centre business 
community 

o To investigate how NBC can support local businesses throughout the 

development period of any major building projects in and close by to 

the town centre (i.e. Grosvenor; bus interchange; university 

accommodation etc.) 

o To identify and examine good practice from other boroughs   

o To identify ways to develop greater involvement / engagement with 

local, regional and national businesses in public land improvement 

initiatives 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed at its work programming event in 
March 2012 to include a review of the retail experience at Northampton.  This was 
an issue that had been identified by a number of members of the public as a key 
suggestion for a future Scrutiny review.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
commissioned Scrutiny Panel 2 to undertake the review.   An in-depth review 
commenced in May 2012 and concluded in May 2013. 

A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Matt Lynch (Chair); 
Councillor Suresh Patel (Vice Chair); Councillors Tony Ansell, Sally Beardsworth, 
Elizabeth Gowen, Dennis Meredith and Danielle Stone and Sheridan New, former 
Grosvenor Centre Manager, (Co-optee.) 

This review links to the Council‟s corporate priorities - Priority 1 – Northampton on 
track – a vibrant town. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be investigated and 
linked to the realisation of the Council‟s corporate priorities: 
 

 Context: 
 Local statistics 

 Demographics – local and national 

 Baseline data: 
 National statistics 

 Definition of the Town Centre 

 Vision for the Town Centre 

 Synopses of various research documents and other published 
documents 

 Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

 Evidence from residents 

 Evidence from Councillors regarding their shopping experience 

 Evidence from the Town Centre Challenge Event 

5

Agenda Item 5



 5 

 Best practice data 

 Site visits 

 Desktop research 
 

 
     CONCLUSIONS AND KEY FINDINGS 
 

 
A significant amount of evidence was heard, details of which are contained in the 
report.  After gathering evidence the Scrutiny Panel established that: - 
 

5.1 
 

5.1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5.1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5.1.3 
 
 

5.1.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5.1.5 

After all of the evidence was collated the following conclusions were drawn: 
 
The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that evidence from both the Policy Briefing produced 
by the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) that as the recession continues, the health and 
vitality of local high streets is likely to be an issue which scrutiny will wish to investigate.  
One of the approaches suggested by the Policy Briefing that Scrutiny may wish to look at 
is local issues.  This was the approach that this Scrutiny Review concentrated on – 
looking at Northampton town centre and focusing on a range of key issues. 

The Scrutiny Panel highlighted the Central Area Action regarding town centre 
regeneration, in particular the section “Delivering a Vibrant Retail Centre: 

 

 Defining and strengthening Northampton‟s Primary Shopping Area (as shown on the 
„Proposals Map‟) is vital if the Central Area is to fulfil its role as a town centre (as 
defined by PPS4: Planning for Sustainable Economic Growth) and the principal 
shopping centre for Northamptonshire.  To show the distinction between the types of 
use classes within Northampton Central Area, the Primary Shopping Area has been 
broken down into Primary and Secondary Frontages : 

 

 Primary Frontages are the focus for retail uses   

 Secondary Frontages will have a retail focus but provide opportunities for a 
greater diversity of uses away from retailing, such as financial services, 
restaurants and drinking establishments “  

 
 
It was realised that creating better shop fronts may be an expense that cannot be afforded 
for some small retailers, it might therefore be necessary to decide which should be given 
priority getting a shop back into use or having an improved shop front. 
 
Evidence collated indicated the need for more to be done to make the town centre a more 
visually attractive place. The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that de-cluttering of street 
furniture/signage was very important and   gave a much better perception if the street 
scene was cleared.   The Scrutiny Panel welcomed the announcement that was made 
during the evidence gathering of this Review that the Council was making £50,000 
available for a town centre face lift.  This funding will be spent on a general upgrade of 
street furniture.  
 
The Scrutiny Panel felt that it was very important to encourage a much wider town centre 

 
 

6



 6 

 
 
 
 

5.1.6 
 
 
 
 

5.1.7 
5. 
 
 
 
 

5.1.8 
 
 
5.1.9 
 
 
 
5.1.10 
 
 
 
 
5.1.11 
 
 
 
 
5.1.12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.1.13 
 
5.1.14 
 
 
 
 
5.1.15 
 
 
 
 
 

experience, rather than just concentrate on the retail offer. It is important to promote a 
sense of place and having specific events helped to do this. There could also be a wider 
tie in to National and International events or “days”. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel felt that it was very important to raise the profile of retailing as a career 
and that it should not be seen as a job of last resort. They referred to the presentation that 
they had received from Skillsmart who provide retail training opportunities. Since this 
presentation, Skillsmart confirmed that it would liaise with Northampton BID to see how 
retail training could be promoted within Northampton. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel welcomed the introduction of “pop up shops”, acknowledging that “pop 
up shops” are relatively low cost short term leases to get a retail property back into use.  
The Scrutiny Panel felt that it would be beneficial for services, such as the voluntary 
sector, to be signposted to the opportunity for pop-up campaigns. 

 
During one of its meetings, the Scrutiny Panel heard of the town rangers that Rugby Town 
Centre BID had introduced.  The Town Rangers were felt to be a very positive feature.  
 
The Council‟s good communication methods were acknowledged. It was felt that there 
was a dynamic relationship with the media, with the Council being proactive in media on 
Northampton Alive. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that free parking is having an impact on the numbers of 
people using the town. Every survey that has been conducted by the town centre 
management has referred to the perception that parking is expensive. Often this is not the 
case and parking in several other towns is more expensive than Northampton.   
   
It was emphasised that more needs to be done with partnerships. The Police is a key 
partner in controlling anti-social behaviour in the town centre.  The Scrutiny Panel noted 
the responses from Northants Police that a cared for town centre can alleviate misuse of 
the environment and anti-social behaviour. 
  
The Scrutiny Panel recognised that it is important that any negative perceptions of the 
town centre are dealt with, but at the same time everyone should be made to feel 
welcome in the town centre area, it was particularly encouraging to see activities such as 
the Northampton by the Sea event which had been held in summer 2011 as it encouraged 
families into the town centre.  Northampton had used an approach to attract consumers to 
the town during the Christmas shopping period 2012 by providing Christmas 
entertainment, such as the ice rink.  The benefit of this initiative was welcomed by the 
Scrutiny Panel.  
 
Town Centre events have an impact of increased footfall. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged the enthusiasm of students of the recent student lock 
in at the Grosvenor Centre and noted from the evidence received that should future 
events be held that the overall success of such events be promoted. 
 
The evidence collated alluded that people would like a vibrant town centre comprising 
both chain stores and independent traders, with a variety of  good eating and drinking 
venues and is family orientated at the weekends.  A number of respondents made 
reference to the town becoming a centre for culture. 
 

7



 7 

 
 
 
 
5.1.16 

 
 
 
5.1.17 
 
 
5.1.18 
 
 
 
5.1.19 
 
 
5.1.20 
 
 
 
 
5.1.21 
 
 
 
 
5.1.22 
 
 
 
5.1.23 
 
 
5.1.24 
 
 
 
  
 
  

 

Northampton has some attractive architecture and should be promoted to its full 
advantage. 
 
Like a number of towns and cities, Northampton has a number of vacant shops. 
Evidence received suggested the erection of artwork, created by local artists, on display 
boards, would enhance the aesthetics of the town centre. 
  
From the evidence collated, the Scrutiny Panel is aware of the threats to traditional 
retailing that has already come from the expansion of the Internet for shopping. It was 
realised that there could be further threats due to forthcoming changes in technology. 

It is highlighted that street entertainers in Norwich gave a nice atmosphere to the 
shopping experience and the Scrutiny Panel felt that this could be investigated for 
Northampton.  
 
The Scrutiny Panel supported the provision of Litter Wardens that were employed in 
Norwich.   
  
During the visit to the car park area at the Grosvenor Centre, it was noted that some lights 
were not working.  A boarded up window was observed, as was an out of date 
maintenance sign.  The advertising boards inside the lifts were empty.    The Scrutiny 
Panel felt that the area around the lifts could benefit from a deep clean.  
 
The evidence obtained from the site visits that the Scrutiny Panel undertook determined 
that a number of town centres visited had good signage in situ.   The signage in the 
Grosvenor Centre, Northampton, was felt to be very good.  Initiatives to enhance the retail 
experience that take place in the Grosvenor Centre were supported. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that the public is encouraged to report incidents in 
relation to street cleansing.  
 
 
The Scrutiny Panel noted that reduction of signage work is on-going and is a key initiative 
not only within Northampton but across the county. 
 
The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged the experience gained from the witnesses and the co-
optee to this Review, particularly the wealth of knowledge and experience of the retail 
sector.  It was recognised that it would be useful to continue this invaluable relationship to 
assist with the implementation of the recommendations of this Review. 
 

  

 
             RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 
The above overall findings have formed the basis for the following 
recommendations: - 
 

6.1          The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was: 
 

8



 8 

o To investigate how NBC can support the town centre business 
community 

o To investigate how NBC can support local businesses throughout the 
development period of any major building projects in and close by to 
the town centre (i.e. Grosvenor; bus interchange; university 
accommodation etc.) 

o To identify and examine good practice from other boroughs   
o To identify ways to develop greater involvement / engagement with 

local, regional and national businesses in public land improvement 
initiatives 
 

Scrutiny Panel 2 recommends to Cabinet that: 
 
Retail Experience 
 

6.1.1 The wider town centre experience is promoted and includes retail, leisure, culture, 
events and eating out. 

 
6.1.2 Improved promotion of National and International events/activities. 
 
6.1.3 Improved marketing of Northampton in relation to events held in the town centre. 
 
6.1.4 Review the possibility of street entertainment (buskers) in the town centre. 
 
6.1.5     Ensure town centre retailers and residents are informed on any proposed major 

developments/building projects in the town centre 
 

6.1.6      Actively promote the hour‟s free parking and free parking on Sundays to 
Community Groups and Residents‟ Associations.   

 
6.1.7 Investigate the opportunity to display local artists‟ artwork in vacant shop front 

windows in the town centre. 
 
6.1.8    Promote  Enterprise funding to  the  retail sector, Northampton  BID  and  the 

University of Northampton. 
  
6.1.9      Review Planning Policies with a particular focus on restricting changes of use from 

retail to other use particularly where there is saturation. 
 
6.1.10 The success of the current Pop-up Shops is widely advertised and further 

promoted. It is also promoted to the Voluntary Sector so that it can run short-term 
campaigns using the Pop-up model. 

 
6.1.11     A Town Centre Czar is appointed, in an advisory capacity. 
 
   

Cleansing 
 

6.1.12    The standard of street cleansing is maintained at a consistent level across the town 
centre. 
 

6.1.13     Appropriate systems are in place to monitor the street cleansing contract. 
 

9



 9 

6.1.14 Enterprise Management Services (EMS) works closely with partners (i.e. Town 
Centre BID) to improve engagement and understanding of partners‟ needs. 

 6.1.15 NBC works with town centre businesses around trade waste and where necessary 
takes the appropriate enforcement action. 
   

6.1.16 Any cleaning matters be reported immediately to EMS to ensure a swift response 
is delivered. 

6.1.17 An additional Town Centre Ranger is employed with a particular focus on litter.  
The Town Ranger is issued with a smart, clearly identifiable uniform and where 
possible existing Rangers are also issued with smart, clearly identifiable uniforms. 

 

6.1.18    The “Report It” App is promoted to the wider community. 

 

6.1.19    Northampton Borough Council has dialogue with retailers regarding the cleanliness 
of their forecourts. 

 

6.1.20    The current status of Byelaws in relation to cleansing is investigated and enforced 
as appropriate or where Byelaws do not exist, consideration is given to the 
implementation of suitable Byelaws. 

 

    Partnership Working 
 

6.1.21 NBC works closely with the Town Centre BID regarding any new business 
initiatives/opportunities. 
 

6.1.22     NBC continues to work closely with all partners. 

 

6.1.23 NBC develops an education package for primary schools around the importance of 
recycling and the prevention of littering. 

 

6.1.24    Councillors and Officers from Northamptonshire County Council (NCC) and NBC 
work closely with town centre businesses around traffic and pedestrian movement 
throughout the redevelopment building projects in the town centre. 

 

 Recommendation to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

6.1.25 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, reviews 
the impact of this report in six months‟ time. 
 

10



 

 1 

Northampton Borough Council 
Overview and Scrutiny 

 
 

 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Date: 9 June 2014 
 

Briefing Note: Guidelines of Section 106 Agreements 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1. Following the meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 10 February 

2014 to discuss the Nene Meadows Supplementary Planning Document, the 
Committee requested that a report be brought to this meeting setting out the 
guidelines for expending money pursuant to Section 106 agreements, with 
particular reference to the development at the former Cliftonville Middle 
School. 

 
1.2. The purpose of this report is to give Members an overview and policy 

background to the administration of monies paid pursuant to S106 agreements 
with reference to the aforementioned development. 

 

2. Context 
 
2.1. Where a proposed development will have an impact on local infrastructure, 

adopted and emerging local policy provides the mechanism to require on or off 
site contributions commensurate with the scale of the development to address 
the identified impact.  In line with Regulation 122 of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 contributions can only be sought where 
they are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, 
directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale 
and kind to the development.  Contributions can be secured either through the 
use of planning conditions or more commonly through planning obligations 
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  
 

2.2. The Council has adopted a Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD), which sets out how developer contributions will be sought.  
This can be viewed at: 

 http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning_for_the_future/1746/plan
ning_for_the_future-northampton_local_development_plan 

     
 

11

Agenda Item 8

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning_for_the_future/1746/planning_for_the_future-northampton_local_development_plan
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning_for_the_future/1746/planning_for_the_future-northampton_local_development_plan


 

 2 

2.3. In addition the Council adopted a Playing Field Strategy (2011) to inform its 
approach to providing a robust and up to date assessment of supply and 
demand across the Borough. The needs based assessment provided a full 
background to pitch provision.  It also outlined a series of key issues and 
actions that the Council should adopt in meeting future demands.  This 
included addressing deficiencies across a range of different pitch based 
sports. 

 

2.4. Section 106 obligations are monitored by an officer in the Planning Division.  
The officer reports to and is advised by a Section 106 Board comprised of 
officers from a number of disciplines across the Council.  This provides the 
forum that oversees and ensures the correct and timely administration of 
obligations entered into under Section 106.  It reports through to the Director 
of Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning and the Cabinet Member. 

 

Development at Former Cliftonville Middle School 
 
2.5 Development of a residential healthcare facility (08/0075/FULWNN) was 

approved by WNDC (West Northamptonshire Development Corporation) on 15 
October 2008 subject to a unilateral undertaking under S106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 in order to provide mitigation for this development. 

 
2.6 As part of this mitigation the undertaking provided an obligation for a sum of 

£122,342.18 “Sports Pitch Contribution” to be paid to WNDC prior to the 
commencement of development. Although referenced “Sports Pitch 
Contribution” the scope of use of this sum was wider in that it was defined for 
the provision of recreational facilities in Northampton. The payment was 
received by WNDC on 14 October 2008. 

 

2.7 Subsequently, WNDC committed £97,000 of this amount to improving 
recreational facilities in Beckets Park, which included improvements to the 
waterside frontage and promenade. 

 
2.8 Upon the final transfer of Development Control powers from WNDC back to 

the Borough Council in March 2012, WNDC also transferred the remaining 
S106 monies to the Borough Council to administer. This amounted to 
£25,342.18 in regard to the “Sports Pitch Contribution”.   

 

 
Report Authors:  Simon Tindle, Compliance Officer, Ext 8548 
   Richard Palmer, Planning Policy Team Leader. Ext 7279 
    

 
 
 
 

12



Northampton Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny 

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Call 01604 837046 or 01604 837408   

E-mail:  scrutiny@northampton.gov.uk 

1 

   

 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 

9 June 2014 
Briefing Note – Crime & Disorder, Overview & Scrutiny  

 
     
Summary 
 
On the 3 February 2011 it was agreed that as part of the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee role, that in meeting their responsibilities under the Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009, a bi annual report from the Community 
Safety Partnership (CSP) would be provided.  The report would focus on the levels of 
CSP performance and whether crime has increased in the light of reduced resources, 
and if so what measures have been taken to meet any shortfall in performance.  The 
report was to advise the Committee of work undertaken, thereby informing Overview 
and Scrutiny of further review or scrutiny that may be required. 
 
Community Safety Partnership – Performance Overview 
  
Overall 2013/14 has been a very positive year for the NCSP, achieving notable 
reductions in key crime types.  For 2013/14, Northampton features in the top 10 
CSPs (out of 326) in England and Wales for percentage reduction (in crimes per 
population) of victim based crime, violence against the person and SAC, further 
demonstrating the strong performance in relation to recorded crime.  
 
Actual Performance – April 2013 to March 2014 
 
There’s been a reduction of 17.1% (-3423 crimes) in overall crime in Northampton. 
Criminal damage, violence and theft offences have reduced considerably for this 
period.  
 
Overall crime is used as a proxy measure for crime relating to drugs and alcohol 
misuse.  Victim based crime has been shown in the graph below  to illustrate the 
changes in crime which closer aligns with CSP work, and the symptoms of alcohol & 
drug abuse, this crime group has also reduced by 16.4% (-2953 crimes).  
 
 
 

13

Agenda Item 10



Northampton Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny 

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Call 01604 837046 or 01604 837408   

E-mail:  scrutiny@northampton.gov.uk 

2 

 
 

 
 
 
Northampton has seen a 17.4% (615 crimes) reduction in violent crime this year.  All 
but one month (December) had fewer crimes than the equivalent month in 2012/13. 
Repeat victims of domestic violent crimes have reduced by 16.4% (51 victims). 
Reports of domestic crimes & incidents from first time victims have increased very 
slightly (+1.4%, 26) but not significantly.   
 
SAC has reduced by 27.7% (-1131crimes) in 2013-14. This is primarily due to low 
levels of vehicle crime and significantly undercutting the high volume of burglary 
dwelling last winter.  After two years of continual increases there was 43.3% less 
SAC recorded in Northampton than five years ago, with consistently low volume 
throughout the year. Despite a reduction, burglary dwelling remains the key 
performance threat for the CSP. 
 
Anti-Social Behaviour has seen mixed performance with a continued reduction in 
criminal damage (17.1%) and public perception (9.3%) but a slight increase in ASB 
incidents (9.3%).  The Northampton Anti-Social Behaviour Unit (ASBU) handled 51 
cases of serious and persistent anti-social behaviour between April 2013 and March 
2014.  The majority of these cases (32) related to adults, with just 19 involving young 
people aged 17 or under.   
  
 
 
 
 
 

14



Northampton Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny 

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Call 01604 837046 or 01604 837408   

E-mail:  scrutiny@northampton.gov.uk 

3 

 
 
Specific pieces of work that took place: 
 

 Priority location work in relation to serious acquisitive crime and target 
hardening for victims of burglary.  Main areas for focus were 
Blackthorn/Goldings, The Mounts/Abington Square, Spring Broughs/Semilong, 
Far Cotton and Spencer/St James.  A total of 676 properties received 
improved security measures to their home. 

 
 Six Partnership ‘Weeks of Action’ focusing on crime, anti-social behaviour and 

environmental issues were held in all the five priority locations and also on the 
town centre. 

 
 Specific multi-agency focused work on alcohol related violent crime (Police 

led).   
 

 Target hardening for victims of Domestic Abuse being provided. 168 victims 
received security improvements to their home. 

 
 Killing with Kindness campaign continues, raising awareness around street 

begging issues, and encouraging people to donate to local charities who 
provide support for this group. 

 
 Awareness raising around domestic abuse continues. 

 
 Work on anti-social behaviour cases continue with 5 orders being secured this 

year. 
 

 Junior Warden schemes were rolled out in a further 4 primary schools. 

Crime Type 2012/13 
Baseline 

2013/14 Target 
Reduction  

 Year end 
performance  

All crime 19,978 recorded 
crimes 

No Target Set 17.1% reduction, 
3423 less crimes 
than previous year 

Violent Crime  
(including 
domestic 
abuse) 

3,529 recorded 
crimes  

5% 17.4% reduction, 
615 crimes less 
than previous year 

Serious 
Acquisitive 
Crime 

4,080 recorded 
crimes 

10% 
 

27.7% reduction, 
1,131 crimes less 
than previous year 

Criminal 
Damage 

3.090 recorded 
crimes 

5% 
 

17.1% reduction, 
529 less crimes 
than previous year 

Anti-social 
behaviour 
incidents 

13,258 recorded 
crimes 

5% 
 

1.5% increase, 198 
more incidents 
than previous year 

15



Northampton Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny 

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Call 01604 837046 or 01604 837408   

E-mail:  scrutiny@northampton.gov.uk 

4 

 
 Fourth year of Best Bar None - 24 licensed premises took part this year. 

 
 Fortnightly, multi-agency Domestic Abuse Case Management Meetings 

focusing on level 1 & 2 cases are now embedded and working well. 
 

Partnership Weeks of Action 
 
Partnership Weeks of Action have been a key delivery model during 2013/14.  These 
‘Weeks’ were held in the five priority areas as identified by the police and NCSP as 
high in Serious Acquisitive Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour.  The areas also 
mirrored the authority’s hotspots for fly-tipping and other social disorder.  
 
During the weeks there were a number of coordinated activities across each of the 
areas which included: 
 

 Crime prevention advice and home security advice  

 Rubbish removal and community clean-up activities  

 Community Payback carrying out landscaping improvements and other clean-
up activities  

 Fire Service carrying out Home Fire Safety checks and fitting smoke alarms  

 Target hardening and home security improvements by Care & Repair  

 Housing enforcement activity  

 Police enforcement activity 

 Community and Youth engagement/activity 

Conclusion 
 
The Community Safety Partnership has seen improved results against the targets 
compared to 2012/13 performance.  Excellent reductions in overall crime continue 
with continued reductions in violent crime.  Good improvements have been seen in 
Serious Acquisitive Crime (specifically vehicle crime) and partnership work continues 
to further improve this.   
 
Community Safety Partnerships are placed in Most Similar Groups as defined by the 
Home Office as having similar characteristics.  Northampton CSP is improving its 
comparative performance in this group, seeing an improvement in all but three of the 
eighteen crime types. 
 
 
 
 
 
Brief Author:  Debbie Ferguson, Community Safety Partnership Manager on behalf of Leader of the 
Council, Cllr David Mackintosh - June 2014 

16



Northampton Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny 

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Call 01604 837046 or 01604 837408   

E-mail:  scrutiny@northampton.gov.uk 

1 

   

 
 

Overview and Scrutiny  
 

9 June 2014 
 

Briefing Note – Licensing Service Update 
 
1. Background 
     
This report has been produced to inform the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
of current service delivery, performance and statistics relating to the Licensing 
Service. 
 
Further to the review and restructure of the licensing service provision in 
2012, there has been continued development in order to meet the increasing 
demands and pressures that are faced. 
 
The team have continued to engage in partnership working with other 
agencies to identify and address problem premises, respond to complaints, 
contribute to action planning meetings and instigate legal action where other 
measures have failed, and are continuously seeking to raise education and 
awareness across all licensing regimes before deciding to instigate 
prosecutions.   
 
The service has continued to respond to data requests and actively 
participated in information sharing for law enforcement purposes, with the 
Police, DVSA (formerly VOSA/DSA), Home Office, Gambling Commission, 
HM Revenue and Customs, the UK Border Agency etc. 
 
The Licensing Team have adopted a more flexible approach to working in 
order to meet the demands of the service, some of which can only be met at 
night time and weekends. In order to be more efficient and effective the team 
have widened its approach by dealing with different licensing provisions 
during the same shift, for example, rather than concentrating on taxi licensing, 
the team have utilised their out of normal office working hours to deal with 
matters across all areas of licensing. 
 
The team are continually developing and reviewing its local policies to ensure 
consistency and transparency, whilst also ensuring it operates in accordance 

17

Agenda Item 11



Northampton Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny 

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Call 01604 837046 or 01604 837408   

E-mail:  scrutiny@northampton.gov.uk 

2 

with the Hampton Principles, with inspections and enforcement being risk 
based and proportionate. 
 
The Licensing Team have continued to respond to any major incidents that 
have occurred that require the team’s cooperation at short notice.  They have 
also attended two large events last year, which involved the monitoring and 
compliance of all aspects of the service provision.   
 
2. Taxi & Private Hire Licensing 
 
Licences Issued and Notices Given 
 
Within the Licensing Authority’s area there is currently a fleet of 731 licensed 
vehicles, 925 licensed drivers and 55 licensed private hire operators. 
 
Complaints 
 
There were 186 complaints received during the last financial year in respect of 
the taxi and private hire industry.  Complaints involved dealing with a wide 
range of incidents, from minor to more serious, for example but not limited to; 
theft, racist and sexual offences, unfair charges, refusing to take a passenger, 
vehicle accidents, road traffic offences, attitude of driver, car not arriving etc. 
 
The complaint data is not concerned with driver & vehicle defects, this is 
separately recorded and monitored under compliance checks. 
 
The service aims to acknowledge and deal with complaints within a 10 day 
period.  During last year the service achieved an 88% performance rate within 
this parameter. 
  
The key focus in respect of the taxi and private hire industry is predominately 
based upon public safety.  There are a high volume of complaints that relate 
to the business service and which do not fall upon the licensing team to 
resolve, for example a complaint regarding poor service for the late arrival of a 
vehicle, is concerned with poor business service and not necessarily public 
safety.   
 
However, these calls are still recorded and monitored in order that issues with 
a particular driver might be identified, which could indicate underlying issues 
which might impact upon public safety.  It is often the case that the Licensing 
Officers will facilitate and mediate between both parties in order that some 
minor issues do not escalate. 
 
Following complaints involving more serious incidents and compliance 
checks, there have been 135 interviews undertaken with drivers, resulting in 
the suspension/ revocation of 7 drivers’ licences, 41 cautions and 46 drivers 
warned as to future conduct. 
 

18



Northampton Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny 

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Call 01604 837046 or 01604 837408   

E-mail:  scrutiny@northampton.gov.uk 

3 

Operators have a key role to assist with managing complaints, improving 
compliance and general standards of the Private Hire Drivers, the team felt it 
was imperative to build a better working relationship with the Operators and 
both parties are now holding regular meetings.  There were 41 compliance 
visits to Operators premises in the last financial year. 
 
Enforcement 
 
Following a more flexible approach, Officers have carried out taxi and private 
hire compliance operations, during different periods of both the day and night 
time economy.  Operations have been carried out both in the daytime, 
evenings, early mornings, during weekdays and weekends. 
 
The Licensing Service’s taxi enforcement operations are continuing with the 
police and other partner agencies, including working with the Police, DVSA 
and the County Council to undertake inspections of vehicles providing school 
transport. 
 
There have been 23 operations involving Multi-Agency Vehicle & Driver 
compliance checks and 18 operations for Driver compliance. 
 
In order to raise education and awareness all drivers found to be illegally 
plying for hire have been offered the Safety Awareness Course as an 
alternative to prosecution.  During the last year 15 drivers have attended the 
Safety Awareness Course and have also been issued with a caution.  The 
feedback from the course has been positive and further courses are planned 
to deal with those drivers still required to attend. 
 
The team have also successfully completed its first full year of recording both 
compliance and non-compliance data in respect of the Multi-Agency Vehicle & 
Driver compliance operations. 
 
This data is now enabling officers to look in more detail at repeat offenders 
and are currently working in more detail on action plans to deal with those 
repeat offenders in accordance with the report presented to the Licensing 
Committee on the 23rd July 2013. 
 
Administration 
 
There has continued to be a need for a high demand of service provision 
through the One Stop Shop, with the administration side of the service dealing 
with 2784 appointments and processing a total of 3422 applications for the 
taxi and private hire service. 
 
Work was also undertaken to investigate the improvement of our online 
services and as a result it is anticipated that further work will be undertaken 
this year to streamline this service. 
 

19



Northampton Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny 

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Call 01604 837046 or 01604 837408   

E-mail:  scrutiny@northampton.gov.uk 

4 

There were 116 new driver applications received last year, the majority have 
now attended the one day induction course and 57 new drivers badges have 
been issued.  The remaining applications are still open pending further 
qualifying documents.  There were also 7 new Hackney/Combined Drivers 
badges issued last year. 
 
There has been a considerable impact upon our administration service due to 
changes implemented by the Disclosure and Barring Service (previously the 
Criminal Record Bureau) and the team are currently working to try and 
alleviate some of the issues that have arisen. 
 
3. Licensing Act 2003 
 
Licences Issued and Notices Given 
 
Within the Licensing Authority’s district there are currently 717 Licensed 
Premises, 669 of those hold Premises Licences while the remaining 48 benefit 
from Club Premises Certificates. In addition a total of 2,388 Personal Licences 
have been issued by the authority, 190 of these were issued in the last 
financial year. 
 
Enforcement 
 
During the last financial year  Licensing Officers have developed a more 
strategic and case management approach to ensuring premises are compliant 
with their licence authorisation and are upholding the four licensing objectives 
of Prevention of Crime and Disorder, Protection of Children from Harm, Public 
Nuisance and Public Safety. 
 
As a result of this approach during 2013-2014 Licensing Officers made 85 
visits to licensed/unlicensed premises, taking an appropriate and 
proportionate enforcement route, often raising education and awareness of 
the requirements of the Licensing Act 2003 and the importance of the 
licensing objectives.  As a result of this approach the majority of premises 
have become compliant, there have been two cautions and it has not been 
necessary to instigate any prosecution cases.  There are several premises 
from the last reporting year that are still being monitored and more appropriate 
enforcement action might become necessary.  
 
Due to legislative changes in 2012 it became a requirement that all licence 
holders must pay their annual licence fees within the statutory prescribed 
period.  As a result of this change in legislation, Licensing Officers presented 
a report to the Licensing Committee on the 19th June 2012 detailing how this 
new provision in legislation would be monitored and enforced.  As a result of 
these changes, the service has been successful in reducing the level of debt 
owed to the council and during the period 2013-2014 Licensing Officers 
suspended 18 Premises Licence/Club Premises Certificate due to non-
payment of their fees.  The debt owed to the council reduced by 
approximately £10,000 in the last financial year. 

20



Northampton Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny 

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Call 01604 837046 or 01604 837408   

E-mail:  scrutiny@northampton.gov.uk 

5 

 
Licensing Officers in Northampton have continued to contribute towards 
partnership working and undertook 13 Best Bar None assessments, whilst this 
is a voluntary scheme it is recognised nationally as fundamental in helping to 
raise awareness and standards within the On trade.  
 
It has been identified by officers that the Off trade would also benefit from 
further education and awareness and last year officers commenced an in 
depth piece of work pulling together material from partner agencies,  it is 
anticipated that this will be a useful manual and training guide for the Off trade 
and will assist in raising standards.   
 
The manual has been presented to the Northamptonshire Licensing Liaison 
Group and it is expected that this will be used as a county wide tool.  The 
manual is in its final draft stages and it is anticipated will be rolled out to the 
Off trade later this year. 
 
Administration 
 
In accordance with the Licensing Act 2003, the Licensing Team processed a 
total of 1150 applications, of those 43 applications were for the New Grant of 
a Premises Licence, 18 for the Variation of a Premises Licence, 190 
applications for the New Grant of a Personal Licence and 9 concerned the 
Review of a Premises Licence. 
 
The Licensing Sub-Committee considered and made decisions on 23 
applications as detailed in the table below; 
 

Type of Application Number  Determined 
by Committee 

Decisions 

New Grant Premises 
Licence 

5 3 x Granted with conditions 
1 x Refused 
1 x Granted 

Variation of 
Premises Licence 

3 1 x Granted 
1 x Granted with hours 
amended and Conditions 
1 x Granted with conditions 

New Grant of 
Personal Licence 

2 1 x Granted 
1 x Refused 

Review of Premises 
Licence 

9 3 x Revoked 
2 x Conditions 
1 x Conditions & Suspended 
1 x Conditions & Suspended 
& Change in Designated 
Premises Supervisor 
1 x Licence Suspended & 
Change in Designated 
Premises Supervisor 
1 x Licence transferred to new 

21



Northampton Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny 

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Call 01604 837046 or 01604 837408   

E-mail:  scrutiny@northampton.gov.uk 

6 

operators & conditions 

Expedited Review of 
Premises Licence 

2 1 x Added Conditions 
1 x Suspended 

Temporary Event 
Notice 

2 
 

1 x Application Withdrawn 
1 x Application Refused 

 
There were 2 appeals lodged at the magistrate’s court following the decisions, 
however both were settled out of court due to a change in the premises 
circumstances. 
 
The Full Licensing Committee also considered the application for an Early 
Morning Restriction Order in June 2013.  A decision was made not to 
progress this. 
 
  
4. Gambling Act 2005 
 
Licences Issued and Notices Given 
 
Within the Licensing Authority’s district there are currently 4 Casino Premises 
Licences, 3 Bingo Premises Licences, 7 Adult Gaming Centre Licences, 34 
Betting Premises Licences, 61 Gaming/Club Machine Permits on Alcohol 
Licensed Premises. 
 
There have been concerns nationally about the growth in the number of 
betting office premises, Northampton has followed this trend, with a rise from 
26 in 2007 to 34 in 2014, 2 new betting shop licences were granted in the last 
financial year, with 1 betting shop licence being surrendered.  
 
The number of betting shops has potentially grown due to the demand for 
Fixed Odd Betting Terminals, which are high stakes and high turnover 
machines which are very profitable for the industry.  The Government has 
recognised the need to control the number of betting shops and have recently 
announced plans to change planning laws to give local authority’s the power 
to restrict the number of premises.   
 
The number of Casino premises in Northampton is restricted to 4 and at 
present there are still 4 valid licences in existence.  However, of those four, 
the licence for Beacon Bingo is not currently being utilised and Grosvenor 
Casino’s Ltd licence for Sol Central has been moved to Regent Square, where 
they now have two concurrent licences in operation.  The gambling act 
legislation gives the operator the right to transfer a casino licence in order to 
preserve their rights to retain the licence. 
 
This will allow the Casino to potentially transfer the Casino Licence onto 
another premises should they wish to do so in the future. 
 
Licensing Officers have been working with the Gambling Commission in order 
to ensure that the licences remain valid in accordance with national guidance. 

22



Northampton Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny 

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Call 01604 837046 or 01604 837408   

E-mail:  scrutiny@northampton.gov.uk 

7 

 
Inspections 
 
It is a statutory requirement of the Gambling Act that local authorities carry out 
routine visits on gambling premises and in accordance with this requirement 
Licensing Officers have carried out 50 routine visits on gambling 
establishments. 
 
Licensing Officers have also developed a good working relationship with the 
Gambling Commission and have recently worked in partnership with the 
Commission carrying out its first test purchase operation of underage 
gambling.  Two premises failed the test purchase operation and have been 
issued with warning letters.  Follow-up test purchasing operations are planned 
for these premises. 
 
It is planned to continue test purchase operations, in order to ensure 
compliance with the gambling objective for protecting children and vulnerable 
adults. 
 
Administration 
 
The team also administer Lottery applications which fall within the Gambling 
Act 2005.  Last year the team monitored 138 active lotteries, administered 18 
new applications and revoked 9 due to non-payment of fees.  
 
5. Street Trading 
 
A total of 20 Street Trading Consents were issued last year and the licensing 
team undertook a review of the current trading positions and dealt with the 
relocation of sites on Park Avenue South and Brackmills. 
 
The team have seen a continued interest since the economic downturn from 
individuals wishing to start-up businesses and trade on or near to the public 
highway in various locations throughout Northampton, although predominately 
this has been enquires for town centre locations.  This is a complex area 
trying to explain to individuals the difference between street trading and 
pedlars certificates, it often requires a joint approach from the local authority 
and local police command. 
 
The licensing team are currently investigating the feasibility of allowing more 
street trading pitches within the town centre and premium park locations that 
would create more business opportunity to trade. 
 
The team received 14 complaints in the last financial year, mostly concerned 
with illegal street trading, each complaint was responded to and involved 
multiple ongoing visits to monitor the situation. 
 

23



Northampton Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny 

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Call 01604 837046 or 01604 837408   

E-mail:  scrutiny@northampton.gov.uk 

8 

The team carry out adhoc, routine visits to each trader at least once a year, in 
order to check compliance with conditions of their licence and also to identify if 
pitches become available and can be offered to another trader.   
 
In total the team carried out 41 visits to ensure compliance and in response to 
complaints received. 
 
6. Sex Establishments/Car Boots/Street Collections 
 
There are three Sex Shop Licences in existence and each premises has 
routinely been visited to check on the compliance with licence conditions.  
There were no objections upon the renewal applications for these premises. 
 
There is one Sex Entertainment Licence, which also has a Premises Licence 
issued in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003 and therefore these 
premises are visited during compliance visits and as part of their Best Bar 
None application.  There were no recorded complaints against this premises 
last year. 
 
Permits were issued to seven Car Boot organisers last year covering a total of 
55 events.  There were 10 compliance visits to different car boot events, 
covering each organiser at least once.  There were no recorded complaints 
about Car Boot events last year and minor breaches of conditions noted on 
two occasions, which were resolved following discussions with the organisers. 
 
There were 63 permits issued for Street and House to House Collections.  
There were no recorded complaints and these were monitored on a regular 
basis between Town Centre Wardens and Licensing Officers. 
 
7. Conclusion 
 
The licensing regime continues to evolve with many impending changes 
currently being considered by the Home Office, the Law Commission, and The 
Gambling Commission etc.  The team will continue to horizon scan on any 
impending changes and prepare reports for the Licensing Committee for 
consideration of any new major pieces of legislation, or change to existing 
policies that would have an impact upon our local communities and 
businesses. 
  
It will also continue to review best practices and look at ways of improving 
service delivery to our customers; whilst continuing to ensure that licensees 
are responsible by having due regard for public safety and all of the licensing 
objectives which assist in making Northampton a safe and enjoyable 
environment.  
 
 
 
Brief Author:  Louise Faulkner on behalf of Councillor Mike Hallam, Portfolio Holder. 
June 2014 

24



 

 
 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

9 June 2014 
 

BRIEFING NOTE: 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 1 – IMPACT OF THE WELFARE REFORM ACT 
 

 
1  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Since the last meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, two further evidence 

gathering meetings of the Scrutiny Panel have been held. 
 
2         UPDATE 
 
2.1 At the meeting of the Scrutiny Panel held on 3 April 2014, Councillors received 

further research papers and reports in respect of the Welfare Reform Act. The 
Scrutiny Panel received a collective response to its core questions from a number of 
key internal witnesses. 

 
2.2 At the meeting held on 8 May 2014, the Scrutiny Panel received responses to its 

core questions from a number of external key advisors. 
 
2.3 The Scrutiny Panel will continue evidence gathering at its meeting scheduled for  
          30 June 2014, and will receive further responses to its core questions from several 

external key advisors. 
 
2.4    It is envisaged that the review will be concluded in July 2014; with the report of the 

Scrutiny Panel presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its September 
2014 meeting. 

 
3 RECOMMENDATION 

 

3.1 That the update is noted. 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Author: Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Lee Mason, Chair, Scrutiny Panel 1 – Impact of the 

Welfare Reform Act 
 
 9 May 2014 

25

Agenda Item 12a



26

Agenda Item 12b



 1 

Index 
 
 
 

Chair’s Foreword              2    
     
Executive Summary     4   
 
Final Report including recommendations       13    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
 
 
Appendix A  Scope of the Review   
 
Appendix B  Changes over the last ten years and future trends 

(Copy of presentation) 
 
Appendix C         Core Questions  
          
Appendix D        Results of the desktop research exercise 
     
  
 

  

   
  

27



 2 

 
Foreword 
 
The objective of this Scrutiny Panel was to investigate the regulation and management of 
private lettings, both by landlords and agencies. 
 
The required outcomes being: 
 

• To agree the priorities for private sector housing towards achieving high quality, 
affordable private sector lettings 

• To ensure that private lettings make a positive contribution to neighbourhoods 
• To consider the options for licensing and make recommendations to Cabinet 
• To consider the legislative options available to the Council and make 

recommendations to Cabinet 
• To produce a best practice guide  for Northampton’s  private sector landlords 

 
The Scrutiny Panel was made up from Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
Councillors Mick Ford, Lee Mason, Nilesh Parekh, Brian Sargeant and myself, together with 
other non-Executives Councillors Sally Beardsworth (Deputy Chair); Beverley Mennell and 
Danielle Stone.   

An in-depth review took place between July 2013 and June 2014.   

The Scrutiny Panel held a number of interviews with the Cabinet Member (Housing), Senior 
Staff at Northampton Borough Council and external expert witnesses.  Many thanks must go 
to the Scrutiny Officer, Tracy Tiff, for the comprehensive desktop research which greatly 
informed the Panel. 
 
This was a very informative Review.  I thank all those who gave up their time to attend a 
meeting of the Scrutiny Panel to provide information and advice and to all those who 
provided comprehensive written evidence.  It is hoped that the wealth of evidence produced 
during this inquiry informs and adds real value to the Administration's future plans in what is 
a dynamic and challenging housing market.  
 

As part of its monitoring regime, Overview and Scrutiny will review this report six months 
after Cabinet has received it.  

 

 

 

 

Councillor Joy Capstick 
Chair, Scrutiny Panel 2 

28



 3 

 
Acknowledgements to all those who took part in the Review: -  
 
 
 

• Councillors Sally Beardsworth (Deputy Chair); Mick Ford, Lee Mason, Nilesh Parekh, 
Brian Sargeant Beverley Mennell and Danielle Stone who  sat with me on this 
Review. 

• Councillor Mary Markham, Cabinet Member (Housing), Northampton Borough 
Council (NBC),  Paul Bryon, Interim Private Sector Housing Manager, NBC, Sarah 
Farrow, Strategy and Performance Team Leader, NBC, Paul Lewin, Planning Policy 
and Heritage Manager, NBC,  Eddie O’Neill, Team Leader, Fire Safety, 
Northamptonshire Fire and Rescue Service, Debbie Ferguson, Community Safety 
Partnership Manager, NBC, John Socha, Landlords Association (Northampton), Ruth 
Austen, Environmental Health Manager (Environmental Protection), NBC, and Paul 
Townsend, Neighbourhood Warden, NBC, for attending a meeting of the Scrutiny 
Panel and providing expert advice 

• Ian Potter, Association of Residential Letting Agents, James Pope, Student 
Accommodation, University of Northampton, Simon Pole, Planet Too Co-Ordinator, 
University of Northampton, various members of the Northampton Diverse Equalities 
Community Forum, Tony Mallard, Chair, Northamptonshire Federation of Residents’ 
Association and Linda Selvey, Services Manager, DASH, for providing a written 
response to the core questions of the Scrutiny Panel 

• Brendan Healy, HMO Officer, NBC, for providing information relating solely to his 
area of the survey in relation to Additional Licensing, as an example to the Scrutiny 
Panel 

• Richard Dawson, Northampton Students’ Landlords’ Forum, for addressing the 
Scrutiny Panel 

 

29



 4 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this Scrutiny review was to investigate the regulation and 
management of private lettings, both by landlords and agencies. 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, at its work programming event in March 
2013, agreed to include a review of investigating the regulation and management 
of private lettings, both by landlords and agencies.  These were issues that had 
been identified by the Cabinet Member for Housing as one of her key priorities.  
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee commissioned Scrutiny Panel 2 to 
undertake the review.    
 
A  Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Joy Capstick, (Chair); 
Councillor Sally Beardsworth (Deputy Chair) and Councillors Brian Sargeant, Mick 
Ford, Lee Mason;  Beverley Mennell, Nilesh Parekh and Danielle Stone. This 
review links to the Council’s corporate priorities, particularly corporate priority 5 – 
better homes for the future and corporate priority 2 – invest in safer, cleaner 
neighbourhoods. 
 
An in-depth review commenced in July 2013 and concluded in June 2014. 
 
 
     CONCLUSIONS AND KEY FINDINGS 
 
 
A significant amount of evidence was heard, details of which are contained in the 
report.  After gathering evidence the Scrutiny Panel established that: - 

 
             
            Private Rental Sector – General 
 
6.1.1  In considering the desktop research paper around best practice elsewhere, 

the buoyancy of the private sector rental market was recognised. 

6.1.2   In noting the research paper “House Proud – How Council’s can raise 
standards in the private rented sector”, the Scrutiny Panel observed that 
the private rented sector is likely to remain an important element of the 
local housing economy for the foreseeable future as it continues to provide 
a flexible and accessible form of housing for large sections of the 
population. However, there are still a number of challenges facing the 
sector.  The Scrutiny Panel recognised that there is a need to lobby 
central Government regarding giving more powers to Councils to deal with 
effective enforcement of rogue landlords. 

 

30



 5 

6.1.3 The Scrutiny Panel concurred with the response of the Association of 
Residential Letting Agents (ARLA) to its core question regarding its view of 
the rental sector in Northampton - “It is mixed but the town has many older 
properties where improvement is badly needed and these areas are mixed 
tenure. Quality safe homes generally lead to a better society and greater 
economic wealth, less stress on the Health Service, Policing and 
Education.” 

 
Licensing and Legislative Options 
 

6.1.4 The Scrutiny Panel supported the proposal to introduce Additional 
Licensing; noting that a lot of students reside in Houses of Multi Occupation 
(HIMOs), particularly in the wards of Sunnyside, Semilong, Obelisk and St 
David’s and many other areas of the town.  It noted that the current priority 
to tackle poor management standards in the approximate 1,500-2,000 
HIMOs in Northampton and to develop ways to maximise the support the 
private sector can give to meet housing need and homelessness.  . 
 

6.1.5 The Scrutiny Panel noted that the consultation exercise regarding 
Additional Licensing had highlighted that anecdotally, most people were 
supportive of the introduction of additional licensing. 

 
6.1.6 Selective Licensing can increase the professionalism of the private rented 

sector by ensuring: 
 

• support for landlords to participate in regeneration 
and tackle anti-social behaviour effectively  

• protection for vulnerable tenants from the worst 
housing conditions and from bad landlords 

• strategic knowledge to support LAs in targeting health 
and safety inspections 

• support for landlords to improve the worst properties 
by helping them to achieve decent minimum 
standards in housing conditions and management. 

 
6.1.7  The evidence received indicated that there are no areas in Northampton 

that would require a Selective Licensing Scheme.  The Scrutiny Panel did 
however, realise the importance of such Schemes should they be required 
in specific areas.  It was acknowledged that before Selective Licensing is 
considered, the Local Authority must consider whether there are 
alternative forms of action that it could take to deal with the relevant 
issues; and whether Selective Licensing would sort out these issues.  The 
Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that the need for Selective Licensing should 
be kept under constant review. 
 

31



 6 

6.1.8 The Scrutiny Panel highlighted the importance of Environmental Protection 
Services providing input into assessment if problems are experienced with 
specific landlords. 
 

6.1.9 The value of Accreditation Schemes was noted. The Scrutiny Panel 
appreciated that licensing mechanisms give the Borough Council control as 
membership to Accreditation Schemes are voluntary.   
 

6.1.10 Landlord Accreditation schemes are useful schemes to help engage with 
landlords. They are discretionary and in general, aim to ensure that 
landlords have the necessary knowledge and skills to run a successful 
letting business.   The Scrutiny Panel is aware that the Council is working 
with DASH regarding a possible Accreditation Scheme for Northampton. 
 

6.1.11 Plans for the Landlord Forum to meet at least annually, so matters in 
common can be discussed, were welcomed. 
 
Priorities for Private Rental Sector 

 
6.1.12 From the evidence gathered, the Scrutiny Panel established that it would be 

beneficial for Northampton Borough Council to work with the University of 
Northampton and landlords to agree a Northampton standard for privately 
rented homes. 
 

6.1.13 The Scrutiny Panel highlighted that as part of its evidence base, Best 
Practice Guides are useful to both tenants and private sector landlords.   
The Scrutiny Panel felt that a Best Practice Guide should include: 
 

• Issues to consider pre tenancy 
• Means of managing a property 
• Setting up a tenancy and different legal agreements 
• Deposits 
• Rents 
• Housing benefit 
• Landlord and tenant responsibilities 
• An agreement between Letting Agents and Landlords that the 

Letting Agent is permitted to undertake repairs on behalf of 
the Landlord 

• Other housing options 
• Empty homes 
• Housing standards and Safety conditions 
• Housing health and safety rating system 
• Safety checks 
• Energy efficiency, recycling and sustainability 

32



 7 

• Equalities Statement 
• Useful contacts 

6.1.14 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that a lot of useful information for private 
sector landlords and tenants is available on the websites of HM Revenue 
and Customs (HMRC) and Gov.UK; a Best Practice Guide should include 
the links to these websites. 
 

6.1.15 It was recognised that a combination of education and enforcement actions 
are anticipated to be the most effective means of ensuring that private lets 
do not have an adverse impact on the neighbourhood.   The Scrutiny Panel 
noted the value that responsible landlords can add to control of impact of 
tenants’ behaviour. 
 

6.1.16 The Scrutiny Panel emphasised the need for a Register of Private Sector 
Landlords.  
 

6.1.17 The Scrutiny Panel agreed that there was a need for a Protocol for 
identifying absent landlords, supporting the introduction of a mapping 
exercise that will detail HIMOs situated within the borough.  It was 
acknowledged that the production of this map is expected to be concluded 
by the end of the financial year 2014/2015. The Scrutiny Panel felt that 
there was a need for  letting agents to  have in place an agreement with 
their landlords that they are authorised to carry out essential repairs using 
the rental income, if necessary.  This will resolve the majority of problems 
with absent landlords, landlord refusing to repair boiler, landlord that do not 
provide certificates for electricity installation, gas installation, EPCs etc. 

 
6.1.18 The Scrutiny Panel noted the information provided by the Citizen’s Advice 

Bureau (CAB) regarding absent landlords: 

“Landlord's rights and responsibilities 

How to find out who the landlord is 

If you do not know the identity of your landlord, you can find out 
either by:- 

• writing to the person who last collected your rent, asking for 
the landlord’s full name and address, or  

• looking up their registration online. 

As a tenant you have a legal right to know who your landlord is. If 
you write requesting this information, you should send this letter by 
recorded delivery and keep a copy. If the person to whom you 

33

http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/
http://www.adviceguide.org.uk/scotland/housing_s/housing_renting_a_home_s/common_problems_with_renting_scotland.htm#landlord_registration


 8 

have written does not reply within 21 days, this is a criminal 
offence. You can inform the police. 

Before contacting the police, you should consider whether this 
might provoke the landlord into retaliating with threats or 
attempted eviction. You should consult an experienced adviser for 
example, at a Citizens Advice Bureau. To search for details of 
your nearest CAB, including those that can give advice by email, 
click on nearest CAB. 

If you need to find out the landlord’s identity because of an 
emergency, such as a burst pipe, it may be quicker to inform the 
local authority as it has special powers to enter and carry out 
emergency repairs. It can then take steps to find out who the 
landlord is to recover its costs.” 

 
6.1.19 The Scrutiny Panel emphasised the need for resources and the introduction 

of a Policy for rogue landlords to be prosecuted. In acknowledging the 
benefit of landlords associations, the Scrutiny Panel agreed that Private 
Sector Landlords should to be encouraged to join a landlords’ association, 
such as ARLA. 

 
6.1.20In receiving the results of the desktop research exercise, the Scrutiny Panel 

noted the usefulness of Cambridge City Council’s published ten point guide 
for property owners considering renting out their property.  The key 
headlines contained within the guide: 

•      Speak to your mortgage lender 
•      Get references from potential tenants 
•      Prepare a formal agreement  
•      Deposits – properly protected 
•      Obtain an energy performance certificate 
•      Find out whether you need a property licence 
•      Get all your gas and electric appliances checked 
•       Minimise the risk from fire 
•        Ensure that your property presents no risks to your tenant’s 

health and safety 
•      Don’t find yourself in court when something goes wrong 

6.1.21 Witness evidence also highlighted the need for a leaflet explaining the 
rights and responsibilities of private sector landlords and tenants. 
 

6.1.22 Witness evidence further supported the introduction of the hotline for the 
public to notify the Local Authority of the location of HIMOs. 
 

34

http://www.cas.org.uk/find-a-bureau/


 9 

6.1.23 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that the development of a multi-Agency 
meeting, two to three times a year, to enable two way 
discussions/information sharing would be useful.  

 
6.1.24 The Scrutiny Panel recognised the need for the Borough Council to educate 

tenants and landlords to be considerate to local communities.   The value 
that responsible landlords can add to control of impact of tenants’ behaviour 
was recognised also. 

 
6.1.25 It was acknowledged that the Landlords’ Association, Northampton, (NLA) 

has a Scheme of on-line training that it can offer to Northampton Borough 
Council (NBC), free of charge, and that NLA can also offer guidance 
information for tenants to NBC, free of charge. 

 

6.1.26 The Scrutiny Panel was concerned that a private sector landlord does not 
have to use the Local Authority’s building control service to pass any works; 
but can engage a professional of their choice. 
 

6.1.27 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged the need for a check to be made to 
ensure that letting agents are renting properties through the correct 
procedures and that letting agents are included in Additional Licensing. 

6.1.28 The Scrutiny Panel highlighted the need for close working between Housing 
and Planning Services at Northampton Borough Council regarding the 
private rental sector, to ensure that private lettings make a positive 
contribution to neighbourhoods. 
 
Accommodation for students 
 

6.1.29 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that the evidence received indicated that 
there is adequate student accommodation, which is working well.  The 
majority of students live in safe and affordable accommodation.   
 

6.1.30 The Scrutiny Panel emphasised the benefit of all Regulatory Authorities 
using the Fresher’s Fair and other opportunities to engage with students 
and advise them of their rights and responsibilities.  It welcomed that road 
shows with the University already take place and tenants are given talks, 
advice and promotional materials.  

 
6.1.31 The work being undertaken by Decent and Safe Homes (DASH) and 

Student Accommodation, Northampton University was supported. 
 
 
 

35



 10 

7 Recommendations 

 
7.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to investigate the regulation and 

management of private lettings, both by landlords and agencies. 
 
 Scrutiny Panel 2 recommends to Cabinet that: 
 
             Licensing and Legislative Options 
 
7.1.1 Scrutiny Panel 2 formally informs Cabinet that it supports the proposal to 

implement Additional Licensing for HIMOs.  The Scrutiny Panel agreed 
that, at the time of the Review, there are no areas in Northampton that 
require a Selective Licensing Scheme but the need for Selective Licensing 
should be kept under constant review. 

 
             Priorities for the Private Rental Sector 
 
7.1.2 A Private Sector Landlords Registration Scheme is implemented with the 

facility for landlords to register on-line. 

7.1.3 A useful guide for individuals that are considering becoming a private 
sector landlord is published on the Council’s website and includes the 
following headlines: 

•  Speak to your mortgage lender 
•      Get references from potential tenants 
•      Prepare a formal agreement  
•      Deposits – properly protected 
•      Obtain an energy performance certificate 
•      Do you need a property licence? 
•      Get all your gas and electric appliances checked 
•       Minimise the risk from fire 
•       Ensure that your property presents no risks to your tenant’s 

health and safety 
•       Don’t find yourself in court when something goes wrong 

7.1.4 Northampton Borough Council works with the University of Northampton 
and private sector landlords to agree a Northampton standard for privately 
rented homes.  The standard is produced in conjunction with the useful 
guide (recommendation 7.1.3) and Best Practice Guide (recommendation 
7.1.12). 

 

36



 11 

7.1.5 A Protocol for identifying absent landlords is produced and implemented. 
Private Sector Landlords are encouraged to join a local or national 
Landlord Association. 

 
7.1.6 A Policy for the prosecution of “rogue landlords” is introduced and a 

funding pot is identified to be allocated to resources to support licensing 
through a rigorous programme of encouragement, support to landlords, 
and enforcement, including prosecution of those landlords who do not 
comply with the requirements of the Scheme.  

 
7.1.7    Contact is made with the National Landlords’ Association (NLA) regarding 

utilising its free of charge scheme of on-line training and the use of its free 
guidance material for tenants and private sector landlords.   

 

7.1.8   A tri-annual multi-Agency meeting, together with the Landlords Forum, to 
enable two way discussions and information sharing, is introduced. 

 
7.1.9    Planning Services and Housing Services work collaboratively regarding the 

private rental sector, to ensure that private lettings make a positive 
contribution to neighbourhoods. 

 
7.1.10  A check be made to ensure that letting agents are renting properties 

through the correct procedure and that letting agents are included in 
Additional Licensing. 

 
7.1.11   Arrangements be put in place for Licence fees to be paid through a direct 

debit scheme, similar to that in place for the payment of Council Tax. 
 
             Best Practice Guide 

7.1.12  The Scrutiny Panel highlights the need for a Best Practice Guide for 
Private Sector Landlords and Tenants and has produced a list of key 
issues that the Guide should include, as detailed below, for Cabinet’s 
consideration: 

• Issues to consider pre tenancy 
• Means of managing a property 
• Setting up a tenancy and different legal agreements 
• Deposits 
• Rents 
• Housing benefit 
• Landlord and tenant responsibilities 
• An agreement between Letting Agents and Landlords that the 

Letting Agent is permitted to undertake repairs on behalf of 
the Landlord 

37



 12 

• Other housing options 
• Empty homes 
• Housing standards and Safety conditions 
• Housing health and safety rating system 
• Safety checks 
• Energy efficiency, recycling and sustainability 
• Equalities Statement 
• Useful contacts, such as HMRC and Gov.UK 

7.1.13  The Best Practice Guide for Private Sector Landlords and Tenants is easily 
accessible on the Council’s website with paper copies available in the 
Council’s One Stop Shop.  On request, the Best Practice Guide should be 
made available in other languages and formats. 

 
7.1.14  A copy of the Best Practice Guide is sent to the Association of Residential 

Letting Agents (ARLA) and the National Landlords’ Association (NLA). 

            Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
7.1.15 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, 

reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 
             

38

http://search.hmrc.gov.uk/kb5/hmrc/hmrc/results.page?qt=LETTINGS
https://www.gov.uk/


13 

 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Report of Scrutiny Panel 2 – Management and Regulation of                                   
Private Sector Housing (Including HIMOs) 

1 Purposes 

1.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to investigate the regulation and 
management of private lettings, both by landlords and agencies. 

1.2 A copy of the scope of the review is attached at Appendix A. 
 
2 Context and Background     

2.1       The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, at its work programming event in 
March 2013, agreed to include a review of investigating the regulation and 
management of private lettings, both by landlords and agencies.  These 
were issues that had been identified by the Cabinet Member for Housing as 
one of her key priorities.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
commissioned Scrutiny Panel 2 to undertake the review.   An in-depth 
review commenced in July 2013 and concluded in June 2014. 

2.2       A  Scrutiny  Panel was  established comprising Councillor Joy Capstick, 
(Chair); Councillor Sally Beardsworth (Deputy Chair), together with  
Councillors Brian Sargeant, Mick Ford, Lee Mason; Beverley Mennell, 
Nilesh Parekh and Danielle Stone. 

2.3 This review links to the Council’s Corporate priorities, particularly corporate 
priority 5 – better homes for the future and corporate priority 2 – invest in 
safer, cleaner neighbourhoods. 

2.4 The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be investigated 
and linked to the realisation of the Council’s corporate priorities: 

• Context of private sector housing market including: 

 Changes over the last ten years 
 Future trends 

 
 
 
 
 

39



14 

 

 
• Baseline data: 

 Private Sector Housing Strategy 
 Existing legislation and options available to local Councils 

for additional legislation 
 Options for licensing of HIMOs 
 Empty Homes Programme 

 
• Evidence from expert internal witnesses 
• Evidence from expert external witnesses 
• Desktop research 
• Best practice data 
 

           Housing Act 2004 
 

2.5 The Housing Act 2004 contains the principal regulating conditions and 
standards operated by Northampton Borough Council as the Local Housing 
Authority (LHA).  This is fully in force and housing conditions within the 
borough are regularly assessed according to its provisions.  

 

2.6 Four main elements  are considered and applied by Officers of Northampton 
Borough Council as the LHA: 

 Assessing the condition of a dwelling house in relation to its 
impact on the health and safety of the occupants.  The test is the 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) 

 Whether the dwelling house is overcrowded.  There are two 
tests: the permitted number test and the sexual overcrowding 
test  

 Whether the dwelling house is a house in multiple occupation 

 The standard test 
 The self- contained test 
 The converted building test 

 Whether the dwelling house is, or should be, subject to a 
scheme of licensing.  The available schemes are: 

 Mandatory licensing of Houses in Multiple-Occupation 
 Additional licensing of Houses in Multiple-Occupation 

 Selective Licensing of houses which are not in Multiple-
Occupation 

40



15 

 

              
              Housing Health and Rating System (HHSRS) 

 

2.7     A dwelling including its structure, outbuildings, garden, yard, associated 
amenity space and means of access is assessed to determine if it provides a 
safe and healthy environment for its occupiers and any visitors.  The 
inspector has regard to provisions of the Housing Act 2004, subsequent 
regulations and official guidance.   

 

2.8     There are 29 types of hazard and four classes of harm associated with the 
hazards.  Class 1 being the most severe, Class 4 as the least severe which 
includes moderate health outcomes.  Following an assessment, hazards are 
banded into two categories: 1 and 2. The LHA must take action for a 
category 1 hazard and it may take action for a category 2 hazard.  There are 
seven options for action: 

a. To serve a hazard awareness notice 
b. To serve an improvement notice 
c. To take emergency remedial action 
d. To serve a prohibition order 
e. To serve an emergency prohibition order 
f.            To make a demolition order 
g. To declare a clearance area 

 

       Overcrowding 
2.9        It is a criminal offence to permit a dwelling house to be overcrowded. 

 

2.10      An inspector will calculate the permitted number eligible to occupy a dwelling 
house based on the size and number of rooms available for sleeping.  All 
living rooms and bedrooms are taken into account and a child under the age 
of 10 is counted as half a unit.  Any child under the age of 1 is disregarded. 

 

2.11     An inspector will also consider whether any person over the age of 10 years 
is forced to share a room with a child of the opposite sex. 

 

 

 

 

41



16 

 

        

        Houses in Multiple-Occupation (HIMOs) 

2.12   The rules establishing the status of a house in multiple-occupation are 
complex.  There are a range of exemptions for public Authorities and 
institutional student accommodation (these exemptions may be qualified by 
the operation of Codes of Practice).  A house shared by no more than two 
persons is not a house in multiple-occupation.  Similarly, a building shared 
by owner occupiers or long leaseholders is unlikely to be a house in multiple- 
occupation. In any event, a building occupied by more than two thirds owner-
occupiers or long leaseholders is not caught by the definition.  In some 
cases where there is mixed use of a building (such as part commercial use) 
a local Housing Authority may still declare the building a house in multiple-
occupation. 

 

2.13 All houses in multiple-occupation are subject to regulation ensuring that 
there are satisfactory management arrangements in place.  There are duties 
to repair and maintain the fabric, facilities and equipment in the building and 
occupiers must not prevent managers in the exercise of their duties. 

 

 The tests to establish a house in multiple-occupation are as follows: 

 

• The Standard Test 
• The Self- Contained Test 
• The Converted Building Test 

 

 Licensing 

2.14 Licensing gives additional controls over houses in multiple-occupation by the 
use of licence conditions and providing penalties for non-compliance. The 
effect of the licence is to authorise occupation of the house in multiple-
occupation or other dwelling to which a scheme might apply.   

 

     Licensing Options – Private Sector Rentals 

2.15 There are several different types of licences: 
 

 

 

42



17 

 

           Mandatory HIMO Licence 

2.16 A Mandatory HIMO (house in multi occupation) Licence for a landlord of a 
house in multiple occupation that is three or more storeys, shared by five or 
more people living in two or more households. 

 

           Article 4 Directions  

2.17 Article 4 Directions remove the right to carry out certain types of 'permitted 
development'. If a landlord wants to carry out work that is covered by an 
Article 4 Direction, planning permission needs to be applied for.  

2.18   Where planning permission is granted, but the Local Authority has concerns 
that work done in the future under 'permitted development' may give rise to 
problems; the Local Authority may put a condition on the planning permission.  
Such conditions state that planning permission needs to be obtained for the 
types of work specified.  Conditions are often imposed: 

• on properties with small gardens, to prevent extensions or 
outbuildings taking up too much of the open area around a 
property;  

• to limit the conversion of integral garages, if there is concern that 
it would leave the property without adequate parking space;  

• Where there is concern that a new window in a particular wall 
could affect the privacy of a neighbour, if put in without planning 
permission. 

 
          Discretionary Licensing Schemes  

2.19 Discretionary Licensing Schemes, permitted under the Housing Act 2004, aim 
to address poorly managed private rented properties. The Act gives Local 
Authorities the power to designate areas for additional houses of multi-
occupancy (HIMOs) licensing or Selective licensing.  Additional licensing can 
be introduced to tackle HIMOs being poorly managed, or that are 
overcrowded, where their conditions affect the environment and/or where 
tenants are causing anti-social behaviour. Selective licensing can be 
introduced where there is a low demand for housing and/or where there is a 
problem with anti- social behaviour, some of which is caused by private 
tenants living more securely in reasonable housing conditions.  Until March 
2010, discretionary licensing schemes could only be set up with the approval 
of Communities and Local Government. From 1 April 2010, Schemes can be 
approved by Local Authorities.   

43



18 

 

 

2.20   Parts 2 and 3 of the Housing Act 2004 provide powers for Local Housing 
Authorities to designate areas, or the whole of the area of its district, as 
subject to discretionary licensing in respect of private rented accommodation. 
With regard to Part  2 designations,  the  Local Authority  must  consider  
that  the  ineffective  management  of  a significant number of HIMOs is 
likely to give rise to problems for occupants or members of the public. With 
regard to Part 3 designations, the Authority must consider that amongst 
other criteria, the area is experiencing significant problems caused by 
anti-social behaviour which the private sector landlords are failing to tackle. 

Additional Licence  

2.21  This Licence may be required for landlords that operate a house of multiple 
occupation that is shared by three of more tenants living in two or more 
households. This excludes houses in multiple-occupation that require a 
mandatory licence. 

          Selective Licensing Scheme 

2.22  Section 80 of the Housing Act 2004 allows Local Authorities to apply for 
Selective Licensing. Selective Licensing gives Local Authorities the powers to 
licence privately rented accommodation in a prescribed area where it has low 
housing demand, or a serious problem with anti-social behaviour and that the 
problem is compounded by landlords who are not properly managing their 
properties. 
 

2.23   Section 80(4) of the Act requires the Authority to consider the following factors 
when judging  if an area is subject to low housing demand: 

 

• The value of residential premises in the area, in comparison to the 
value of similar premises in other areas which the Authority considers 
to be comparable (whether in terms of types of housing, local 
amenities, availability of transport etc.) 

• The turnover of occupiers of residential premises. 
• The number of residential premises which are available to buy or rent 

and the length of time for which they remain unoccupied. 
 
2.24  Before considering Selective Licensing, the Local Authority must consider 

whether there are alternative forms of action that it could take to deal with the 
relevant issues; and whether Selective Licensing would sort out those issues.  

44



19 

 

A set number of criteria must be met for a Local Authority to introduce a 
Selective Licensing Scheme. 

 

  3 Evidence Collection 

3.1 Evidence was collected from a variety of sources: 

3.2 Background data 

 

•     Private Sector Housing Strategy 

•     Changes over the last ten years and future trends (Copy of 
presentation at Appendix B) 

•      House Proud – How Council’s can raise standards in 
the private rented sector 

 

3.2.1     Empty Homes Programme 2012 - 2015  

3.2.1.1 Northampton Borough Council (NBC) bid for, and was awarded, £1.89 
million from the Homes and Communities Agency’s Empty Homes 2012-
2015 Programme. 

 

3.2.1.2 The conditions of the scheme:- 

• 105 empty homes must be brought back into use and occupied 
by March 2015, 90 of these properties are on a Lease and 
Repair basis (whereby the Council leases the property and the 
grant is used to bring the property up to Decent Homes 
Standard). The remaining 15 properties are on a Purchase and 
Repair basis – whereby the Council purchases the properties 
outright. (The grant money cannot be used towards the purchase 
cost) 

• The homes must have been empty for a minimum of six months 
and cannot be social housing (or former social housing). 

• The properties must be let on an Affordable Rent basis and the 
Homes and Communities’ Tenancy Standards must be adhered 
to.  The Council offers the tenancies to households on its 
Housing Register on a non-secure five year Tenancy with a one 
year Introductory Tenancy. (The lease agreement between 

45

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s41594/Housing%20Strategy%20Cabinet%20Report%2009%2010%2013%20FINAL.pdf
http://www.lgiu.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/House-Proud-how-councils-can-raise-standards-in-the-private-rented-sector-.pdf
http://www.lgiu.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/House-Proud-how-councils-can-raise-standards-in-the-private-rented-sector-.pdf


20 

 

Northampton Borough Council and the owner must be for a 
minimum of six years) 
 

3.2.2       Affordable Housing Interim Statement  

3.2.2.1    The definition of affordable housing: 

• Social rents - typically 60-70% of market rents 
• Affordable rents – 80% of market rent 
• Shared ownership properties 
• Discount market products – for example 70% of the property is 

purchased. 30% is kept by the third party 
 

3.2.2.2   35% of affordable housing is provided in the majority of new build sites in 
Northampton.  It is not viable for there to be 35% affordable housing on all 
sites.  

 

3.2.2.3   Central Government highlights that it expects Planning Authorities to be fair 
to developers and not overload them with costs; for example, one cost is 
affordable housing.  A Government issued methodology is looked at to 
agree whether a site is viable for affordable housing. 

 

3.2.2.4  230 affordable houses were provided in the borough in 2013/2014, 
comprising a mix of social rent, affordable rent and shared ownership. 

 

3.3 Core Questions 

3.3.1 The Scrutiny Panel devised a series of core questions that it put to key 
witnesses over a cycle of meetings (Copy at Appendix C). 

 

3.3.2 Key witnesses provided a response to these core questions at the meetings 
of the Scrutiny Panel held on 5 December 2013, 23 January 2014                
13 February, 13 March and 30 April 2014.  

 

 

 

46

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s41818/affordable%20housing%20interim%20statement.pdf


21 

 

3.3.3 Salient points of evidence: 

 Cabinet Member for Housing, Northampton Borough Council (NBC) 

• The current priority is to tackle poor management standards in the 
approximate 1,500 Houses in Multiple Occupation (HIMOs) in the town 
and develop ways to maximise the support the private sector can give 
to meet housing need and homelessness. 

• Plans are currently being developed in the context of a wider review of 
strategic housing services and the development of the Private Sector 
Housing team as it moves into Public Protection. The new Private 
Sector Housing Service will tackle poor management and conditions in 
all privately let homes including HIMO’s.  

• Following consultation, it is hoped there will be support for HIMO 
licensing to be widened to cover all types of HIMOs in the town in the 
“HIMOs hotspots”. 

• It is being made easier for people to complain through the introduction 
of the HIMO hotline.  There is a greater emphasis on proactive working 
with the development of officer “beats” so poor conditions can be 
picked up out in the street. Officers will actively detect poor 
management and rogue landlords. 

• Officers are being encouraged to develop a comprehensive 
enforcement approach encouraging and supporting good landlords so 
they are recognised as “letting champions”.  

• The Council’s Housing Strategy will provide the lead for meeting 
housing need and revitalising empty homes. 

• It is recognised that changes to the welfare benefits system may impact 
disproportionately on private rented tenants; who may be more 
vulnerable to eviction as income levels decrease, either through the 
effects of the “bedroom tax” or the welfare benefit cap. Tenants are 
already helped through the application of local discretionary payments, 
the development of debt advice services and there is a multi- 
partnership approach to helping tenants maximise income.  It is further 
planned to look at effective tenancy advice services for tenants 
threatened with eviction for rent arrears and the service investigating 
complaints of harassment and unlawful eviction has been 
strengthened. 

• The Borough Council can maximise benefits of private rented 
properties in Northampton by working with landlords and the University 
to agree a Northampton standard for rented homes.  

• The Borough Council can ensure that local policies are developed 
assist in rental arrears claims for those affected by cuts in benefits and 

47



22 

 

encourage landlords to take on tenants who may be out of work and 
homeless tenants. 

• The Borough Council needs to educate tenants and landlords to be 
considerate to local communities. Road shows with the University are 
already run and tenants are given talks, advice and promotional 
materials. Landlords are accredited by the University and the Borough 
Council is a partner in the accreditation scheme and meets with the 
University and landlord groups. It is planned to do more and make sure 
that the Landlord Forum meets at least annually so matters in common 
can be discussed.  

• The Borough Council has a range of enforcement powers which it uses 
when it receives complaints and enforcement will continue to play a 
significant part in making sure that any adverse impact is addressed. 

• Landlord Accreditation schemes are useful schemes to help engage 
with landlords. They are discretionary schemes and in general aim to 
ensure that landlords have the necessary knowledge and skills to run a 
successful letting business. They may also cover the conditions within 
the letting so ensuring that at the time of accreditation the rental 
premises was at the necessary standard. They are often used in 
connection with the “fit and proper person” test as a matter that may be 
taken into account when deciding if a person is a fit and proper person 
to hold a licence.  

• The Borough Council does not operate its own scheme as a large 
number of houses in multiple- occupation in the town serve the student 
market and the University has its own scheme.  It would be sensible to 
reserve a position at this time in relation to what additional benefits the 
Borough Council would receive in running its own scheme but this 
should be a future consideration. This could include incentives such as 
a reduced licence fee. 

• There is only one option that is likely to meet the stringent statutory 
requirements and this is Additional Licensing. This is the subject of an 
ongoing consultation and will be considered in the light of the 
consultation response. Officers do not consider that the statutory pre 
conditions for a Selective Licensing Scheme exist in the town.   

• A Best Practice Guide for Northampton’s private sector landlords would 
be a useful tool and the contents from the Oxford Guide are helpful. 

• Licensing of HIMOs could be improved and is a subject of ongoing 
development which will be undertaken in partnership with the NLA, 
other landlord associations, residents groups and Council officers over 
the next twelve months. 

• There are areas of high density that are contributing to changed local 
environments and local economies and are likely to be an effect of the 

48



23 

 

student market. There is a need to do more work to understand the 
true impact of this and whether there is a close relationship between 
citizen perceptions and the size and nature of real effects on local 
communities and neighbourhoods which have absorbed high density 
areas of private letting. There is also a need to see if such areas are 
disproportionately affecting the demand for specific local public 
services and the range of these services affected. 

• A number of ward Councillors have casework in relation to HIMOs; 
there are a number of problems in two storey properties also. 

• The first step of the process is to acquire details of HIMOs in the 
borough and implement additional licensing, the next stage being the 
implementation of a Policy.   

• Various landlords work together in relation to HIMOs, therefore 
Additional Licensing is key. 

• It is apparent that some landlords are obtaining foreign students as 
tenants before they have come to University and actually viewed the 
property. 

• The Private Sector Housing Team has received anecdotal evidence of 
properties that have been privately let to single families being sub-let, 
turning them into HIMOs. 

• Once Additional Licensing is in place, landlords will be issued with a 
certificate detailing the level of star that the property has been 
awarded.  The certificate could be displayed in the window of the 
property. 

 
                 Interim Private Sector Housing Manager, Northampton Borough 

Council 
 

3.3.4      Key points of evidence: 

• The Private Sector Housing Team is very committed. The Team 
comprises a Team Leader, two HIMO Officers (FTE) and a contract 
Officer who is paid per licence issued.  Qualified surveyors are working 
on the Project also.   

• The Team undertakes a lot of door knocking and has identified a 
number of Houses in Multi-occupancy (HIMOs) for example, the 
Council tax registered showed just eleven HIMOs in Sunnyside, but the 
door knocking exercise has shown that there are in the region of 120. 

• There are specific powers for Local Authorities regarding the power of 
entry.  If a complaint is received, entry can be insisted upon.  If entry is 
refused a warrant can be applied through the Magistrates Court and 
entry can then be obtained.  The visit would be undertaken together 

49



24 

 

with Police presence.  The Council has immediate right of entry with 
HIMOs, with other private lets; 24 hours’ notice has to be given.  It is 
very rare that such powers are used.  

• The consultation regarding Additional Licensing opened on                        
3 December 2013 for ten weeks, closing at 5pm on 10 February 2014 

• The main medium used was the Council’s website, in addition an 
advert was placed in the local press, a telephone line was dedicated to 
the consultation a meeting was held with landlords and a door knocking 
survey took place, with officers speaking with tenants in HIMOs, 
residents – both tenants and owner-occupiers and local businesses 

• There were 2,500 hits on the website 
• 214 completed questionnaires were received, of which 73 were 

completed on line, 141 via the door knocking exercise 
• There was 500 different kinds of responses which consists of two 

polarised groups – for and against 
• The main areas of consideration were in respect of anti-social 

behaviour and health and safety in properties 

      Mandatory Scheme 

• Known licensable (3 storey HMOs): 253 
• 201 licensed from 2006, leaving 52 residue of which 11 no longer 

require a licence (change of circumstances) leaving 41 licensable 
HMOs outstanding which are currently being chased. 

• Currently 100 are due for a renewal as the initial licences are now 
beyond five years old and are currently being progressed under a 
structured renewal programme and using specialist resources. 

• Current Scheme of Fees for Mandatory Licensing: 
 

 Up to five rooms: £682.63 
 Over: £20.00 per room 
 5 year licence period 
 

      Additional Licensing Scheme 

• £324.00 for a three year licence (£540.00 aggregated over 5 years as 
comparison) 

• Proposed that the Scheme is reviewed in three years times as 
accreditation is developed to complement licensing and other 
enforcement activities. Anticipated that accreditation could be 
subsequently operated at a significantly reduced fee. 

• Currently awaiting sign off on public notice.  

50



25 

 

• 6 weeks publication period  
• Going live approximately mid- August 2014 

 

                   HMO Officer, Northampton Borough Council 

3.3.5      The points of evidence below relate solely to the HMO Officer’s area of the 
survey and were provided as an example to the Scrutiny Panel.  They are 
not in relation to the total responses of the other participants. 

               Key points: 

• In excess of 35 people were spoken to as part of the door knocking 
exercise in respect of the consultation regarding additional licensing. 

• The HMO Officer knocked on over 150 doors 
• Anecdotally, most people were supportive of the introduction of 

additional licensing  
• A number of people were aware of HIMOs in their area and had made 

comment regarding noise nuisance, problems with rubbish 

               Team Leader - Fire Safety, Northamptonshire Fire and Rescue Service 
 
3.3.6      Key points: 
 

• Northamptonshire Fire and Rescue Service welcomes a greater degree 
of control 

• There are around 1,200 houses of multi-occupation (HIMO) in the 
borough of Northampton.  The Fire Service has more difficulty with non-
regulated HIMOs to that of regulated 

• Un-registered HIMOs are of concern to the Fire Service; for example, 
houses that are a single family let being sub-let 

• The Fire Service works closely with Northampton Borough Council 
(NBC) 

• It is possible that there could be an increase in student accommodation 
in other areas of the town, such as Delapre, as there is hearsay that 
landlords are buying properties  

• The introduction of a Registration Scheme would be welcomed 
• Under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety Order) 2005, Fire Officers 

have power of entry, can take statements and bring about 
prosecutions.  Currently there are a couple of on-going cases 

• Should Fire Crews become aware of “suspicious” HIMOs, they notify 
the Fire Safety department 

51



26 

 

• A leaflet setting out licensing and registration responsibilities of 
landlords and tenants would be useful 

• A hotline for the public to notify the Local Authority of HIMOs would be 
useful 

• The introduction of an Accreditation Scheme is supported.  Accredited 
properties only require inspection once every five years due to the 
standard of property 

 
Community Safety Partnership Manager, Northampton Borough Council 
(NBC) 

 
3.3.7   Key points of evidence: 
 

• Some of the areas in Northampton with the highest burglary rates are 
predominantly made up of rental properties owned by Private Sector 
Landlords.  Community Safety representatives frequently have issues 
in obtaining access to these properties in order to provide target 
hardening advice and work, and also gaining permission from the 
landlords to undertake the work.  This, therefore, increases the 
likelihood of these properties becoming repeat targets   

• It is very hard for the Police to ascertain who is residing in these 
properties 

• Where anti-social behaviour (ASB) is concerned, the same approach is 
taken towards private tenants as with any other property type.  There 
has been very little ASB reported to the Anti-Social Behaviour Unit that 
can be specifically attributed to Houses in Multiple Occupancy 
(HIMO’s) 

• It would be beneficial for Private landlords to adopt a structured vetting 
process of tenants, and being in a position, if required to provide 
information to the Police as to who is occupying their properties, 
especially houses of multiple occupation 

• Regular checks on HIMO’s should be undertaken to ensure they are 
meeting required standards and if not, enforcement action taken 
against breaches 

• The development of a multi-Agency meeting, two to three times a year, 
to enable two way discussions/information sharing would be useful  

• An arrangement with the larger Private Sector Landlords to obtain 
blanket permission to undertake target hardening on their properties 
should be agreed 

• Any scheme that encourages improved standards and promotes quality 
living accommodation should be considered.  There is, however, a 

52



27 

 

strong likelihood that those landlords who do not offer a property of  an 
acceptable standard, and consistently breach regulations will be 
reluctant to sign up to such a scheme 

• Possible incentives: 

 
 NBC recognition, supported by accredited promotional material 

such as a property window sticker 
 Reduced licence fees 
 Direct Housing Benefits payments to landlords  

 
• `Additional Licensing Area’ for HIMO’s, covering area where there are 

high levels of HMO’s  is already being progressed and currently out to 
consultation  

• ‘Selective Licensing Scheme’ -  should there be issues in specific areas 
relating to anti-social behaviour or low letting levels, consideration 
could be given to a ‘Selective Licensing Scheme’ such as the one 
currently in place in the South Beach area of Blackpool.  At this 
moment in time, Community Safety is not aware of any areas within 
Northampton that would require this 

• A Best Practice Guide for Northampton is worthy of consideration and 
should be linked to an Accreditation Scheme 

• A leaflet setting out the rights and responsibilities of landlords and 
tenants would be useful 

• From a Community Safety perspective, the following was suggested: 

 Security - examples of acceptable/recommended security 
measures 

 Personal Safety - tips and advice for tenants 
 Anti-Social Behaviour – undertaking/outlining practical 

steps to prevent or reduce ASB for tenants and their 
visitors, or using the premises for illegal purposes 

 Refuse and waste - deposing responsibly and legally of 
refuse and unwanted goods 

 Fire Safety – Licence Holders responsibilities 

• The Community Safety Partnership is aware that some of 
Northampton’s areas with highest burglary are predominantly rental 
properties, and often private rented.  These areas are also known to be 
where student ‘lets’ are located.  There is often an issue obtaining 
access to these properties in order to provide target hardening advice 
and work, and also gaining permission from the landlords to undertake 

53



28 

 

the work.  This increases the likelihood of these properties becoming 
repeat targets   

• The Community Safety Partnership has developed an excellent 
relationship with The University of Northampton, and crime prevention 
advice and messages are regularly provided through the ‘Uni Net’, with 
supporting roadshows linking in with Fresher’s week and other themed 
events 

• Standards/quality of properties varies from poor to very good  
Landlords are slow to respond to crime prevention issues when flagged 
with them 

• Overall, the number of private rental properties in Northampton is 
higher than the national average 

• Main concerns : 

 Numbers of people in HIMOs (over occupancy due to bed rota’s 
and sofa surfing) 

 Standard and quality of security measures on/in properties 
 Difficulty in engaging with landlords (i.e. seeking permission to 

undertake target hardening work) 

 
                Representative, Northamptonshire, National Landlords’ Association, 

(NLA) 
 
3.3.8     Key points of evidence: 
 

•  The National Landlords’ Association (NLA) provides a 
comprehensive range of benefits and services to its members and 
strives to raise standards within the private rented sector 

•   The ability to introduce Licensing is a powerful tool. If used 
correctly it can resolve specific issues 

•   NLA has supported many Local Authorities with the introduction of a 
Licensing Scheme 

•   The legislation in relation to Selective Licensing states that the 
introduction of licensing has to be evidence based, either through 
anti-social behaviour or low housing demand.   One of the risks of 
a  Selective Licensing Scheme could be that costs are passed 
through to tenants, increasing costs for those who rent in an area, 
along with the cost to the Council 

•   Any regulation of the private rented sector needs to be balanced 
•   NLA is not against regulation but does not support “blanket 

regulation” 

54



29 

 

•  A key concern over the creation of Licensing Schemes is 
resources 

•  Some landlords, most often due to ignorance rather than criminal 
intent, do not use their powers to manage their properties effectively. 
There is a need to identify issues and assist landlords to develop 
the required knowledge and skills to improve the sector through 
Schemes, such as the NLA Accredited Landlord Scheme.  This would 
allow Northampton Borough Council to target the criminal Landlords – 
a joint approach is required 

•   The development of a Strategy that can also include action against 
tenants that are persistent offenders would be useful 

•   NLA can assist Northampton Borough Council (NBC) with the 
implementation of various Strategies  

•   A short leaflet, in a number of different languages, with hyperlinks to 
various key information websites, would be useful tool for tenants and 
landlords 

•   NLA has a Scheme of On-line training that it can offer to NBC, free 
of charge 

•   NLA can also offer guidance information for tenants to NBC, free of 
charge 

•   Both Sales and Letting Agents in the town now offer rentals 
•   Problems with one-bedded flats are less likely; but problems are 

often “hidden” in suburbia in family sized houses 
•   Most landlords prefer long-term tenants 
•   A rent cap would not be beneficial 

 
               Association of Residential Letting Agents (ARLA) 
 
3.3.9       Key points: 
 

• It can be a common perception, but is very often unsubstantiated, that 
there is hard evidence that private let properties impact adversely on 
communities 

• Where there are com plaints, it often concerns discrimination 
against tenants of a different ethnic group, or from a different culture 
who live in different ways 

• Regarding issues such as anti- social behaviour, disposal of rubbish 
etc.  Local Authorities already have adequate powers to address these 
through Waste Management Orders, ASBOs etc.  

55



30 

 

• Property conditions can be dealt with by means of the Housing Health 
and Safety Rating System as an ultimate deterrent where landlords do 
not keep the property up to the correct standards 

• Voluntary Landlord Accreditation schemes do not work regardless of 
the incentives. The good landlords join and the bad go further 
underground and ignore  

• Mandatory HIMO licensing does work if the Local Authority is robust in 
enforcement. However, many Local Authorities do not use these 
powers fully because of the cost.  Discretionary licensing can work if 
focused on specific problem areas in the town; success is down to the 
resource and effort applied by Officers responsible 

• The London Borough of Newham introduced a mandatory scheme for 
all private rented properties and have had some success but also 
discovered it was not an immediate panacea and are now required to 
put a lot of human resource into the Project.  Bournemouth Council 
announced it was going to use Article 4 and then did a complete 
turnaround 

• A Best Practice Guide would be useful for both tenants and landlords 
and could include: 
 

  Written tenancy agreement which spells out in plain language 
both parties obligations including repairs,  anti-social 
behaviour, waste disposal  

• Students are often described as young people in general.  Many Local 
Authorities who have felt they had issues with students actually 
discovered it was just young people in the area, including students and 
associated friends 

• Private lets are mixed in Northampton, but the town has many older 
properties where improvement is badly needed and these areas are 
mixed tenure 

• Quality safe homes generally lead to a better society and greater 
economic wealth, less stress on the Health Service, Policing and 
education 

               Planet Too Co-ordinator, Students' Union, University of Northampton 
 
3.3.10    Key points of evidence: 

 

• To ensure that private let properties do not impact adversely on 
neighbourhoods information should be provided and participation 
encouraged in the local communities. People tend to disrespect other 

56



31 

 

people who they do not know or feel detached too.  When people feel a 
part of a community or know people they will develop respect and will 
be less likely to be noisy late, for example 

• Landlords should be offered incentives.  An Accreditation Scheme will 
help increase the standards of houses, including environmental 
standards 

• A Best Practice Guide would be useful, particularly for landlords new to 
the sector. Experienced landlords in Northampton should be consulted 
on the contents of this as their local knowledge is invaluable 

• Local community resources: 

 Local certified trade and building companies 
 Theft protection 
 Insurance  
 Gas, Electric and Water safety and regulations 
 Water dampness and mould prevention 
 Useful resources, groups and associations 
 Best practice with tenants to build good relationship 
 Resolving conflict and emergency situations 
 Local council issues 
 Environmental sustainability – recycling tips, insulation, draught 

proofing, solar PV & heating, ground source heat pumps, water 
saving, food growing, water butts, wood burner heaters.  

 Funding, grants and loans available for refurbishments 
 Public transport  

• There is adequate supply of student housing 
• Question and answer sessions, similar to that that took place at the 

Annual Student Landlord meeting worked well; to bring issues to the 
surface, release tension and most importantly develop a real 
relationship with Council and landlords. Inclusive policies where 
landlords feel they have ownership and input will have a positive 
influence 

• There is a good overall standard but experienced landlords need to 
have ways to share knowledge to new landlords so common pitfalls are 
avoided, and raise living standards and welfare of private housing 

• There is large scope for renewal and refurbishment of housing to 
increase energy efficiency and standards. Surveys and benchmarking 
are needed to accurately assess the current situation in Northampton 
so progress can be measured 

• It is of upmost importance to make housing as energy efficient as 
possible given the projected increase of houses and the limited use of 
resources. Technology such as solar PV, solar heating, and wood 

57



32 

 

burning stoves should be implemented where possible to reduce the 
demand on the national grid and on oil and gas as well as 
strengthening the local energy resiliency of Northampton going into the 
future. Opportunities, resources, groups and advice on food growing 
should also be encouraged by landlords to tenants. Local food growing 
initiatives have many benefits, including building community, increasing 
health and lowering pressure on the NHS, reduce food miles, increase 
food security of Northampton, provide a safety buffer for future 
uncertainties, reduce carbon emissions, increase wellbeing, bring local 
people together, reduce crime and offer opportunities for youths at risk 

              Student Accommodation Officer, Northampton University 
 
3.3.11    Key points: 
 

• The Northampton Student Accommodation Accreditation Scheme is a 
good example of how property and management standards can be 
improved. A similar scheme may help to achieve some of these 
objectives 

• A landlord accreditation scheme can help to enhance property and 
management standards 

• The offering of incentives should encourage the “take up” of any 
scheme therefore they should be offered. They may also increase the 
impression of “partnership working” and help to offset any negative 
issues relating to any charges for the scheme 

• The introduction of a Best Practice Guide would be beneficial. Possible 
areas to include: 

 Housing standards and Safety Condition/ Housing Health and 
safety rating system 

 
o Gas Safety 
o Electrical Safety  
o Safety relating to furniture and furnishings 
o Overcrowding 
o Fire safety  

 
 The different forms of legal agreement 
 Good Management Practice: 

 
o Marketing information 
o Legal Agreement  
o Inventory  

58

https://www.enfield.gov.uk/info/200036/advice_for_private_landlords/1132/landlords-advice/5
https://www.enfield.gov.uk/info/200036/advice_for_private_landlords/1132/landlords-advice/7
https://www.enfield.gov.uk/info/200036/advice_for_private_landlords/1132/landlords-advice/9


33 

 

o Induction/orientation 
o Inspection for Repairs  
o Repairs  
o Right of entry 
o Anti-Social behaviour  
o Gardens 
o Smoking 
o Pets  
o Deposits  
o Rent Arrears  
o Council tax 
o Ending a residency / unlawful eviction 

 
 Houses in Multi Occupation (HIMOs) / Licensing 
 Protection for Tenancy Deposits / Government Authorised 

Deposit Schemes 
 

• Generally the student housing provision is working well. The majority of 
students live in safe and affordable accommodation. 

• There appears to be good liaison between Northampton Borough 
Council, National Landlords Association, DASH and the University 

• A significant proportion of students currently live in properties which are 
neither licensed nor covered by an accreditation scheme. There are 
also a few landlords/properties which have given rise to concern over 
the past few years 

• It will be interesting to see the impact which the new halls of residence 
will have on the accommodation market. The introduction of 465 bed-
spaces may lead to a “buyers” market which could see some properties 
unlet. If so, the pertinent issue will be whether students choose to 
differentiate by quality, location or cost 

• Private lets in Northampton are generally good   

 
              Environmental Health Manager (Environmental Protection), NBC 
 
3.3.12    Key points: 
 

• The extent of the impact of private let properties on the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties depends upon a number of factors.  The most 
significant factor is the behaviour of the residents present in the 
property, but the number of residents living the property and the 
construction of the building will also affect the impact caused.   

59

https://www.enfield.gov.uk/info/200036/advice_for_private_landlords/1132/landlords-advice/11


34 

 

• Building regulations ensure that new build properties are provided with 
sufficient sound insulation to restrict the passage of sound to 
neighbouring properties.  In cases where conversion from single to 
multiple-occupancy requires planning consent, similar controls can be 
imposed and requirements to provide adequate refuse storage can be 
enforced. Even if the construction of the property is up to a high 
standard, adverse impact can be caused to neighbours if occupiers 
behave in an unreasonable manner.  Interventions to control the impact 
of let properties should focus on occupiers and their landlords.   

• A combination of education and enforcement actions are likely to be the 
most effective means of ensuring that private lets do not have an 
adverse impact on the neighbourhood.  

• Under nuisance legislation, it is possible to take enforcement action 
against the person responsible for the nuisance and the also against 
the owner or occupier of the property that is the source of the nuisance. 
Noise can be controlled using this legislation.  Action will involve the 
service of an abatement notice and if that notice is breached, 
prosecution, works in default and/or seizure of noise making 
equipment.  Control of problems with accumulations of waste is also 
possible under this legislation.  Other witnesses have provided details 
of the possible legal measures to control the management of Houses in 
Multiple Occupation. 

• Currently, Environmental Protection does not collect a full range of 
statistics to give an indication whether rented properties cause more 
problems that owner occupied but the perception is that they do. 

• There is the need for fully joined up working and the sharing of 
information with all parties within NBC/Police/Fire Service. 

• There are issues with rapidly changing tenants and some problems 
with incompatible lifestyles. 

• A Landlord Accreditation Scheme has the potential to set a standard for 
let properties.  As the Schemes are discretionary, it is likely that the 
good landlords will reach the required standards, whilst the poor 
landlords have no reason to do so.  The use of incentives may be 
appropriate, such as the qualification for the “fit and proper person” test 
or reduced fee for Licensing.  This is in common with the schemes in 
other fields where a demonstrated good standard of compliance will 
result in less regulatory involvement. 

• It is important that Environmental Protection can feed into assessment 
if problems experienced with specific land lords.  

• The value that responsible landlords can add to control of impact of 
tenants’ behaviour is recognised. 

60



35 

 

• It is considered that the additional licensing is the most appropriate 
option for Northampton.  This is because the mandatory scheme does 
not deal with a sufficiently wide range of properties.  In Northampton, 
problems with noise and refuse have been experienced from a number 
of two storey HIMOs.  The Environmental Health Manager 
(Environmental Protection) is not aware of any evidence to support the 
introduction of a selective licensing scheme in the Borough. 

• A Best Practice Guide would be very useful and could include: 
 

 Guidance on issues to consider before letting a property such as 
tax and insurance 

 Options for property management  
 Guidance on tenancy options, rent and deposit schemes 
 The rights and responsibilities of both landlords and tenants and 

what measures landlords should take to minimise problems 
caused by tenants 

 Information on the required standards of properties, health and 
safety requirement such as gas safety checks  

 Key details of the legislation about housing HIMOS/ housing 
Health and Safety Rating System 

 

• The University Accommodation Team works well with Environmental 
Protection to address problems caused by students living in rented 
accommodation.  In serious cases of noise nuisance, approaches are 
made to the University and the additional sanctions it can apply have 
proved to be effective at resolving problems   

• The Licensing of HIMOs and the Council’s other work to engage with 
landlords is beginning to have a positive impact on the situation.  This 
type of work takes a significant amount of resources and does not 
necessarily deliver immediate results. It is important for there to be 
joined up work of all Agencies involved 

• The private rented sector in Northampton is very diverse.  In terms of 
impacts dealt with by Environmental Protection, specific data on 
occupancy type is not collected so it is not possible to give statistics on 
the proportion of complaints from rented properties. The stats that have 
been obtained show that 2% of domestic noise complaints definitely 
relate to HMOs.  However recording is not consistent so this figure 
should be treated with caution 

• The perception of officers in the team is that HIMOs, particularly the 
larger ones, give rise to significant numbers of noise and refuse 

61



36 

 

complaints.  However, this is very dependent upon the management of 
the properties and the behaviour of individual tenants  

• There are often difficulties in obtaining information regarding the 
identity of tenants, for example, in respect of noise in a HIMO and who 
is actually responsible 

 
            Neighbourhood Wardens, NBC 
 
3.3.13  Key points of evidence: 

 
• It is necessary to ensure that private let properties are well managed by 

landlords and managing agents to control issues including waste, 
noise, general maintenance and upkeep, parking, to engender a sense 
of pride in the area 

• The Borough Council should work with landlord and managing agents 
to promote a high standard of accommodation 

• It is considered that the role of letting agents must be recognised and 
they should be supported in ensuring that properties are well managed.  
The Neighbourhood Wardens are aware of a number of instances of 
absentee landlords where the only control over the property is carried 
out by the letting agent 

• A combination of education and enforcement should be used to ensure 
that standards are met and maintained - recognising that responsible 
landlords will respond positively to education but there are significant 
numbers of less responsible property managers where enforcement 
action is needed to secure compliance 

• A Landlord Accreditation Scheme could have some merit, unless such 
a scheme is mandatory only the responsible landlords will comply with 
requirements 

• Additional Licensing is the most appropriate option for Northampton.  
This is because the mandatory scheme does not deal with a sufficiently 
wide range of properties.  In Northampton, problems with noise and 
refuse have been experienced from a number of two storey HIMOs.  
The Neighbourhood Wardens are not aware of any evidence to support 
the introduction of a selective licensing scheme in the Borough 

• A good practice guide for private sector landlords would be a useful tool 
• The guide should include information on legal requirements for 

landlords and tenants.  It should provide examples of good ideas like 
starter packs for tenants giving them information on their refuse 
collection, local amenities and useful contact numbers. It should also 
outline details of topics such as financial requirements, good practice 
regarding safety 

62



37 

 

• In common with the overall rented sector the standard of student 
housing provision in Northampton is very variable.  There are some 
examples of excellent provision, particularly the accommodation 
provided by the University.  There is also a significant amount of very 
poor property where tenants are in unsafe and unsuitable properties 

• It is important that regulatory Authorities use the Fresher’s Fair and 
other opportunities to engage with students and advise them of their 
rights and responsibilities 

• The Council’s work on the licensing of HIMOs and other engagement 
with landlords is working reasonably effectively.  The work requires 
significant resources to work effectively.  It is important that all partner 
Agencies work together to maximise effectiveness 

• The private let sector is varied; there is some excellent provision, with 
responsible landlords providing high quality properties. There is also a 
significant amount of sub-standard accommodation, particularly in the 
HIMO sector where ongoing enforcement is needed to secure an 
improvement in standards 

• There are concerns about the impact of the recent changes in the 
arrangement for the payment of Housing Benefit direct to tenants, 
rather than to landlords 

• If an Accreditation Scheme was to be implemented, a visible sign of 
accreditation should be displayed at the properties to allow prospective 
tenants and enforcement officers to be aware of the status of the 
property 

            Northampton Diverse Equalities Community Forum 
 
3.3.14 Two members of the Northampton Diverse Equalities Community Forum 

provided a response to the core questions of the Scrutiny Panel.  Key points: 
 
Respondent one: 

• Concerns whether the scope of this scrutiny Review deals sufficiently 
with discrimination issues and other salient issues to black and minority 
ethnic communities  

• The respondent is aware that some letting agents and private landlords 
currently discriminate against certain racial groups in letting property 
and unlawfully directly discriminating. This has the consequence of 
greater difficulties for some racial groups in finding housing 

• This is also a difficulty for people with disabilities or families with 
disabled children. Often people are discriminated against in this way 
are unaware of discrimination taking place as housing that is available 
is simply not offered to them 

63



38 

 

• People have approached the respondent with expiring entry clearance 
(and thus legally allowed to live in the country) who have landlords that 
are unwilling to extend Tenancy Agreements as the outcome of further 
or indefinite leave to remain, applications have not been received. This 
practice directly discriminated against victims. The respondent is 
concerned that this practice may become more widespread as the 
Government discusses the requirement for Landlords to check the 
immigration status of potential tenants in the forthcoming Immigration 
Bill 

• As housing shortages increase there are more and more people living 
in the town in the private rented sector in areas where private rented 
housing has not been seen before. In these situations the respondent is 
concerned about the potential for the undermining of good relations in 
communities as a result of prejudice and discrimination based on socio-
economic differences and class 

• Little work has been done in the town on issues of human trafficking 
and slavery. The location of the town close to large motorway 
infrastructure and large agricultural sites, the increasing cases of 
cannabis farming and significant of the sex industry in the town create 
conditions where trafficking and slavery are likely to take place. Any 
scrutiny activity that looks at HIMO’s should look to see if there could 
be better working together to act to end trafficking or slavery as a result 
of increased knowledge and awareness of Housing professionals and 
other council officers. Northamptonshire Racial Equality Council 
(NREC)’s immigration service in the past did pick up clients where 
there were concerns about trafficking and slavery. Additionally the 
arrests made through the multiagency initiative Operation Ruby in 
2008, highlights the vulnerability on Northamptonshire towns on this 
issue 

  Respondent two: 
 
• Landlords and Letting Agents need to be responsible, not only for the 

property they let, but for the upkeep of those properties by their 
tenants, supporting tenants regarding understanding and expectations, 
property (standard/expectations), neighbourhoods/upkeep-refuse in line 
with all Public sector support services information 

• Educational workshops/ information sharing collection should be 
developed to prevent negative/unreasonable actions by private sector 
tenants that impacts negatively on neighbours/neighbourhoods 

• Schemes/training that is developed should be made available to all 
Landlords and Letting Agencies from the outset in order to ensure the 
opportunity is available to all regarding becoming accredited.  The 

64



39 

 

respondent is supportive of raising housing standards across all 
community areas of Northamptonshire 

• There should be Information sharing through, and with the support of 
NBC, providing workshops/information support services 

• The standards and quality and condition of properties being let should 
be raised, generating a sense of pride and may naturally then trigger 
better information sharing and monitoring of property upkeep by 
tenants from Landlords/Letting Agencies 

• A register of all Private landlords and letting Agencies across 
Northampton/Northamptonshire needs to be developed 

• A Best Practice Guide should be produced by Northampton Borough 
Council , Northamptonshire County Council, Universities and Colleges-
Accredited Private Sector Landlords/Letting Agencies and include 
details:  

 Equalities Statement/Act 
 Area/Property Rental Pricing Guidelines 
 Housing Policy Statement re Standards /Upkeep 
 Contact details of Public Sector Support Service Provisions 
 Complaints Procedure-condition/management of Property 

in line with expectations from all re upkeep 
 Neighbourhood Map/brief area historical information 
 Repairs management 
 Education and awareness raising for private sector 

landlords and agents is required 
 Landlords/letting agencies need to take more responsibility. 

              SHELTER 
 
3.3.15    The Policy department, SHELTER, confirmed that it is unable to provide a 

response to the core questions of the Scrutiny Panel. 
 
3.3.16   HM REVENUE AND CUSTOMS (HMRC) 
 
3.3.16.1 The Campaigns Policy Lead Officer, HMRC, confirmed that HMRC is not able 

to provide specific advice or guidance and is therefore unable to provide a 
response to the core questions of the Scrutiny Panel.  A lot of information is 
available regarding private sector lettings both on the websites of HMRC 
and gov.uk.  Helplines have also been set up to provide guidance and 
assistance to individuals. 

 

65

http://search.hmrc.gov.uk/kb5/hmrc/hmrc/results.page?qt=LETTINGS


40 

 

3.3.16.2 HMRC commenced on a campaign in 2013/14 to raise awareness regarding 
the obligations to HMRC; such as the requirement to inform HMRC as soon 
as a property is available for letting.  

3.3.16.3 HMRC reports that the Let Property Campaign gives individuals an 
opportunity to bring their tax affairs up to date if they are an individual 
landlord letting out residential property in the UK or abroad and to get the 
best possible terms to pay the tax that they owe. 

3.3.16.4 If tax is owed on the letting income, HMRC should be informed about the 
income that has not been declared by making a voluntary disclosure. Once 
HMRC has been informed, the applicant has three months to calculate and 
pay what is owed. 

3.3.16.5 Individuals can report previously undisclosed taxes on rental income to 
HMRC under the Let Property Campaign if they are an individual landlord 
renting out residential property. This includes:  

• renting out a single property  
• renting out multiple properties  
• a specialist landlord, e.g. student or workforce rentals  
• renting out a room in your main home for more than £4,250 a year or 

£2,125 a year if letting the property jointly, i.e. above the Rent a Room 
Scheme threshold  

• living abroad and renting out a property in the UK  
• living in the UK and renting a property abroad  
• renting out a holiday home even if you use it yourself  

3.3.16.6  This Scheme cannot be used to declare undisclosed income by a company 
or a trust renting out residential properties or renting out commercial 
properties.   

3.3.15.7  There are many reasons why landlords may misunderstand the rules and so 
not pay the right amount of tax.  It provides examples of tax errors that 
landlords in its document “Representative Case Studies”. 

3.3.17  GOV.UK 

3.3.17.1 Gov.uk contains useful guidelines for private sector landlords and tenants, 
FAQs and other such information for landlords and prospective landlords 
such as: 

• Renting a property;  tenants’ responsibilities 
• Renting out your property 
• House in Multi Occupation 

66

https://www.gov.uk/rent-room-in-your-home/the-rent-a-room-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/rent-room-in-your-home/the-rent-a-room-scheme


41 

 

• Private renting 
• Renting a room in your property 
• Rents, lettings and tenancies data 

 
              Northamptonshire Federation of Residents' Association 
 
3.3.18    Key points: 
 

• There is a need for rigorous, regular inspections of HIMOs 
• All complaints should be investigated 
• A Landlord Accreditation Scheme is not supported. 
• Licensing options provide the Council with a source for tenants to 

downsize into the private sector 
• A best practice guide would be useful, such as “ Practical Legal Guide 

to Multi Occupancy” 
• The future provision of student housing has improved 
• The perception of private lets is that it does not have security of tenure. 

  
              Service Manager, Decent and Safe Homes (DASH) 
 
3.3.19    Key points: 

• Approximately 200 members of the Decent and Safe Homes (DASH) 
Landlord Accreditation Scheme have more than 700 rental properties in 
Northampton 

• The aim of DASH Landlord Accreditation is to encourage, acknowledge 
and raise awareness of good standards in the Private Rental Sector 

• The current statutory enforcement framework, if correctly and properly 
exercised,  would render any Additional Scheme unnecessary 

• Licensing may encourage more landlords to go “underground” 
• Privately let properties can impact greatly on neighbourhoods. Issues 

can be mitigated, such as a joined up approach by combining 
encouragement, incentives and accreditation, along with strict 
enforcement where necessary 

• Private landlords and tenants should not be held responsible en masse 
for issues such as anti-social behaviour 

• The DASH Landlord Accreditation is seen as a beacon of good practice 
across the UK and has been very successful in Northampton. The 
design of the scheme is important and a close working relationship with 
the host Authority must be maintained so that shared goals are 
achieved. 

67



42 

 

• Where accreditations amounts little more than a `tick box exercise’, it 
can potentially have a negative effect 

• Too many conditions on membership above the legal minimum will 
attract a very small percentage of landlords and deny the Scheme any 
degree of popular appeal or impact and a setting the bar too low will 
have less impact 

• An effective Accreditation Scheme must require a reasonable standard 
of accommodation and management. The Scheme must inspect at 
least a percentage of member landlords’ properties to ensure those 
standards are achieved and maintained.  There must also be sanctions 
for landlords that do not comply with the appropriate management 
practices and property standards. The Scheme must also provide 
training and continual professional development so that members are 
kept up to date with legislative and local developments 

• An Accreditation Scheme enables the Local Authority to focus its 
resources on the worst landlords 

• Incentives for joining an Accreditation Scheme are essential to assist 
with market penetration 

• Poor conditions are more likely to exist in properties that are operated 
`under the radar’.  Little support for a Licensing Scheme was evidenced 
in DASH’s consultation responses .  A preferred model is that where 
Council activity focusses on enforcement against the worst landlords 
and good management is promoted and encouraged (for example via 
an Accreditation Scheme.) 

• Additional or Selective Licensing approaches require effort in the 
administration of such schemes and may serve to regulate the 
compliant whilst many `rogue’ landlords fall through the net 

• There are already considerable resources available to landlords and it 
would be unnecessary duplication to prepare another document. DASH 
recently contributed to the revised ANUK guide which is an excellent 
general guide for landlords.  Other documents are available locally, 
such as, NBC’s Facilities and Amenities guidance for HIMOs and the 
general DASH guides to the 29 hazards, enforcement options etc. 

• A best practice guide would become outdated quickly.  It is better to 
ensure that landlords are aware of the relevant legislation and their 
roles and responsibilities in adhering to that legislation. DASH services 
offers a mandatory landlord development day training course which can 
be completed on line or at events throughout the region 

• DASH has a central hub of information available to all landlords and 
provides regular updates on relevant matters and legislation   

• Since NBC ceased accepting new applications for its in-house 
Northampton Student Accreditation Scheme (NSAS); DASH Landlord 

68



43 

 

Accreditation has been the preferred choice for student landlords 
wishing to become accredited in the area.  There has been a need to 
remove only one student landlord from the scheme 

• DASH has provided training for student landlords, attended University 
housing events and visited a number of properties to let to 
students.  The landlords that DASH met vary in their knowledge and 
understanding of housing standards and housing management but 
showed a keen desire to learn more or share their knowledge 

• Various hazards have been identified during property visits undertaken 
by DASH.  In the main, the accommodation seen by DASH in the 
student sector is of good quality. Category 1 hazards are relatively rare 
occurrences 

• DASH received various complaints from landlords regarding poor 
service they received from NBC on the processing of their mandatory 
HMO licence applications and renewals.   DASH was asked to attend 
various meetings with NBC, NLA and independent landlords to 
overcome the problems 

• A holistic approach to the private rented sector is beneficial 
• DASH Landlord Accreditation is for both student and non-student 

landlords  
• DASH works with the Homeless Team at NBC who encourage 

landlords to join DASH Landlord Accreditation to ensure all tenants 
have access to better accommodation 

• Northampton shares the same problems as all other relatively large 
towns or cities in that the accommodation offered in the private rented 
sector is of variable standard 

• More private sector accommodation is needed in Northampton and the 
Local Authority should work collaboratively with other Agencies to 
achieve this and help to ensure the accommodation is of good quality 

• The proposals to relocate university services and construct more 
purpose built student accommodation could have a considerable 
impact on current student landlords and areas with a pre-dominance of 
student properties currently 

• The relationship between landlords and NBC is deteriorating 
• There is a general perception among landlords that enforcement is 

costly and time consuming and that NBC has neither the resources nor 
the desire to pursue such enforcement effectively and where 
necessary.  There is a desire amongst good landlords to see the 
`rogue’ element of their profession eliminated 

 
 
 

69



44 

 

 
4 Desktop Research  

4.1  As part of the evidence gathering process for this review, desktop research 
was undertaken regarding best practice elsewhere and licensing options.  
Desktop research was also undertaken regarding the licensing scheme that 
Boston Borough Council is looking to implement, together with background 
details about Decent and Safe Homes (DASH). 

 
         Discretionary Licensing Schemes 

4.1.2 The implementation of Discretionary Licensing Schemes is usually resource 
intensive.  

4.1.3 From 1 April 2010, Discretionary Licensing Schemes can be approved by 
Local Authorities and do not require the approval of Communities and Local 
Government. 

4.1.4 Specific criteria must be met before an area can be proposed by the Local 
Housing Authority for Additional or Selective Licensing.  The Scheme is for a 
five year period and must be reviewed at the end of that period.  There are 
mandatory conditions that must be included in the Licence but Local 
Authorities may also set defined conditions in relation to anti-social 
behaviour and the general management of the property. 

4.1.5 Before considering Selective Licensing, the Local Authority must consider 
whether there are alternative forms of action that it could take to deal with 
the relevant issues; and whether Selective Licensing would sort out these 
issues. 

4.1.6 Accreditation Schemes are voluntary for Local Authorities to introduce or for 
.landlords to join. 

 Examples of Best Practice 

 Nottingham City Council 

4.1.7 In February 2013 Nottingham City Council introduced the Nottingham 
Standard for Landlord Accreditation:  A register of Accredited Landlords is 
being developed.  Incentives are offered to landlords to join the Nottingham 
Standard Scheme.  Restrictions on “To Let” advertisement boards have 
been introduced in nine areas of the city. “To Let” boards cannot be 
displayed on residential properties without consent from the Authority unless 
strict criteria is adhered to.  A Scheme of Additional Licensing of HIMOs is 
scheduled come into force on 1 January 2014. 

70



45 

 

 London Borough of Newham 

4.1.8 On 1 January 2013 the London Borough of Newham introduced a 
Discretionary Licensing Scheme in two borough wide designations for all 
private rented properties. The two designations include an Additional 
Licensing Scheme and a Selective Licensing Scheme.  A Landlord 
Accreditation Scheme has also been introduced. 

 Oxford City Council 

4.1.9 Oxford City Council is proposing to introduce an Accreditation Scheme, the 
purpose of which is to improve the standard of private rented 
accommodation in the city. A Guide for Landlords of private sector properties 
has been produced and regular newsletters for landlords are published on 
the Council’s website. 

             London Borough of Havering 

4.1.10  The London Borough of Havering has a private sector leasing scheme in 
operation which is reported to be very successful. 

 Cambridge City Council 

4.1.11 Cambridge City Council has introduced an Accreditation Scheme for 
landlords and letting agents. The Scheme is free to join and there are a 
variety of benefits available to those who do join the Scheme.  Since its 
introduction in 2007, almost 500 properties have become accredited.  A ten 
point guide for property owners considering renting out their property has 
been produced.  In addition, a Guide setting out the standards for college 
properties has been produced, which includes the agreed set of required 
standards. 

 Boston Borough Council – Consultation – Licensing of Private Rented 
Homes 

4.1.12 The Cabinet, Boston Borough Council, agreed to formally consult interested 
parties and other local stakeholders about the potential introduction of a 
five year Discretionary Licensing scheme (discretionary licensing is the 
collective term embracing additional and selective licensing) for the whole 
borough to cover all forms of privately rented accommodation.   The 
consultation ran from 1 November 2013 to 31 January 2014. 

 
4.1.13   The private rented sector represents some 18% of the residential housing 

stock in the borough, having doubled in size over the past 10 years.  The 
sector locally is typified by high rents which has driven multi occupancy 
and extended family living. This has resulted in a range of anti-social 

71



46 

 

behaviour issues being caused and experienced by some tenants, being 
faced by communities and being addressed by multiple organisations.   
40% of the private rented stock is classed as ‘non decent’ and around 47% 
of properties within the sector contain Category 1 hazards.  

 
4.1.14  There are ongoing and growing perceptions that poorly managed privately 

rented homes are having significant negative effects on neighbours and 
communities in the borough.  

 
4.1.16  A Part Three Designation (Selective Licensing) under the Housing Act 2004 

will be made to address the problems caused by persistent and substantial 
anti-social behaviour, which some private sector landlords are failing to 
tackle.  

 
4.1.17  A Part Two designation (Additional Licensing) would be made to combat 

problems with ineffectively managed HIMOs. It is reported that there are 
significant numbers of properties which have the same local impact as 
HIMOs but are purportedly occupied by extended families. It is further 
reported that limiting the focus to Additional Licensing only is unlikely to 
have any material impact upon the issues the Council needs to address on 
behalf of its community.  

 
            Decent and Safe Homes (DASH) 

4.1.18 Decent and Safe Homes (DASH)’s Landlord Accreditation accredits all types 
of private rented sector landlords.  DASH is a joint-working initiative with Local 
Authorities, property owners, landlords and tenants.  The reported aim of 
DASH is to improve housing conditions in the private sector, with particular 
emphasis on the private rented sector.  The service has operated across the 
East Midlands region for a number of years.  DASH was established in 
response to the introduction of the Housing Act 2004 by Government, and 
was set up to provide support services to Local Government in undertaking 
their statutory duties. 

           DASH Accreditation 

4.1.19 DASH has been managing a landlord accreditation service since 2008.     Its 
Accreditation offers people working in the private rented sector the opportunity 
to gain a Quality Mark in recognition for the good work that they do.  It can 
encompass all areas of the Private Rented Sector – landlords, letting agents 
and tenants.  The Quality Mark identifies the individual or company as one 
which has attained certain standards and commits to upholding a Code of 
Conduct.  

72



47 

 

4.1.20 DASH Accreditation runs a service which develops training and continual 
professional development, in addition to offering a support system so that 
people in the lettings market are aware of their responsibilities in terms of 
tenant management and housing standards.  A percentage of all rented 
properties registered with the DASH Accreditation Service are checked to 
ensure they offer a satisfactory level of health and safety and assistance is 
offered, where necessary, to address any issues found. DASH Accreditation 
Services is not an enforcement body. DASH works in partnership with a range 
of other partners, to help raise housing standards.  

           Accredited Landlords 

4.1.21 A register of landlords that are accredited with DASH is published on 
its website. 

           Licence Fees elsewhere 

4.1.22 Detailed below are the fees charged for Mandatory and Additional Licensing 
by a sample of other Local Authorities: 

  

 Nottingham City Council 

 £910 for a five year licence, a discount of £40 is applied if multiple 
applications are submitted at the same time as just one fit and proper person 
check needs to be undertaken. 

 

 If the landlord is accredited (for example with DASH), the five year licenced 
fee is £795 and is £755 for multiple HIMO applications (accredited) 

 London Borough of Newham     

        Mandatory (five year licence) – Up to five lettings £950 (£550 renewal), 6-
9 lettings £1,100 (£600 renewal), 10-14 lettings £1,250 (£650 renewal),15-19 
lettings £1,400 (£700 renewal) 20 and over lettings £1,550 (£750 renewal)  

 Additional Licence (five year licence)  £500 (renewal £500).  The fee for 
the renewal of additional licences is under review. 

       Oxford City Council  

 Licence fees - £491 for 3 storey plus and 2 storey HIMOs with five or more 
occupants.    £378 for smaller properties (1 or 2 storey with 3-4 occupants).  
Renewal fees are £180 and £157 respectively.  Re-inspection fees (if 
required) are £149 or £99 respectively.   

73

http://www.dashservices.org.uk/Accreditation/AccreditedLandlords


48 

 

 Discounts are applied if the landlord is accredited and therefore the licence 
fee for larger HIMOs is reduced to £399 and £299 for smaller HIMOs. The 
renewal fees for accredited landlords is £162 and £141 respectively. 

 

 Cambridge City Council 

• Fee for initial application to license a HIMO : £620 (five year 
licence fee) 

• Renewal fee: £310  
• Fee for registered charities (only applies where the rent is 

collected by a charity registered in the UK): £70  
• Fee for members of ANUK: £70 (UK Accreditation Network) 

 Accredited landlords are offered a 50% reduction on the licence fee for 
HIMOs. 

4.1.23 Appendix D provides comprehensive findings from the desktop research 
exercise. 

5 Equality Impact Assessment 
 

5.1 Overview and Scrutiny ensures that it adheres to the Council’s statutory duty 
to provide the public with access to Scrutiny reports, briefing notes, agendas, 
minutes and other such documentation.  Meetings of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and its Scrutiny Panels are widely publicised, i.e. on the 
Council’s website, copies issued to the local media and paper copies are 
made available in the Council’s One Stop Shop and local libraries. 

5.2 The Scrutiny Panel was mindful of the eight protected characteristics when 
undertaking this scrutiny activity so that any recommendations that it made 
could identify potential positive and negative impacts on any particular sector 
of the community.  This was borne in mind as the Scrutiny Panel progressed 
with the review and evidence gathered. 

5.3 In order that the Scrutiny Panel obtained a wide range of views, a number of 
key witnesses provided evidence as detailed in section 3 of this report. 

5.4 Details of the Equality Impact Assessment undertaken can be located on the 
Overview and Scrutiny webpage. 

 

 

74

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/100004/your_council_elections_meetings_and_members/464/overview_and_scrutiny/11


49 

 

 

 6 Conclusions and Key Findings 

 

6.1 After all of the evidence was collated the following conclusions were drawn: 

             Private Rental Sector - General 

6.1.1  In considering the desktop research paper around best practice elsewhere, 
the buoyancy of the private sector rental market was recognised. 

6.1.2   In noting the research paper “House Proud – How Council’s can raise 
standards in the private rented sector”, the Scrutiny Panel observed that the 
private rented sector is likely to remain an important element of the local 
housing economy for the foreseeable future as it continues to provide a 
flexible and accessible form of housing for large sections of the population. 
However, there are still a number of challenges facing the sector.  The 
Scrutiny Panel recognised that there is a need to lobby central Government 
regarding giving more powers to Councils to deal with effective enforcement 
of rogue landlords. 

 
6.1.3 The Scrutiny Panel concurred with the response of the Association of 

Residential Letting Agents (ARLA) to its core question regarding its view of 
the rental sector in Northampton - “It is mixed but the town has many older 
properties where improvement is badly needed and these areas are mixed 
tenure. Quality safe homes generally lead to a better society and greater 
economic wealth, less stress on the Health Service, Policing and Education.” 

 
Licensing and Legislative Options 
 

6.1.4 The Scrutiny Panel supported the proposal to introduce Additional Licensing; 
noting that a lot of students reside in Houses of Multi Occupation (HIMOs), 
particularly in the wards of Sunnyside, Semilong, Obelisk and St David’s and 
many other areas of the town.  It noted that the current priority to tackle poor 
management standards in the approximate 1,500-2,000 HIMOs in 
Northampton and to develop ways to maximise the support the private sector 
can give to meet housing need and homelessness.  . 
 

6.1.5 The Scrutiny Panel noted that the consultation exercise regarding Additional 
Licensing had highlighted that anecdotally, most people were supportive of 
the introduction of additional licensing. 

 

75



50 

 

6.1.6 Selective Licensing can increase the professionalism of the private rented 
sector by ensuring: 

 

• support for landlords to participate in regeneration and 
tackle anti-social behaviour effectively  

• protection for vulnerable tenants from the worst housing 
conditions and from bad landlords 

• strategic knowledge to support LAs in targeting health 
and safety inspections 

• support for landlords to improve the worst properties by 
helping them to achieve decent minimum standards in 
housing conditions and management. 

 
6.1.7  The evidence received indicated that there are no areas in Northampton that 

would require a Selective Licensing Scheme.  The Scrutiny Panel did 
however, realise the importance of such Schemes should they be required in 
specific areas.  It was acknowledged that before Selective Licensing is 
considered, the Local Authority must consider whether there are alternative 
forms of action that it could take to deal with the relevant issues; and whether 
Selective Licensing would sort out these issues.  The Scrutiny Panel 
acknowledged that the need for Selective Licensing should be kept under 
constant review. 
 

6.1.8 The Scrutiny Panel highlighted the importance of Environmental Protection 
Services providing input into assessment if problems are experienced with 
specific landlords. 
 

6.1.9 The value of Accreditation Schemes was noted. The Scrutiny Panel 
appreciated that licensing mechanisms give the Borough Council control as 
membership to Accreditation Schemes are voluntary.   
 

6.1.10  Landlord Accreditation schemes are useful schemes to help engage with 
landlords. They are discretionary and in general, aim to ensure that landlords 
have the necessary knowledge and skills to run a successful letting business.   
The Scrutiny Panel is aware that the Council is working with DASH regarding 
a possible Accreditation Scheme for Northampton. 
 

6.1.11 Plans for the Landlord Forum to meet at least annually, so matters in common 
can be discussed, were welcomed. 
 

 

76



51 

 

Priorities for Private Rental Sector 
 
6.1.12 From the evidence gathered, the Scrutiny Panel established that it would be 

beneficial for Northampton Borough Council to work with the University of 
Northampton and landlords to agree a Northampton standard for privately 
rented homes. 
 

6.1.13 The Scrutiny Panel highlighted that as part of its evidence base, Best Practice 
Guides are useful to both tenants and private sector landlords.   The Scrutiny 
Panel felt that a Best Practice Guide should include: 
 

• Issues to consider pre tenancy 
• Means of managing a property 
• Setting up a tenancy and different legal agreements 
• Deposits 
• Rents 
• Housing benefit 
• Landlord and tenant responsibilities 
• An agreement between Letting Agents and Landlords that the 

Letting Agent is permitted to undertake repairs on behalf of the 
Landlord 

• Other housing options 
• Empty homes 
• Housing standards and Safety conditions 
• Housing health and safety rating system 
• Safety checks 
• Energy efficiency, recycling and sustainability 
• Equalities Statement 
• Useful contacts 

6.1.14 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that a lot of useful information for private 
sector landlords and tenants is available on the websites of HM Revenue and 
Customs (HMRC) and Gov.UK; a Best Practice Guide should include the links 
to these websites. 
 

6.1.15 It was recognised that a combination of education and enforcement actions 
are anticipated to be the most effective means of ensuring that private lets do 
not have an adverse impact on the neighbourhood.   The Scrutiny Panel 
noted the value that responsible landlords can add to control of impact of 
tenants’ behaviour. 

77

http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/


52 

 

 
6.1.16 The Scrutiny Panel emphasised the need for a Register of Private Sector 

Landlords.  
 

6.1.17 The Scrutiny Panel agreed that there was a need for a Protocol for identifying 
absent landlords, supporting the introduction of a mapping exercise that will 
detail HIMOs situated within the borough.  It was acknowledged that the 
production of this map is expected to be concluded by the end of the financial 
year 2014/2015. The Scrutiny Panel felt that there was a need for  letting 
agents to  have in place an agreement with their landlords that they are 
authorised to carry out essential repairs using the rental income, if necessary.  
This will resolve the majority of problems with absent landlords, landlord 
refusing to repair boiler, landlord that do not provide certificates for electricity 
installation, gas installation, EPCs etc. 

 

6.1.18 The Scrutiny Panel noted the information provided by the Citizen’s Advice 
Bureau (CAB) regarding absent landlords: 

“Landlord's rights and responsibilities 

How to find out who the landlord is 

If you do not know the identity of your landlord, you can find out 
either by:- 

• writing to the person who last collected your rent, asking for the 
landlord’s full name and address, or  
• looking up their registration online. 

As a tenant you have a legal right to know who your landlord is. If 
you write requesting this information, you should send this letter by 
recorded delivery and keep a copy. If the person to whom you have 
written does not reply within 21 days, this is a criminal offence. You 
can inform the police. 

Before contacting the police, you should consider whether this might 
provoke the landlord into retaliating with threats or attempted 
eviction. You should consult an experienced adviser for example, at 
a Citizens Advice Bureau. To search for details of your nearest CAB, 
including those that can give advice by email, click on nearest CAB. 

78

http://www.adviceguide.org.uk/scotland/housing_s/housing_renting_a_home_s/common_problems_with_renting_scotland.htm#landlord_registration
http://www.cas.org.uk/find-a-bureau/


53 

 

If you need to find out the landlord’s identity because of an 
emergency, such as a burst pipe, it may be quicker to inform the 
local authority as it has special powers to enter and carry out 
emergency repairs. It can then take steps to find out who the 
landlord is to recover its costs.” 

 

6.1.19 The Scrutiny Panel emphasised the need for resources and the introduction of 
a Policy for rogue landlords to be prosecuted. In acknowledging the benefit of 
landlords associations, the Scrutiny Panel agreed that Private Sector 
Landlords should to be encouraged to join a landlords’ association, such as 
ARLA. 

 
6.1.20In receiving the results of the desktop research exercise, the Scrutiny Panel 

noted the usefulness of Cambridge City Council’s published ten point guide 
for property owners considering renting out their property.  The key headlines 
contained within the guide: 

•      Speak to your mortgage lender 
•      Get references from potential tenants 
•      Prepare a formal agreement  
•      Deposits – properly protected 
•      Obtain an energy performance certificate 
•      Find out whether you need a property licence 
•      Get all your gas and electric appliances checked 
•       Minimise the risk from fire 
• Ensure that your property presents no risks to your tenant’s 

health and safety 
•      Don’t find yourself in court when something goes wrong 

6.1.21 Witness evidence also highlighted the need for a leaflet explaining the rights 
and responsibilities of private sector landlords and tenants. 
 

6.1.22 Witness evidence further supported the introduction of the hotline for the 
public to notify the Local Authority of the location of HIMOs. 
 

6.1.23 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that the development of a multi-Agency 
meeting, two to three times a year, to enable two way discussions/information 
sharing would be useful.  

6.1.24 The Scrutiny Panel recognised the need for the Borough Council to educate 
tenants and landlords to be considerate to local communities.   The value that 

79



54 

 

responsible landlords can add to control of impact of tenants’ behaviour was 
recognised also. 

 
6.1.25 It was acknowledged that the Landlords’ Association, Northampton, (NLA) has 

a Scheme of on-line training that it can offer to Northampton Borough Council 
(NBC), free of charge, and that NLA can also offer guidance information for 
tenants to NBC, free of charge. 

 

6.1.26 The Scrutiny Panel was concerned that a private sector landlord does not 
have to use the Local Authority’s building control service to pass any works; 
but can engage a professional of their choice. 
 

6.1.27 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged the need for a check to be made to ensure 
that letting agents are renting properties through the correct procedures and 
that letting agents are included in Additional Licensing. 

6.1.28 The Scrutiny Panel highlighted the need for close working between Housing 
and Planning Services at Northampton Borough Council regarding the private 
rental sector, to ensure that private lettings make a positive contribution to 
neighbourhoods. 
 

Accommodation for students 

6.1.29 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that the evidence received indicated that 
there is adequate student accommodation, which is working well.  The 
majority of students live in safe and affordable accommodation.   

6.1.30 The Scrutiny Panel emphasised the benefit of all Regulatory Authorities using 
the Fresher’s Fair and other opportunities to engage with students and advise 
them of their rights and responsibilities.  It welcomed that road shows with the 
University already take place and tenants are given talks, advice and 
promotional materials.  

 
6.1.31 The work being undertaken by Decent and Safe Homes (DASH) and Student 

Accommodation, Northampton University was supported. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

80



55 

 

7 Recommendations 

 

7.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to investigate the regulation and 
management of private lettings, both by landlords and agencies. 

 Scrutiny Panel 2 recommends to Cabinet that: 

             Licensing and Legislative Options 

7.1.1 Scrutiny Panel 2 formally informs Cabinet that it supports the proposal to 
implement Additional Licensing for HIMOs.  The Scrutiny Panel agreed that, 
at the time of the Review, there are no areas in Northampton that require a 
Selective Licensing Scheme but the need for Selective Licensing should be 
kept under constant review. 

 

             Priorities for the Private Rental Sector 

7.1.2 A Private Sector Landlords Registration Scheme is implemented with the 
facility for landlords to register on-line. 

7.1.3 A useful guide for individuals that are considering becoming a private sector 
landlord is published on the Council’s website and includes the following 
headlines: 

•  Speak to your mortgage lender 
•      Get references from potential tenants 
•      Prepare a formal agreement  
•      Deposits – properly protected 
•      Obtain an energy performance certificate 
•      Do you need a property licence? 
•      Get all your gas and electric appliances checked 
•       Minimise the risk from fire 
• Ensure that your property presents no risks to your tenant’s 

health and safety 
•       Don’t find yourself in court when something goes wrong 

7.1.4 Northampton Borough Council works with the University of Northampton and 
private sector landlords to agree a Northampton standard for privately rented 
homes.  The standard is produced in conjunction with the useful guide 
(recommendation 7.1.3) and Best Practice Guide (recommendation 7.1.12). 

 

81



56 

 

7.1.5 A Protocol for identifying absent landlords is produced and implemented. 
Private Sector Landlords are encouraged to join a local or national Landlord 
Association. 

 

7.1.6 A Policy for the prosecution of “rogue landlords” is introduced and a funding 
pot is identified to be allocated to resources to support licensing through a 
rigorous programme of encouragement, support to landlords, and 
enforcement, including prosecution of those landlords who do not comply 
with the requirements of the Scheme.  

 

7.1.7    Contact is made with the National Landlords’ Association (NLA) regarding 
utilising its free of charge scheme of on-line training and the use of its free 
guidance material for tenants and private sector landlords.   

 

7.1.8   A tri-annual multi-Agency meeting, together with the Landlords Forum, to 
enable two way discussions and information sharing, is introduced. 

7.1.9    Planning Services and Housing Services work collaboratively regarding the 
private rental sector, to ensure that private lettings make a positive 
contribution to neighbourhoods. 

 
7.1.10   A check be made to ensure that letting agents are renting properties through 

the correct procedure and that letting agents are included in Additional 
Licensing. 

7.1.11   Arrangements be put in place for Licence fees to be paid through a direct 
debit scheme, similar to that in place for the payment of Council Tax. 

 
             Best Practice Guide 

7.1.12   The Scrutiny Panel highlights the need for a Best Practice Guide for Private 
Sector Landlords and Tenants and has produced a list of key issues that the 
Guide should include, as detailed below, for Cabinet’s consideration: 

• Issues to consider pre tenancy 
• Means of managing a property 
• Setting up a tenancy and different legal agreements 
• Deposits 
• Rents 
• Housing benefit 

82



57 

 

• Landlord and tenant responsibilities 
• An agreement between Letting Agents and Landlords that the 

Letting Agent is permitted to undertake repairs on behalf of the 
Landlord 

• Other housing options 
• Empty homes 
• Housing standards and Safety conditions 
• Housing health and safety rating system 
• Safety checks 
• Energy efficiency, recycling and sustainability 
• Equalities Statement 
• Useful contacts, such as HMRC and Gov.UK 

7.1.13   The Best Practice Guide for Private Sector Landlords and Tenants is easily 
accessible on the Council’s website with paper copies available in the 
Council’s One Stop Shop.  On request, the Best Practice Guide should be 
made available in other languages and formats. 

 
7.1.14  A copy of the Best Practice Guide is sent to the Association of Residential 

Letting Agents (ARLA) and the National Landlords’ Association (NLA). 

            Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

7.1.15 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, 
reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 

83

http://search.hmrc.gov.uk/kb5/hmrc/hmrc/results.page?qt=LETTINGS
https://www.gov.uk/


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendices 

84



 1 

           
Appendix A 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
SCRUTINY PANEL 2 –   Management and Regulation of 

Private Sector Housing (including HIMOs) 
 

1. Purpose/Objectives of the Review 
 
• To investigate the regulation and management of private lettings, both 

by landlords and agencies 
 

2. Outcomes Required 
 

• To agree the priorities for private sector housing towards achieving 
high quality, affordable private sector lettings 

• To ensure that private lettings make a positive contribution to 
neighbourhoods 

• To consider the options for licensing and make recommendations to 
Cabinet 

• To consider the legislative options available to the Council and make 
recommendations to Cabinet 

• To produce a best practice guide  for Northampton’s  private sector 
landlords 

 
3. Information Required  
 

• Background data 
• Background reports and presentation 
• Best practice data 
• Desktop research 
• Evidence from expert external witnesses 
• Evidence from expert internal witnesses 
• Site visits 

 
4. Format of Information  
 

• Background data: 
Presentation setting the context of private sector housing market 

 Changes over the last ten years 
 Future trends 

85



 2 

 Map identifying known private rental properties 
including HIMOs 

Private Sector Housing Strategy 
Existing legislation and options available to local Councils for 
additional legislation 
Options for licensing of HIMOs 
Empty Homes Programme 

 
• Evidence from: 

 
Cabinet Member for Housing, Northampton Borough Council 
Housing Options Team Leader, Northampton Borough Council 
(NBC) 
Licensing (HIMOs) Consultation Manager, NBC 
Community Safety Manager, NBC 
Neighbourhood Wardens, NBC 
Environmental Services Manager, NBC 

 Ward Councillors  
 Fire Safety, Northamptonshire Fire and Rescue Service 
 HMRC 
 Landlords’ Association, Northampton 

Student Accommodation Officer and students - Northampton 
University 

 Northamptonshire Federation of Residents’ Association 
 Secretary of Semilong Community Forum 
 Shelter 

• Desktop research identifying best practice elsewhere 
• Site visits to a variety of private letting accommodation within the 

borough 
 
5. Methods Used to Gather Information 
 

• Minutes of meetings 
• Desktop research 
• Site visits (if applicable) 
• Officer reports 
• Presentations 
• Examples of best practice 
• Witness Evidence:- 
 

 Key witnesses  as detailed in section 4 of this scope 
 
6. Co-Options to the Review  
 

• None specifically identified for this Review 
 
 
 

86



 3 

 
7   Equality Impact Screening Assessment  
 

• An Equality Impact Screening Assessment to be undertaken on the 
scope of the Review 

 
8   Evidence gathering Timetable  
 

July 2013 to April 2014 
 

•   8 July 2013             - Scoping meeting 
• 18 September           - Evidence gathering 
• 17 October                - Evidence gathering 
•  4 December             - Evidence gathering 
• 23 January 2014       - Evidence gathering 
• 13 February              -  Evidence gathering 
• 30 April                     -  Approval final report 

 
 

 
 

Meetings to commence at 6.00 pm 
 
Various site visits will be programmed during this period. 

 
9.   Responsible Officers 
 
Lead Officers  Lesley Wearing, Director of Housing and Fran Rodgers, 

Head of Strategic Housing 
                                 
Co-ordinator  Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer 
 
10.    Resources and Budgets 
 
Lesley Wearing, Director of Housing, and Fran Rodgers, Head of Strategic 
Housing, to provide internal advice. 
  
11.       Final report presented by: 
 
Completed by 30 April 2014.  Presented by the Chair of the Panel to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and then to Cabinet. 
 
12.   Monitoring procedure: 
 
Review the impact of the report after six months (approximately December 
2014/January 2015)  

87



 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY  
 

18TH November 2013 
 

PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING 
 

Sarah Farrow – Strategy & Performance Team 
Leader 

 

    Appendix B 

88



SETTING THE SCENE 
 
• There were 88,731 households in Northampton as at 

March 2011 (Census night) 
• Of these 15,817 or almost 18% privately rented their 

home  
• This represents an increase of  150.6 % in the size of the 

sector since 2001 ( up from 6,311 or 7.8%)  
• Now bigger than the social rented sector 

 
 

89



SETTING THE SCENE 
 
• CLG figures show Northampton residents need to 

borrow at least 6.27 times what they earn to purchase a 
property 

• In the last 6 years there has been over a 61% reduction 
in affordable housing delivery – a two thirds decrease 

• 44,000 (21%) of Northampton residents live in areas 
considered to be in the top 20% of the most deprived 
areas in the country 

90



SETTING THE SCENE 
 
• Changes to our Allocations Policy have removed 7,200 

households from the Housing Register - now stands at 
just under 3000  

• The current annual turnover for council owned homes is 
10%  

• Homeless applications and acceptances are increasing 
 
 
 

91



SETTING THE SCENE 
 
• The majority of people housed in the private rented 

sector are employed (81%)  
• 60% of privately renting households consist of only 1 or 

2 people 
• Over half (54%) are people under 35 

92



SETTING THE SCENE 
 

 
Property type Average market 

rent 
Average RP 

(Housing 
Association) rent 

Average NBC rent LHA cap (April 
2013) p.c.m 

Shared/bed-sit 
£350 £0 £230.12 £265.72 

1 bed flat £475 £ 284.10 £253.04 £425.00 

2 bed flat £550 £ 322.70 £285.24 £536.55 

2 bed house 
£540 £ 320.10 £299.76 £536.55 

3 bed flat £575 £ 367.30 £323.44 £599.90 

3 bed house 
£650 £ 420.00 £329.76 £599.90 

4 bed house 
£895 £525.00 £363.27 £794.90 

93



SETTING THE SCENE 
• 45% of private rented properties are old (pre-1919) 
• The proportion of terraced houses has increased to 50% 
• There are now less flats or maisonettes (29%) 
• Studios, shared or one bed properties have increased 

from 39% to 47% of the market 
• Two bed properties have declined to under a third 

94



SETTING THE SCENE 
• 32% of private sector homes in Northampton do not 

meet the Government’s Decent Homes standard 
 

• 24% of dwellings that exhibit category 1 hazards 
 

• 20% of very energy-inefficient homes are privately 
rented  
 

95



EXISTING FUNCTIONS (Private Sector) 
 

• Rent deposit scheme 
• HMO licensing  
• Advice and support to landlords and 

tenants 
• Regulation and enforcement 

 
 
 

 

96



FUNCTIONS NOT UNDERTAKEN 
 
• Direct landlord accreditation 
• Accreditation of student accommodation 
• Selective licensing of private rented sector 
• Additional licensing of HMOs 
 
 

 

97



DEVELOPMENTS 
 
• Localism Act 2011- Reform of homelessness 
• National Housing Strategy 2011 
• Welfare Reform Act 2011  
• £1.9m Empty Homes funding 
• Article 4 (Houses in Multiple Occupation) 
• Energy Act 2011 
• Corporate Plan 2012-2015 

 
 

98



HOUSING STRATEGY OBJECTIVES 
 

• Providing support and advice to landlords, tenants and 
private owners 

• Regulation of Houses in Multiple Occupation  
• Potential for licensing in the private sector 
• Ensure decent homes in the private sector 
• Improve energy efficiency in private sector 
• Bring empty homes back into use 
• Improve access to private rented sector 

99



How? 
• Revised package of advice and guidance to tenants and 

landlords  
• Explore external funding opportunities to secure grants for 

landlords and homeowners  
• Introduce an additional licensing scheme for smaller HMOs 
• Introduce a Northampton specific Landlord Accreditation 

Scheme 
• Develop and implement a Social Lettings Agency 

 

100



How? 
• Undertake enforcement action on breaches of minimum 

standards 
 

• Encourage landlords to improve properties to EPC Rating E 
 

• Secure external funding for energy saving measures  
 

• Bring 105 Empty Homes back into use 
 

• Explore the possibility of extending the rent deposit scheme 
 

• Offer homeless applicants accommodation in the private rented 
sector with a minimum 12 month fixed term tenancy 
 

101



 
 

THANK YOU 
 

ANY QUESTIONS? 

102



1 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 

Appendix C 

SCRUTINY PANEL 2 –  MANAGEMENT AND REGULATION OF 
PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING (INCLUDING HIMOs) 

 CORE QUESTIONS  –  EXPERT ADVISORS 

 

The Scrutiny Panel is currently undertaking a Review investigating the regulation and 
management of private lettings, both by landlords and agencies. 
 

The expected outcomes of this Scrutiny Review are: 

• To agree the priorities for private sector housing towards achieving high 
quality, affordable private sector lettings 

• To ensure that private lettings make a positive contribution to neighbourhoods 
• To consider the options for licensing and make recommendations to Cabinet 
• To consider the legislative options available to the Council and make 

recommendations to Cabinet 
• To produce a best practice guide  for Northampton’s  private sector landlords 

 
 
QUESTIONS: 
 

A series of key questions have been put together to inform the Panel’s evidence 
base:  

     1 How can it be ensured that private let properties do not impact adversely on 
neighbourhoods, please provide examples. 

 

2   What are your views regarding a Landlord Accreditation Scheme and should 
landlords be offered incentives to join such a scheme and become 
accredited? 

103



2 

 

 

3 There are a number of options for licensing of private sector lettings, including 
HIMOS, available to the Council; in your opinion which of these should be 
introduced in Northampton and why. 

 

4 Do you feel a best practice guide for Northampton’s private sector landlords 
would be useful tool, if so, please supply headlines of what this document 
should include. 

 

5 How well do you consider the Student Housing provision in Northampton is 
working?  

 

6 How well do you think the licensing of HIMOs and the Council’s other work to 
engage with landlords is operating? 

 

7 What is your overall perception of private rentals in Northampton? 

 

8 Do you have any areas of concern regarding private sector lettings, including 
HIMOs, that you would like to inform the Scrutiny Panel of? 

104



 
 

 
 

Appendix D 
 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 2 –  
MANAGEMENT AND REGULATION OF PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING 

(INCLUDING HIMOs) 
 

 BRIEFING NOTE: DESKTOP RESEARCH  
 

LICENSING OPTIONS AND  
EXAMPLES OF BEST PRACTICE ELSEWHERE 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 At its inaugural scoping meeting, Scrutiny Panel 2 (Management and 

Regulation of Private Sector Housing, including HIMOs) agreed that it 
would receive details of the licensing of private sector rentals, external to 
Northampton, that have been noted as best practice.  Details of the 
licensing options available for private sector rentals have also been 
provided. 

 
LICENSING OPTIONS – PRIVATE SECTOR RENTALS 

 
1.2    There are several different types of licences: 

 
           MANDATORY HIMO LICENCE  
 
1.3 A Mandatory HIMO (house in multi occupation) Licence is for a landlord 

of a house in multiple occupation that is three or more storeys, shared by 
five or more people living in two or more households. 

 
          Article 4 Directions 

1.4 Article 4 Directions remove the right to carry out certain types of 
'permitted development'. If a landlord wants to carry out work that is 
covered by an Article 4 Direction, planning permission needs to be 
applied for.  

1.5  Where planning permission is granted, but the Local Authority has 
concerns that work done in the future under 'permitted development' may 
give rise to problems; the Local Authority may put a condition on the 105



 2 

planning permission.  Such conditions state that planning permission 
needs to be obtained for the types of work specified.  Conditions are often 
imposed: 

• on properties with small gardens, to prevent extensions or 
outbuildings taking up too much of the open area around a 
property;  

• to limit the conversion of integral garages, if there is concern 
that it would leave the property without adequate parking 
space;  

• Where there is concern that a new window in a particular 
wall could affect the privacy of a neighbour, if put in without 
planning permission. 

 
           DISCRETIONARY LICENSING SCHEMES 
 
1.6 Discretionary Licensing Schemes, permitted under the Housing Act 2004, 

aim to address poorly managed private rented properties. The Act gives 
Local Authorities the power to designate areas for additional houses of 
multi-occupancy (HIMOs) Licensing or Selective Licensing.  Additional 
Licensing can be introduced to tackle HIMOs being poorly managed, or 
that are overcrowded, where their conditions affect the environment 
and/or where tenants are causing anti-social behaviour. Selective 
licensing can be introduced where there is a low demand for housing 
and/or where there is a problem with anti- social behaviour, some of 
which is caused by private tenants living more securely in reasonable 
housing conditions.  Until March 2010, discretionary licensing schemes 
could only be set up with the approval of Communities and Local 
Government. From 1 April 2010, Schemes can be approved by Local 
Authorities.  It is reported that setting up Discretionary Licensing 
Schemes is resource intensive. 
 

1.7 Parts 2 and 3 of the Housing Act 2004 provide powers for Local 
Housing Authorities to designate areas, or the whole of the area of its 
district, as subject to discretionary licensing in respect of private rented 
accommodation. With regard to Part  2 designations,  the  Local 
Authority  must  consider  that  the  ineffective  management  of  a 
significant number of HIMOs is likely to give rise to problems for 
occupants or members of the public. With regard to Part 3 
designations, the Authority must consider that amongst other criteria, 
the area is experiencing significant problems caused by anti-social 
behaviour which the private sector landlords are failing to tackle. 

 
 
 
 
 

106



 3 

           ADDITIONAL LICENCE  
 

1.8 This Licence is required for landlords that operate a house of multiple 
occupation that is shared by three of more tenants living in two or more 
households. This excludes houses in multiple occupation that require a 
mandatory licence. 

            
           SELECTIVE LICENSING SCHEMES 
 
1.9 Section 80 of the Housing Act 2004 allows Local Authorities to apply for 

Selective Licensing. Selective Licensing gives Local Authorities the 
powers to licence privately rented accommodation in a prescribed area 
where it has low housing demand, or a serious problem with anti-social 
behaviour and that the problem is compounded by landlords who are not 
properly managing their properties. 
 

1.10 Section 80(4) of the Act requires the Authority to consider the following 
factors when judging  if and area is subject to low housing demand: 
 

• The value of residential premises in the area, in comparison to the 
value of similar premises in other areas which the Authority 
considers to be comparable (whether in terms of types of housing, 
local amenities, availability of transport etc.) 

• The turnover of occupiers of residential premises 
• The number of residential premises which are available to buy or 

rent and the length of time for which they remain unoccupied. 
 

1.11 It is noted that before considering Selective Licensing, the Local Authority 
must consider whether there are alternative forms of action that it could 
take to deal with the relevant issues; and whether Selective Licensing 
would sort out those issues.  A set number of criteria must be met for a 
Local Authority to introduce a Selective Licensing Scheme. 
 
CRITERIA FOR THE APPLICATION OF SELECTIVE LICENSING 

 
1.12   Specific criteria must be met before an area can be proposed by a Local 

Housing Authority: 
 

• The area is one which is experiencing (or is likely to experience) 
low housing demand, or 

• That the area is experiencing a significant and persistent problem 
caused by anti-social behaviour and that some or all of the private 
sector landlords who have let premises in the area (whether under 
leases or licences) are failing to take action to combat the problem 
that it would be appropriate for them to take, and  

• That making a designation will, when combined with other 
measures taken in the area by the local housing authority, or by 

107



 4 

other persons together with the local housing authority, lead to a 
reduction in, or the elimination of, the problem.  

 
1.13  The Act (or related Regulations) does not include a definition of anti-social 

behaviour.  The Department of Communities and Local Government’s 
Guidance provides examples of what may be considered:  

 
• Crime: tenants not respecting the property in which they live and 

engaging in vandalism, criminal damage, burglary, robbery/theft 
and car crime. 

• Nuisance Neighbours: intimidation and harassment; noise, rowdy 
and nuisance behaviour; animal related problems; vehicle related 
nuisance. Tenants engaged in begging; anti-social drinking; street 
prostitution and kerb-crawling; street drugs market within the 
curtilage of the property. 

• Environmental Crime: tenants engaged in graffiti and fly-posting; 
fly-tipping; litter and waste; nuisance vehicles; drugs paraphernalia; 
fireworks misuse in and around the curtilage of their property 

 
           CONSULTATION OF THE APPLICATION  

 
1.14 The Local Authority must take reasonable steps to consult persons who 

are likely to be affected by the designation and consider any 
representatives made in accordance with the consultation. This includes 
local residents, tenants, landlords, managing agents and businesses in 
the local area that may be affected. 

 
    OPERATION OF THE LICENSING SCHEME  

 
1.15 The Scheme is for a five year period and must be reviewed at the end of 

that period. 
 
 LICENSING CONDITION  
 
1.16    There are mandatory conditions which must be included in the licence 

and these are as follows: 
 

• Present a gas safety certificate annually to the LHA, if gas is supplied 
to the house 

• Keep electrical appliances and furniture (supplied under the tenancy) 
in a safe condition 

• Keep smoke alarms in proper working order 
• Supply the occupier with a written statement of the terms of 

occupation 
• Demand references from persons wishing to occupy the house 

(selective licensing only).  
 

108



 5 

1.17 Local Authorities have discretion to set the defined conditions of the 
licence regarding anti-social behaviour and general management of the 
property. This can include conditions relating to the use and occupation of 
the house, and measures to deal with anti-social behaviour of the actual 
tenants or those visiting the property. However, the conditions imposed 
must relate to the residential use of the property – they cannot, for 
example, place responsibilities on landlords to act where, for example, 
tenants may be committing crimes unrelated to their occupation of the 
property. 

 
           SHELTER – GOOD PRACTICE GUIDE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES IN 

RESPECT OF SELECTIVE LICENSING 
 
1.18 The organisation, SHELTER, produced a Good Practice Guide for Local 

Authorities in respect of Selective Licensing in 2006. 
 

1.19 Included in the Guide are details regarding four Local Authorities that 
were invited by the Department of Communities and Local Government 
(CLG) to apply for selective licensing: 

 
• Manchester City Council 
• Salford City Council 
• Blackpool Council 
• Middlesborough Council 

 
1.20 SHELTER reports that if implemented effectively, Selective Licensing can 

increase the professionalism of the private rented sector by ensuring: 
 

• support for landlords to participate in regeneration 
and tackle antisocial behaviour effectively  

• protection for vulnerable tenants from the worst 
housing conditions and from bad landlords 

• strategic knowledge to support LAs in targeting 
health and safety inspections 

• support for landlords to improve the worst 
properties by helping them to achieve decent 
minimum standards in housing conditions and 
management. 

 
1.21 SHELTER further reports that successful Schemes may also increase the 

supply and choice of housing stock and reverse housing market decline in 
housing market renewal areas. 

 
 
 
 
 

109

http://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/57779/Selective_licensing_for_local_authorities.pdf
http://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/57779/Selective_licensing_for_local_authorities.pdf


 6 

     ACCREDITATION 
 
1.23 Accreditation and HIMO licensing are different but complement each 

other. Accreditation is a set of standards relating to the management and 
physical condition of privately rented accommodation. Landlords who join 
a scheme and who meet the standards are 'accredited'. Accreditation 
schemes are voluntary and there is no obligation on landlords to join. 

 
2      EXAMPLES OF RECOGNISED BEST PRACTICE   

2.1 The following Councils have been noted for their best practice licensing 
Private Sector lettings:  

• Nottingham City Council 
• London Borough of Newham 
• Oxford City Council 
• London Borough of Havering 
• Cambridge City Council 

2.2 Nottingham City Council 
 
             Nottingham Standard for Landlord Accreditation 

2.2.1 In February 2013, Nottingham City Council introduced the Nottingham 
Standard for Landlord Accreditation.  The Nottingham Standard for 
Landlord Accreditation is reported to be an accreditation mark that is 
unique to Nottingham that will establish an overarching minimum 
standard for privately rented accommodation across the city.  The 
purpose of the Nottingham Standard is to help tenants identify rentable 
properties that meet a minimum quality standard and it will recognise 
good landlords providing quality approved and well managed 
accommodation. 

2.2.2 Nottingham City Council reports that accredited landlords show a 
commitment to providing good quality, well managed accommodation. 

2.2.3      Other current accreditation schemes operate in Nottingham: 

• Decent and Safe Homes (DASH) Landlord Accreditation - 
which accredits all types of private rented sector landlords  

• Unipol Student Homes - which accredits only student 
landlords  

2.2.4 Landlords do not apply directly to the Nottingham Standard; all 
applications are managed through Nottingham City Council’s partner 
organisations - DASH and Unipol.  Once accreditation is achieved with 

110



 7 

that organisation, the landlord automatically qualifies for the 
Nottingham Standard and is able to use the accreditation mark and is 
included on a list of accredited landlords.   

2.2.5 Membership of the DASH Landlord Accreditation is free.  DASH 
Landlord Accreditation and Unipol Student Homes both provide a 
range of information, help and advice to accredited landlords.  

2.2.6 It is reported that the Nottingham Standard brings unity to accreditation 
in the city by incorporating both schemes under one certification mark. 
Landlords already accredited through DASH or Unipol are able to use 
the Nottingham Standard accreditation mark.    

 Register of Accredited Landlords 

2.2.7 A register of accredited landlords is being developed for the city.  
Tenants can check whether their landlord is accredited by calling the 
DASH contact at the City Council. 

2.2.8 The reported benefits of being an accredited landlord include being 
recognised as a good landlord offering well managed private sector 
accommodation that tenants will want to live in.  

2.2.9 All landlords that are members of the Nottingham Standard qualify for 
15% off the first year's membership of the Landlords National Property 
Group - a discount scheme for refurbishment costs.  It is reported that 
landlords who become new members of the DASH Accreditation under 
the Nottingham Standard will benefit from the following: 

• Free membership for the first 3 years  
• Free online training  
• Support from Nottingham City Council's Housing Benefit 

team  
• A range of support packages from Nottingham City Council 

Housing Aid for landlords who take citizens in housing need  

              Article 4 Direction 

2.2.10   Within the city of Nottingham there are two main types of Article 4 
Direction: 

• A city-wide Article 4 Direction restricting changes of use 
from a house to a 'House in Multiple Occupation'(HMO); and  

• Directions restricting work to specific properties. 
 
 
 

111



 8 

      Local Restrictions on “To Let” Advertisement Boards 

2.2.11       Nottingham City Council has defined nine areas of the city where “To 
Let boards” cannot be displayed on residential properties without its 
consent, unless landlords follow strict criteria. This has been 
introduced through a 'Regulation 7 Direction', which takes away the 
normal rights (known as 'Deemed Consent') to display such boards 
without permission. The Direction runs until 16 October 2017. 

 
2.2.12     The criteria of the Direction: 
 

1. The use of letting boards will be permitted from January 1st to 
September 30th (inclusive) and prohibited from October 1st to 
December 31st (inclusive). 
 

2. Only one board per building will be permitted. 
 

3. The board shall be mounted flush to the wall above the front door, 
or if that is not possible, it shall be mounted flush to the wall on the 
street frontage elevation. In either instance, no part of the board 
shall be higher than first-floor window sill level. 

 
4. Each board shall have a white background and will conform to the 

following layout: 34cm x 48cm or 48cm x 34cm. 
 

5. One company logo per board will be permitted providing that the 
logo does not exceed one third of the overall size of the 
advertising board. Logos and text will be permitted in black and 
any one colour provided it is a single uniform colour and that 
fluorescent colours are not used. 

 
6. Boards marked by “Let By”, “Let”, “More wanted” or similar wording 

are to be prohibited. 
 

7. One board shall be permitted per landlord/agent per street. 
However, if a landlord/agent wishes to advertise properties having 
different numbers of bedrooms, one board shall be permitted for 
each property with a different number of bedrooms, up to a 
maximum of three per street, as long as the number of bedrooms 
is specified on the board. 
 

8. Letting boards shall be removed not later than 14 days after the 
granting of a tenancy for the room, house or flat in question. Letting 
boards shall not be displayed other than in the calendar year for 
which the tenancy is available. 

 
2.2.13 The Council’s Enforcement Team undertakes regular surveys of the 

Direction Area and pursues prosecutions where appropriate. The 
Council can immediately bring a prosecution in the Magistrates Court. 

112



 9 

The maximum fine on conviction of an offence is presently £2,500, with 
an additional daily fine of one-tenth of the maximum penalty on 
conviction of a continuing offence. The Council will also take action to 
quickly remove and destroy letting boards that do not comply with the 
criteria.  Reasonable costs incurred in the removal may also be 
recovered.   

2.2.14  A Scheme of Additional Licensing of HIMOs and approval of HIMO 
Licence conditions and fees was approved by Nottingham’s Executive 
Board on 17 September 2013 and will come into force on 1 January 
2014.   

 
2.2.15    It is reported that the Scheme will introduce additional benefits: 

 
• An opportunity to effectively influence higher standards of 

HIMO accommodation and to ensure effective management 
through more extensive control 

• Contribute to protecting the health safety and well-being of 
tenants and communities 

• Contribute to the prevention and control of anti-social 
behaviour and neighbourhood improvement 

• Allow rogue landlords to be more easily identified and for 
action to be taken to respond to this behaviour 
 

2.2.16   It is stated that the introduction of additional licensing for HIMOs will 
bring around 3,202 HIMOs in Nottingham into a licensing framework 
over the five year licensing period; equating to approximately 640 per 
year.  The delivery of the licensing requirements mean an increase in 
required officer resources but administration of the licensing process 
and compliance work are recoverable through the licence fee. Legal 
costs are not recoverable through the licence fee. 
 

2.2.17   Officers will undertake the administration of the licensing process and 
visit the properties at the application stage to consider licensing 
matters.  Where issued, a licence will be subject to standard 
conditions, as well as property specific conditions. Within the licensing 
period, compliance checks will be undertaken. Where there is no 
application for licence, there is unsatisfactory management or it is 
necessary for statutory action to be taken, the enforcement principles 
moving from advice and request to prosecution will be followed unless 
risk is so great or there is a history of non-compliance and it is 
appropriate to move directly to enforcement. 

 
2.3   London Borough of Newham 
 
2.3.1 On 1 January 2013, the London Borough of Newham introduced a 

private rented property licensing scheme, its reported purpose being to 

113



 10 

eradicate crime and anti-social behaviour associated with the poor 
management of rental properties. The Local Authority works with  
the Metropolitan Police and other Agencies across London borough of 
Newham to identify unlicensed properties and carry out legal action.  

 
2.3.2     Two borough-wide designations were introduced that cover all private 

rented properties, using discretionary powers contained in the Housing 
Act 2004.  The two designations include an additional Licensing 
Scheme targeting landlords of all HIMOs occupied by three or more 
non related occupiers sharing facilities or amenities, and a Selective 
Licensing Scheme for all private landlords of other residential 
accommodation which fall outside the definition of HIMO. 

 
2.3.3 The reported reasons for the introduction of these designations are 

due to the area of the London Borough of Newham suffering from 
significant and persistent anti-social behaviour related to the private 
rented housing stock, together with poor tenancy and property 
management. 

 
2.3.4 All private sector landlords are required to register their properties in 

Newham. The Scheme was agreed by full Council in June 2012.   
 

2.3.6     Selective licensing came into operation in Little Ilford (an area in the 
London Borough of Newham) on 1 March 2010 within a pilot 
Neighbourhood Improvement Zone. The scheme ends on 28 February, 
2015, or earlier if the Council ends the Scheme. 
 

2.3.7 A Private Rental Licensing Guide for Landlords and Management 
Agents has been produced, key topics included in the Guide: 

 
• Details of the types of licences required 
• Definition of HIMO 
• The application process 
• Details regarding the length of the licence, fees etc. 
• A guide to completing the application form 
• A guide to licensing property standards 

   
2.3.8 The London Borough of Newham has introduced a Landlord 

Accreditation Scheme, the reported purpose of which are: 
 

• Work together to improve local housing conditions in the 
private sector and make Newham attractive for investors 

• Promote and reward responsible landlords 
• Encourage best practice amongst landlords in the private 

rented sector 
 

2.3.9 The Accreditation Scheme is run by the Local Authority in conjunction 
with the London Landlord Accreditation Scheme (LLAS).    The fee for 

114



 11 

landlords to become accredited is £155, reduced to £75, if the landlord 
is already accredited with the LLAS.  The fee includes the cost of LLAS 
development training.  Once the application form is submitted, the 
Authority carries out standard checks. These include checking for 
improprieties with:  

 
• Trading Standards  

• Housing Benefits  

• Council Tax  

• Private Sector Housing Group 

 The process is reported to take around two weeks. 

2.4      Oxford City Council 

Guide for Landlords 
 

2.4.1   Oxford City Council has produced a guide for Landlords of private sector 
properties, the contents of which include details around: 

• Issues to consider pre tenancy 
• Means of managing a property 
• Setting up a tenancy 
• Deposits 
• Rents 
• Housing benefit 
• Landlord and tenant responsibilities 
• Other housing options 
• Empty homes 
• Housing health and safety rating system 
• Safety checks 
• Energy efficiency 
• Accreditation 
• Useful contents 

           Information Newsletter for Landlords 

2.4.2 The Authority publishes newsletters for landlords, three of which were 
published in 2012.  The purpose of the newsletters is to keep landlords 
up to date with what the City Council is doing and any changes in 
legislation that may affect landlords. 

 

 

 

115

http://www.oxford.gov.uk/PageRender/decH/Landlords.htm


 12 

Accreditation Scheme 

2.4.3 Oxford City Council is proposing to introduce an Accreditation Scheme, 
the purpose of which is to improve the standard of private rented 
accommodation in the city. It is reported that the Scheme comprises an 
element of self-regulation and accordingly relies on a degree of goodwill 
and trust on the parts of Landlords, Letting Agents, tenants and the Local 
Authority.  The scheme applies to the private rented sector only and not 
to Local Authority owned or Housing Association properties where other 
Service Level Agreements apply. 

2.4.4 It is a requirement of the scheme that: 

(a)  the Landlord or Letting Agent is a 'Fit and Proper' person 

(b)  the physical condition of all the properties they own or manage 
meet minimum legal standards 

(c)  that management practices are fair and reasonable and meet 
the management code of practice requirements 

(d)  community relations are maintained, including waste 
management at the property 

(e)  the Council's Cleaner, Greener Agenda is complied with e.g. 
waste management at the property 

2.4.5 It is detailed that compliance with the scheme will ensure that: 

• Landlords, Letting Agents, tenants and local residents enjoy 
the benefits of good property conditions, competent 
management standards and considerate neighbourly 
behaviour;  

• Misunderstandings and disputes are reduced;  
• The Council's Cleaner, Greener agenda will be actively 

promoted;  
• Where problems do occur they are promptly resolved.  

            How the scheme operates 

2.4.6  On application, Landlords and Letting Agents: 

• Complete a form declaring their 'Fit and Proper' status;  
• Provide the Council with a list of properties they own;  
• Ensure that the necessary safety certificates are available. 

Letting Agents must agree that their records will be made 
available for inspection at any time by the Council;  

• Ensure that all their properties meet the requirements of the 
Scheme and are not in a condition that is liable to be 

116



 13 

hazardous to the health and safety of tenants, visitors or 
members of the community;  

• Ensure that the properties they own or manage have 
arrangements in place to comply with the Council's Cleaner, 
Greener requirements to manage their waste properly;  

• Provide access to properties for the Council to carry out 
random compliance checks.  

              Accredited Landlords and Letting Agents 

2.4.7 On receipt of an application for accredited status, the Council carries out 
a checking procedure to be satisfied, as far as is reasonably practicable, 
that the Landlord or Letting Agent is responsible, competent and suitable 
to be a member of the scheme.  Some random property condition and 
management compliance checks will be undertaken by the Council to 
maintain the reputation of the scheme. 

2.4.8 It is reported that for those signatories complying with the scheme, the 
Council provides significant reductions in HMO licence fees 

2.4.9 All accredited Landlords and Letting Agents are issued with a certificate 
and Letting Agents will also be provided with a sticker for their office 
window. 

2.5    London Borough of Havering 

 Private Sector Leasing Scheme 
 
2.5.1  The Private Sector Leasing Scheme is reported to have been highly 

successful in providing homes to meet an increasing demand for social 
housing. 

 
2.5.2 The London Borough of Havering leases the property for a fixed term and 

guarantees a monthly income depending on the property size and type.  
The property is then used to accommodate families and individuals in the 
borough.   

 
2.5.3 The reported benefits of leasing a property to the Authority include:  
  

• Free intensive property management  
• Guaranteeing you a monthly fee in advance even if your 

property becomes empty  
• Long leases  
• Carrying out some minor repairs free of charge  
• A tenant matching service  
• An inventory with digital photographs  
• A team of experienced Housing Officers. 

117



 14 

 
2.6       Cambridge City Council 
 
            Property Accredited Scheme 
 

2.6.1 Cambridge City Council introduced an Accreditation Scheme for landlords 
and letting agents who  can sign up to a Code of Standards to 
demonstrate that the properties they rent out are to such a standard that 
they are recognised as reputable landlords and agents.  It is reported that 
this has the added benefit that they are more likely to attract a higher 
calibre of tenant. 

2.6.2 Cambridge City Council advises that it works with residential landlords 
and gives them a stake in decisions that affect them, by: 

• offering landlords information that helps them to manage 
their properties better  

• arranging meetings or forums where landlords can 
exchange views with local authority officers  

• setting up voluntary accreditation schemes that recognise 
and reward landlords who manage their properties to a good 
standard  

2.6.3 The Scheme is free to join and is done so on a voluntary basis. There is 
no compulsion to join, but landlords and agents who do join may have 
access to various benefits such as: 

• 50% discount on the HIMO licence fee  
• priority access to grants  
• updates on legislation  
• free advertising on the accreditation website  
• the benefit of attracting good tenants  
• discounted insurance packages  
• the business advantage of advertising their accredited 

status to tenants who place emphasis on good quality and 
well managed accommodation.  

2.6.4 It is reported that the Cambridge Property Accreditation Scheme has 
proved successful with almost 500 properties accredited since 2007, and 
many more expected to join. 

2.6.5 Regular newsletters regarding the Accreditation Scheme are published 
on Authorities website. 

 

 

118



 15 

 

 Guide for Landlords 

2.6.6 Cambridge City Council has produced and published a Guide for 
Landlords.  The reported aim of the Guide is for the Local Authority to 
work with landlords, tenants and other Agencies to achieve safe, decent 
and affordable housing for all private rented sector tenants. 

2.6.7 The Guide addresses a number of issues, in particular the standards 
which are acceptable to the Council, to ensure the health, safety and well-
being of tenants living in houses of multiple occupation. It provides a 
general overview of the financial and legal aspects of letting. The Guide 
also includes telephone numbers and addresses of useful contacts, draft 
tenancy agreements and other useful documents such as notices to quit. 

2.6.8 In addition Cambridge City Council has produced a ten point guide for 
property owners considering renting out their property.  Key sections 
included in the guide: 

•      Speak to your mortgage lender 
•      Get references from potential tenants 
•      Prepare a formal agreement  
•      Deposits – properly protected 
•      Obtain an energy performance certificate 
•      Find out whether you need a property licence 
•      Get all your gas and electric appliances checked 
•       Minimise the risk from fire 
•       Ensure that your property presents no risks to your tenant’s 

health and safety 
•      Don’t find yourself in court when something goes wrong 

 
2.6.9 A Guide setting the standards for college properties is also published.  

The reported purpose of the Guide is to establish an agreed set of 
standards between the Council and educational establishments, in order 
to minimise the level of intervention by the Council. The document sets 
out advisory standards, which are acceptable to the Council, to ensure 
the health and safety and wellbeing of student occupiers. 

 

 

 

119

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/sites/www.cambridge.gov.uk/files/docs/LACORS%20guide%20to%20private%20renting.pdf


 16 

 

3           Conclusions 

3.1   The main conclusions from this desktop research exercise are: 
 
        Discretionary Licensing Schemes 
 
3.2 The implementation of Discretionary Licensing Schemes is reported to 

be resource intensive.  
 
3.3 From 1 April 2010, Discretionary Licensing Schemes can be approved 

by Local Authorities and do not require the approval of Communities and 
Local Government. 

 
3.4 Specific criteria must be met before an area can be proposed by the 

Local Housing Authority for Additional or Selective Licensing.  The 
Scheme is for a five year period and must be reviewed at the end of that 
period.  There are mandatory conditions that must be included in the 
Licence as detailed at paragraph 1.12 above, but Local Authorities may 
also set defined conditions in relation to anti-social behaviour and the 
general management of the property. 

 
3.5 Before considering Selective Licensing, the Local Authority must 

consider whether there are alternative forms of action that it could take 
to deal with the relevant issues; and whether Selective Licensing would 
sort out these issues. 

 
3.6 Accreditation Schemes are voluntary for Local Authorities to introduce or 

for .landlords to join. 
 
 Best Practice Examples 
 
 Nottingham City Council 
 
3.7 In February 2013 Nottingham City Council introduced the Nottingham 

Standard for Landlord Accreditation:  A register of Accredited Landlords 
is being developed.  Incentives are offered to landlords to join the 
Nottingham Standard Scheme.  Restrictions on “To Let” advertisement 
boards have been introduced in nine areas of the city. “To Let” boards 
cannot be displayed on residential properties without consent from the 
Authority unless strict criteria is adhered to.  A Scheme of Additional 
Licensing of HIMOs is scheduled come into force on 1 January 2014. 

 
 London Borough of Newham 
 
3.8 On 1 January 2013 the London Borough of Newham introduced a 

Discretionary Licensing Scheme in two borough wide designations for all 
120



 17 

private rented properties. The two designations include an Additional 
Licensing Scheme and a Selective Licensing Scheme.  A Landlord 
Accreditation Scheme has also been introduced. 

 
 Oxford City Council 
 
3.9 Oxford City Council is proposing to introduce an Accreditation Scheme, 

the purpose of which is to improve the standard of private rented 
accommodation in the city. A Guide for Landlords of private sector 
properties has been produced and regular newsletters for landlords are 
published on the Council’s website. 

 
            London Borough of Havering 
 
3.10    The London Borough of Havering has a private sector leasing scheme in 

operation which is reported to be very successful. 
 
 Cambridge City Council 
 
3.11 Cambridge City Council has introduced an Accreditation Scheme for 

landlords and letting agents. The Scheme is free to join and there are a 
variety of benefits available to those who do join the Scheme.  Since its 
introduction in 2007, almost 500 properties have become accredited.  A 
ten point guide for property owners considering renting out their property 
has been produced.  In addition, a Guide setting out the standards for 
college properties has been produced, which includes the agreed set of 
required standards. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Author: Tracy Tiff, Overview and Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Joy Capstick, Chair, 

Scrutiny Panel 2 – Management and Regulation of Private Sector Housing (Including 
HIMOs) 

 
 
   

121



 

 
 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

9 JUNE 2014 
 

BRIEFING NOTE: 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 1 – INTERPERSONAL VIOLENCE 
 
1  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee commissioned Scrutiny Panel 1 to 

undertake a Review regarding Northampton Borough Council’s response 

in addressing issues around interpersonal violence. 

 

1.2 Membership of the Scrutiny Panel comprises Councillor Jamie Lane 

(Chair); Councillors Sally Beardsworth, Brendan Glynane, Anna King, 

Danielle Stone and Subbarayan Sivaramen.  The Scrutiny Panel will elect a 

Deputy Chair at its next meeting on 21 July 2014. 

 

1.3 At the first meeting of the Scrutiny Panel, Councillors agreed the scope of 

the Review; a copy is attached at Appendix A, for the Committee’s 

approval. 

 

2         UPDATE 

 

2.1 The Panel agreed that the purpose of the Review should be : “To review 

Northampton Borough Council’s response in addressing issues around 

interpersonal violence (domestic abuse, sexual abuse and child 

exploitation), centring on domestic abuse”.  It was felt that interpersonal 

violence was too vast a topic for Scrutiny review of ten months to 

undertake and therefore agreed to centre on domestic abuse. 

 

2.2 In discussing the rationale for the Review, the Scrutiny Panel felt that the 

required outcomes should be: 

 

 To clearly identify existing domestic abuse services and partnerships 

covering Northampton 

 To consider and assess the roles and responsibilities of the various 
organisations involved in addressing domestic violence including the 
Police.  122

Agenda Item 12c



 2 

 To identify any gaps in service provision in order assess the adequacy for 

supporting victims of domestic abuse 

 To make recommendations for future development of services 

 To identify the underlying causes of domestic violence and preventative 

measures 

 To identify the responsibilities of the Local Authority, for example strategic 

housing 

 To identify funding mechanisms and how this could be used to alleviate 

the problem 

 

2.3     The schedule of meetings comprises:- 

 

    May 2014 to March 2015 

 

   19 May June 2014           - Scoping meeting 

   21 July 2014                     - Evidence gathering 

  18 September 2014          - Evidence gathering 

  23 October 2014               - Evidence gathering 

   4 December  2014           - Evidence gathering 

  22 January 2015               - Evidence gathering 

   5 March 2015                   - Approval final report 

 
 

 

2.4     Various site visits will be programmed in during this period. 

 

2.5      Meetings of the Scrutiny Panel will commence at 6.00 pm and be held in 

the Jeffery Room at the Guildhall. 

 

2.6     In accordance with the Scrutiny Panel Protocol, the Chair of this Scrutiny 

Panel will provide written progress reports to future meetings of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee for information. 

 

3 RECOMMENDATION 

 

3.1   That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee approves the scope of the 

Scrutiny Panel 1   – Interpersonal Violence, as attached at Appendix A. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Author: Tracy Tiff, Overview and Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Jamie Lane, Chair, 

Scrutiny Panel 1 – Interpersonal Violence 
 
 20 May 2014 

123



 1 

 
Appendix A 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 1  - INTERPERSONAL VIOLENCE 
 

1. Purpose/Objectives of the Review 

 

 To review Northampton Borough Council’s response in addressing 

issues around interpersonal violence (domestic abuse, sexual abuse 

and child exploitation), centring on domestic abuse 

 

2. Outcomes Required 

 

 To clearly identify existing domestic abuse services and partnerships 

covering Northampton 

 To consider and assess the roles and responsibilities of the various 
organisations involved in addressing domestic violence including the 
Police.  

 To identify any gaps in service provision in order assess the adequacy 

for supporting victims of domestic abuse 

 To make recommendations for future development of services 

 To identify the underlying causes of domestic violence and 

preventative measures 

 To identify the responsibilities of the Local Authority, for example 

strategic housing 

 To identify funding mechanisms and how this could be used to alleviate 

the problem 

 

3. Information Required  

 

 Background data   

 Background reports 

 Best practice data 

 Desktop research 

 Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

 Evidence from expert external witnesses 

 Site visits (if applicable) 

 

124



 2 

4. Format of Information  

 

 Background data, including: 

 

 Presentation to set the scene:  To identify the prevalence 

of the problem locally 

 Relevant national and local background research papers 

 

 Best practice external to Northampton 

 

 Internal expert advisors: 

 Leader of the Council, Northampton Borough Council 

(NBC) 

 Cabinet Member for Housing, NBC 

 Gateway Support Officer, Housing Solutions, NBC 

 Interim Head of Housing and Wellbeing, NBC 

 Chair of the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and 

the Community Safety Team 

 

 External expert advisors: 

 Head of Protecting Vulnerable Persons, 

Northamptonshire Police 

 Assistant Chief Executive, Women’s Aid 

 Project Officer, Sunflower Centre 

 Chief Executive, Relate 

 Chief Officer, Nene Valley Christian Refuge (NVCR) 

 Chief Officer, Rape and Crisis 

 Representation from the Northampton Women’s Forum 

 MPs for Northampton 

 Site visit to the Domestic Abuse Refuge, the Sunflower Centre 

and the Corby Sunflower Centre 

 Two members of the Scrutiny Panel to potentially observe a 

meeting of MARAC 

 The Scrutiny Panel to attend relevant conferences on Domestic 

Abuse 

 Examples of honour based abuse  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

125



 3 

5. Methods Used to Gather Information 

 

 Minutes of meetings 

 Desktop research 

 Site visits  

 Officer reports 

 Presentations 

 Examples of best practice 

 Witness Evidence:- 

 

 Key witnesses  as detailed in section 4 of this scope 

 

6. Co-Options to the Review  

 

Police Officer with responsibility for the Sunflower Centre to be approached to 

be co-opted to this Scrutiny review. 

 

7   Community Impact Screening Assessment  

 

 A Community Impact Screening Assessment to be undertaken on the 

scope of the Review 

 

8   Evidence gathering Timetable  

 

May 2014 – March 2015 

 

 19 May 2014                       - Scoping meeting 

 21 July                                - Evidence gathering 

 18 September                     - Evidence gathering 

 23 October                         - Evidence gathering 

  4 December                      - Evidence gathering 

 22 January 2015                - Evidence gathering 

   5 March                            - Approval final report 

 
 

Various site visits will be programmed during this period, if required. 

 

Meetings to commence at 6.00 pm 

 

 

 

126



 4 

9.   Responsible Officers 

 

Lead Officers  Julie Seddon, Director of Customers and Communities 

Co-ordinator  Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer 

 

10.    Resources and Budgets 

 

Julie Seddon, Director of Customers and Communities, to provide internal 

advice. 

 

11. Final report presented by: 

 

Completed by March 2015.  Presented by the Chair of the Panel to the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee and then to Cabinet. 

 

12. Monitoring procedure: 

 

Review the impact of the report after six months (December 2015/January 

2016 )  

127



 

 
 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

9 JUNE 2014 
 

BRIEFING NOTE: 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 2 – POVERTY IN THE TOWN 
 
1  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee commissioned Scrutiny Panel 2 to 

undertake a review regarding Poverty in the Town. 

 

1.2 Membership of the Scrutiny Panel comprises Councillor Elizabeth Gowen 

(Chair); Councillor Brian Sargeant (Deputy Chair); Councillors Brendan 

Glynane, Christopher Malpas, Lee Mason, Beverley Mennell and Dennis 

Meredith. 

1.2 The Scrutiny Panel elected Councillor Brian Sargeant as Deputy Chair of 

Panel. 

1.3 At the first meeting of the Scrutiny Panel, Councillors agreed the scope of 

the review; a copy is attached at Appendix A, for the Committee’s 

approval. 

 

2         UPDATE 

 

2.1 In discussing the rationale for the review, the Scrutiny Panel felt that the 

required objectives and outcomes should be: 

           

          Objectives 

“To review poverty in the town to ascertain whether it is a serious issue: 

 

Is it growing and more generally what are the trends (including 

migration) 

What can public services do in this time of austerity? 

What can other groups/individuals do to help? 

What the impact is, if any, is there on the economy, crime, health 

and education” 

 

 

 128

Agenda Item 12d



 2 

Outcomes Required 

 

 To make informed recommendations to all relevant parties on the 

most appropriate approaches to take to address the causes and 

mitigate the impact of poverty in Northampton 

 

2.2 The Panel agreed that a local academic and the Chair of the relevant 

Scrutiny Committee, Northamptonshire County Council, be approached 

suggesting that they are co-opted to this Scrutiny Review. 

 

2.3     The schedule of meetings comprises:- 

 

    May 2014 to March 2015 

 

    12 May 2014                       - Scoping meeting 

    23 July 2014                       - Evidence gathering 

   11 September 2014             - Evidence gathering 

   19 November 2014             - Evidence gathering 

     8 January 2015                 - Evidence gathering 

   12 February 2015               - Evidence gathering 

   11 March 2015                   - Approval final report 

 
 

2.4     Various site visits will be programmed in during this period, if required. 

 

2.5      Meetings of the Scrutiny Panel will commence at 6.00 pm and be held in 

the Jeffery Room at the Guildhall. 

 

2.6     In accordance with the Scrutiny Panel Protocol, the Chair of this Scrutiny 

Panel will provide written progress reports to future meetings of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee for information. 

 

3 RECOMMENDATION 

 

3.1   That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee approves the scope of the 

Scrutiny Panel 2 – Poverty in the Town, as attached at Appendix A. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Author: Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Elizabeth Gowen, Chair, Scrutiny Panel 

2 – Poverty in the Town 
 
 13 May 2014 

129



 1 

 
Appendix A 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 1  - POVERTY IN THE TOWN 
 

1. Purpose/Objectives of the Review 

 

 To review poverty in the town to ascertain whether it is a serious issue: 

 

 Whether it growing and more generally what are the 

trends (including migration)  

 What are the causes of poverty locally? 

 What can public services do in this time of austerity? 

 What can other groups/individuals do to help? 

 What the impact is, if any, is there on the economy, 

crime, health and education 

 

2. Outcomes Required 

 

 To make informed recommendations to all relevant parties on the most 

appropriate approaches to take to address the causes and mitigate the 

impact of poverty in Northampton 

 
3. Information Required  

 

 Background data   

 Background reports 

 Best practice data 

 Desktop research 

 Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

 Evidence from expert external witnesses 

 Site visits (if applicable) 

 

 

 

 

 

130



 2 

4. Format of Information  

 

 Background data, including: 

 

 Presentation to set the scene:  To identify the prevalence 

of the problem locally 

 Relevant national background research papers, such as 

poverty and welfare strategies 

 Relevant findings from the Scrutiny Review:  Impact of the 

Welfare Reform Act  

 Relevant Legislation 

 Relevant data, including relevant data such as payroll 
information, poverty indicators, activity costs, employment 
trends, demographics (national and local) 

 Best practice and successful initiatives in Northampton and 

comparable Local Authorities 

 Witness Evidence: 

 Internal 

 Cabinet Member for Housing, Northampton Borough 

Council (NBC) 

 Cabinet Member for Finance, NBC 

 Head of Revenues and Benefits, LGSS 

 Chair, Community Safety Partnership (CSP) 

 Director of Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning, NBC 

  External 

 Community Law 

 Northampton and District Citizens Advice Bureau 

 Living Wage Foundation 

 Joseph Rowntree Foundation 

 Community and Voluntary Sector 

 Northampton Chamber of Commerce 

 Public Health 

 Education Services, Northamptonshire County Council 

(NCC) 

 Children’s Services, NCC 

 Child Poverty Action Group 

 Church Action on Poverty 

 Inter Faith Forum 

 Community Groups such as Blackthorn Good Neighbours 

 An academic who has undertaken research into poverty 

locally 

 

 

131



 3 

5. Methods Used to Gather Information 

 

 Minutes of meetings 

 Desktop research 

 Site visits  

 Officer reports 

 Presentations 

 Examples of best practice 

 Witness Evidence:- 

 Key witnesses  as detailed in section 4 of this scope 

 

6. Co-Options to the Review  

 

A local academic and the Chair of the relevant Scrutiny Committee, 

Northamptonshire County Council, to be approached to be co-opted to this 

review 

 

7   Community Impact Screening Assessment  

 

 A Community Impact Screening Assessment to be undertaken on the 

scope of the review 

 

8   Evidence gathering Timetable  

 

May 2014 – March 2015 

 

 12 May 2014                       - Scoping meeting 

 23 July                                - Evidence gathering 

 11 September                     - Evidence gathering 

 19 November                     - Evidence gathering 

   8 January 2015                - Evidence gathering 

 12 February                       - Evidence gathering 

 11 March                            - Approval final report 

 
 

Various site visits will be programmed during this period, if required. 

 

Meetings to commence at 6.00 pm 

 

 

 

132



 4 

9.   Responsible Officers 

 

Lead Officer  David Kennedy, Chief Executive 

                                 

Co-ordinator  Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer 

 

10.    Resources and Budgets 

 

David Kennedy, Chief Executive, to provide internal advice. 

 

11. Final report presented by: 

 

Completed by March 2015.  Presented by the Chair of the Panel to the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee and then to Cabinet. 

 

12. Monitoring procedure: 

 

Review the impact of the report after six months (December 2015/January 

2016 )  

133



 

 
 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

9 JUNE 2014 
 

BRIEFING NOTE: 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 3 – KEEP NORTHAMPTON TIDY 
 
1  INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee commissioned Scrutiny Panel 3 to 

undertake a Review regarding Keeping Northampton Tidy, the rationale 

being: 

 

 To undertake a review regarding implementing a 'Keep 

Northampton Tidy' campaign with an accent on preserving wildlife 

and encouraging children (and adults) to take an interest in their 

surroundings, to  include Community Clean Ups and 'Northampton 

in Bloom.' 

 

 A review of the problem of littering and fly-tipping, particularly in 

un-adopted roads and the gateways into the town. 

 

1.2 Membership of the Scrutiny Panel comprises Councillor Tony Ansell 

(Chair); Councillor Sivaramen Subbarayan (Deputy Chair);  Councillors 

Penny Flavell, Mick Ford, Phil Larratt, Matt Lynch, Dennis Meredith and 

Winston Strachan. 

1.3 At the inaugural meeting of the Scrutiny Panel, Councillors agreed the 

scope of the Review; a copy is attached at Appendix A, for the 

Committee’s approval. 

 

2         UPDATE 

 

2.1 The Panel agreed that the purpose of the Review should be revised:  

 

 To undertake a review regarding implementing a 'Keep 

Northampton Tidy' campaign with an accent on preserving wildlife 

and encouraging children (and adults) to take an interest in their 

surroundings, to  include Community Clean Ups and 'Northampton 

in Bloom.' 
134

Agenda Item 12e



 2 

 A review of the problem of littering and fly-tipping, particularly in 

un-adopted roads and the gateways into the town. 

 To explore opportunities to enhance the gateways into the town. 

  

2.2 The Panel agreed that the Northampton Waste Partnership Executive 

Officer be approached suggesting that they are co-opted to this Scrutiny 

Review. 

      

2.3 In discussing the rationale for the Review, the Scrutiny Panel felt that the 

required outcomes should be: 

 

 To substantially raise people’s awareness and appreciation of 

keeping Northampton tidy and their role in this 

 To continue to get community groups involved in keeping 

Northampton tidy 

 To ensure that existing limited resources are utilised fully to raising 

people’s awareness and appreciation of  keeping Northampton tidy 

and their role in this 

 To identify areas that have a detrimental effect on the image of the 

town 

 To work with other Agencies to minimise fly-tipping and littering 

and discourage this taking place, as well as enhancing the 

gateways into the town 

 

2.4     The schedule of meetings comprises:- 

 

    May 2014 to March 2015 

 

    1 May 2014                       - Scoping meeting 

   24 July 2014                      - Evidence gathering 

   17 September 2014          - Evidence gathering 

   16 October 2014               - Evidence gathering 

   26 November 2014           - Evidence gathering 

   15 January 2015               - Evidence gathering 

   9 March 2015                   - Approval final report 

 
 

2.5     Various site visits will be programmed in during this period. 

 

2.6      Meetings of the Scrutiny Panel will commence at 6.00 pm and be held in 

the Jeffery Room at the Guildhall. 

 

2.7     In accordance with the Scrutiny Panel Protocol, the Chair of this Scrutiny 

Panel will provide written progress reports to future meetings of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee for information. 

 

 

135



 3 

3 RECOMMENDATION 

 

3.1 That the purpose of the Review is updated:  

 

 To undertake a review regarding implementing a 'Keep 

Northampton Tidy' campaign with an accent on preserving wildlife 

and encouraging children (and adults) to take an interest in their 

surroundings, to  include Community Clean Ups and 'Northampton 

in Bloom.' 

 

 A review of the problem of littering and fly-tipping, particularly in 

un-adopted roads and the gateways into the town. 

 

 To explore opportunities to enhance the gateways into the town. 

 

3.2   That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee approves the scope of the 

Scrutiny Panel 1   – Improving the town’s parks, as attached at Appendix 

A. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Author: Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, on behalf of Councillor Tony Ansell, Chair, Scrutiny Panel 3 –
Keep Northampton Tidy 

 
 2 May 2014 

136



 1 

 
Appendix A 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL 3 -KEEP NORTHAMPTON TIDY 
 

1. Purpose/Objectives of the Review 

 

 To undertake a review regarding implementing a 'Keep Northampton 

Tidy' campaign with an accent on preserving wildlife and encouraging 

children (and adults) to take an interest in their surroundings, to  

include Community Clean Ups and 'Northampton in Bloom.' 

 

 A review of the problem of littering and fly-tipping, particularly in un-

adopted roads and the gateways into the town. 

 

 To explore opportunities to enhance the gateways into the town. 

 

2. Outcomes Required 

 

 To substantially raise people’s awareness and appreciation of keeping 

Northampton tidy and their role in this 

 To continue to get community groups involved in keeping Northampton 

tidy 

 To ensure that existing limited resources are utilised fully to raising 

people’s awareness and appreciation of  keeping Northampton tidy and 

their role in this 

 To identify areas that have a detrimental effect on the image of the 

town 

 To work with other Agencies to minimise fly-tipping and littering and 

discourage this taking place, as well as enhancing the gateways into 

the town 

 

 

 

 

 

 

137



 2 

3. Information Required  

 

 Background data   such as: 

The National Fly-Tipping Prevention Group – Fly-tipping 

Framework: A National Framework for England for tackling 

fly-tipping 

Relevant Planning and Environmental Legislation 

Performance data and statistics regarding fly-tipping 

 Relevant background reports 

 Best practice data, such as Local Authorities and campaigns 

elsewhere 

 Desktop research 

 Evidence from expert internal witnesses: 

 Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Planning and Enterprise 

 Director for Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning 

 Cabinet Member for Community Engagement 

 Cabinet Member for Environmental Services 

 Corporate Communications Unit, NBC 

 Neighbourhood Wardens and Environmental Health 

Manager, NBC 

 Evidence from expert external witnesses 

 Enterprise Management Services 

 Northampton BID 

 Relevant National organisations, such as Keep Britain Tidy 

 Environment Agency 

 The Canal & River Trust 

 Highways Authority, NCC 

 Highways Agency 

 Network Rail 

 Northants Police 

 Parish Councils  

 Relevant Service Directors – Daventry District Council, South 

Northants and Wellingborough Council 

 Site visits to the gateways to the town 

 

4. Format of Information  

 

 Background data 

 Background reports and presentation 

 Best practice data 

 Desktop research 

 Evidence from expert external witnesses 

138



 3 

 Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

 Site visits 

 

5. Methods Used to Gather Information 

 

 Minutes of meetings 

 Desktop research 

 Site visits  

 Officer reports 

 Statistical data 

 Presentations 

 Examples of best practice 

 Witness Evidence:- 

 

 Key witnesses  as detailed in section 3 of this scope 

 

6. Co-Options to the Review  

 

Northampton Waste Partnership Executive Officer to be approached to be co-

opted to this Review. 

 

7   Community Impact Screening Assessment  

 

 A Community Impact Screening Assessment to be undertaken on the 

scope of the Review 

 

8   Evidence gathering Timetable  
 

May 2014 – March 2015 

 

   1 May 2014                       - Scoping meeting 

 24 July                                - Evidence gathering 

 17 September                     - Evidence gathering 

 16 October                         - Evidence gathering 

 26 November                     - Evidence gathering 

 15 January 2015                - Evidence gathering 

   9 March                            - Approval final report 

 
 

Various site visits will be programmed during this period, if required. 
 

Meetings to commence at 6.00 pm 
 

139



 4 

9.   Responsible Officers 
 

Lead Officers  Julie Seddon, Director of Customers and Communities  
                                Steve Elsey, Head of Communities and Environment 
   
Co-ordinator  Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer 
 

10.    Resources and Budgets 

 
Julie Seddon, Director of Customers and Communities, and Steve Elsey, 

Head of Communities and Environment, to provide internal advice. 

 

11. Final report presented by: 

 

Completed by March 2015.  Presented by the Chair of the Panel to the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee and then to Cabinet. 

 

12. Monitoring procedure: 

 

Review the impact of the report after six months (December 2015/January 

2016 )  

140



 

 

 

 
Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2013/2014 
DRAFT 
 
 

141

Agenda Item 13



Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 2 

A Message from Councillor Jamie Lane, Chair, Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
This Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) Committee Annual Report gives a summary of the Committee’s 

activities over the past twelve months and maps out its plans for the forthcoming year. 

 

It has been another busy year for O&S with three comprehensive reviews being undertaken: 

 

 Improving the Town’s Parks 

Management and Regulation of Private Sector Housing (Including HIMOs) 

 Impact of the Welfare Reform Act 

 

One of the reviews benefitted from the assistance of four co-opted members, their knowledge and 

experience assisted the Scrutiny Panel in arriving at its conclusions and recommendations. Two of 

the reviews are due to complete their work in the spring and summer 2014. They will present their 

findings to Cabinet early in the Municipal year 2014/2015. 

 

A number of the suggestions put forward by the public influenced the O&S Work Programme for 

2013/2014.   I was delighted that over thirty suggestions for future scrutiny review were received this 

year.  Councillors carefully considered the suggestions at a workshop held in March 2014. 

 

The Committee scrutinised the Council’s budget proposals by delegating work to its Reporting and 

Monitoring Working Group who identified three budget proposals for the Committee to scrutinise in-

depth.   

 

The Committee has developed good working practices, procedures and protocols; a number of 

which have been used by other Local Authorities keen to reproduce our working practices. 

 

I am pleased to highlight that Overview and Scrutiny continues to become involved with decisions at 

an early stage, for example, scrutiny provided its input into the Nene Meadows Supplementary 

Planning Document.  

 

I would like to thank all those involved in Overview and Scrutiny over the past year.  The support of 

all those involved in reviews is required for a successful outcome. 

 

I do hope that you find this report informative and interesting. 

 

 
 

Councillor Jamie Lane              Chair, Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

142



Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 3 

Achievements 

 

How was this impact made during 2013-2014? 

 

The Scrutiny Panels carry out in-depth Scrutiny reviews, whilst the Overview and Scrutiny 

(O&S) Committee concentrates on strategic issues, including holding the Cabinet to 

account, performance management and scrutiny of crime and disorder.  This structure 

attracts increased public participation and the involvement of non-Executives in Scrutiny 

reviews. 

 

Key Example:   

 

Involvement of Non- Executives (not Scrutiny Members) in Overview and Scrutiny 

 

The O&S structure enables non-Executives, who are not members of the O&S Committee, 

to be fully involved in the O&S process. 

 

Key Example:  The Scrutiny Panel that looked at the town’s parks was made up of eight 

non-Executives, of which four were not O&S Councillors, demonstrating complete 

involvement of non-Executives in the O&S process.   

 

Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 

 

Key Example:  Crime and Disorder Scrutiny is an example of excellent working 

relationships between non-Executives and partners.   

 

In 2010 the scrutiny of crime and disorder was formalised, putting in place clear working 

arrangements between the Chair of the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and the 

Committee.  A bi-annual report from the CSP continues to inform the O&S Committee of 

work undertaken, and non-Executives decide if further review or scrutiny is required.  This 

report focuses on the levels of performance and whether crime has increased in the light of 

reduced resources, if so what measures have been taken to meet any shortfall in 

performance. 

 

“Community Safety continues to work closely with Overview & Scrutiny, feeding into 
their reviews, as and when required.  The recommendations and support provided 
through these reviews continues to add value to the work undertaken by the 
Community Safety team.” 
 

  Debbie Ferguson, 

Community Safety Partnership Manager 

 

The O&S Committee has looked at the transition from West Northamptonshire Development 

Corporation (WNDC) to Northampton Borough Council (NBC) and the ownership and 

location of outdoor lighting that is owned by NBC. 

 

143



Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 4 

Performance Management Scrutiny 

 

A new process enabling the Committee to identify key performance measures earlier on was 

introduced in 2013/14.   The Committee informs the Chair prior to a meeting of the O&S 

Committee of performance measures that it feels warrant future scrutiny. 

 

The scrutiny of specifically identified measures is included on the agenda of meetings of the 

O&S Committee. This results in measures being reviewed on an exception basis with 

relevant Cabinet Members being called to present information to the Committee. Cabinet 

Members are scrutinised on performance, the causes of underperformance and the 

corrective actions being taken. Active debate is undertaken and support and challenge is 

offered to the recommendations being made to deliver service improvements. 

 

Key example:  Performance management scrutiny of:- 

 

 ESC02  missed bins corrected within 24 hours of notification 

 ESC04 household waste recycled and composted 

 ESC07 Land and highways assessed falling below acceptable levels - graffiti 

 

Critical Friend to Cabinet 

 

Robust Pre-Decision Scrutiny 

 

The O&S structure enables regular, robust pre-decision scrutiny.  One in-depth pre-decision 

scrutiny activity was undertaken this year.   

 

Key example: Scrutiny input into the Nene Meadows Planning Supplementary document. 

 

The O&S Committee considered the Nene Meadows Planning Supplementary document, at 

a specially convened meeting on 10 February 2014, in order that its comments could be 

considered prior to the report being above by Cabinet. 

 

Information obtained from the followings sources formed the main body of evidence gathered 

by the Committee: 

 

 Comprehensive presentation detailing the Nene Meadows Supplementary  

Planning document 

 Planning Policy Team Leader 

 Planning Policy and Conservation Manager    

 

This pre-decision scrutiny activity demonstrates non-Executives providing input into the 

decision making at an early stage. 

 

144



Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 5 

Call-In 

 

At Northampton call-in is used sparingly. During 2013/2014 there was one call-in hearing 

which demonstrates that the decision making process is transparent and open to challenge. 

 

Influencing Policy Development 

 

Three in-depth Scrutiny reviews were undertaken during 2013/2014.  The final reports of two 

of these will be presented to Cabinet early in the Municipal year 2014/2015. 

 

Review work of 2012/2013 has received Cabinet’s response.  100% of the 

recommendations were accepted, which highlights that Overview and Scrutiny is continuing 

to make significant influence of Council policy, both in terms of holding the Cabinet to 

account and contributing to policy development, and the well-being of the citizens of 

Northampton. 

 

Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) Good Scrutiny Awards 2013 

 

Overview and Scrutiny at Northampton was shortlisted for an award as part of the Centre for 
Public Scrutiny’s (CfPS) Good Scrutiny Awards 2013 under the category transforming 
services for its review - Managing Community Centres. 
 
The judges said: 
 
               “this work, which facilitated the transfer of a large number of community facilities 

from council to community control, demonstrated the contribution that scrutiny can 
make to implementing a key government policy around community asset transfer 
successfully at local level.” 

  
A short video about this review was shown at the Awards Ceremony.   

 

Overview and Scrutiny Excellence Plan (2013-2015) 

 

An evaluation of the Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) function at Northampton was carried out 
in 2012 using the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS)’s framework “Accountability Works for 
You”. 
 
As a result of the evaluation, an Excellence Plan for O&S was produced and published.  
This document highlights a number of the processes and procedures that O&S at 
Northampton follows. 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Excellence Plan (2013-2015) is used to:  

 

 Encourage involvement in the process of those being scrutinised 

 Communicate the potential of Scrutiny to local communities 

 Build confidence of those undertaking Scrutiny activities 

145

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aDDMYsqHA0Y&feature=youtu.be
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/100004/your_council_elections_meetings_and_members/464/overview_and_scrutiny/12


Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 6 

The Excellence Plan has attracted interest and compliments from various external Scrutiny 

peers. 

 

Raising the profile of Overview and Scrutiny at Northampton 

 

The profile of O&S has continued to be raised with a number of important and successful 

reviews carried out during 2013/2014. O&S is keen to keep this up and invites suggestions 

for the work programme from various partners, agencies and members of the public. 

 

The Scrutiny review process at Northampton is widely recognised both within the Council 

and amongst the citizens of Northampton.  

 

The O&S Work Programme received extensive press coverage, locally, which twenty six 

individuals responded to, suggesting over thirty ideas for future Scrutiny review. 
 

Paperless Innovation  

 

The purpose of the innovation was to implement paperless Committees, using O&S as a 

pilot. Advancement of technology provides a real opportunity to protect the environment by 

utilising ICT to its full capacity and reducing the quantity of printed material. 

 

The paperless innovation created benefits such as financial savings; highlighted the Council 

as modern, forward thinking and being environmentally responsible. 

 

The pilot operated successfully and the O&S Committee and its three Scrutiny Panels 

agreed to continue to operate paperless. 

 

As reported in last year’s annual report, the innovation attracted national interest.  External 

Interest in the innovation has continued this year, with a number of enquiries regarding the 

success of the innovation. 

 

Public engagement within the Overview and Scrutiny process at Northampton 

 

O&S has included various issues referred to it from the public onto its Work Programmes. 

The details below provide key points of how O&S work has reflected the concerns of service 

users. 

 

Key Example of review work:  Improving the Town’s Parks 

 

The purpose of the review was to improve community engagement within the town’s parks. 

 

Following approval of its work programme for 2013/2014, the O&S Committee agreed to 

include a review of the town’s parks in its work for 2013/2014.  The O&S Committee 

146



Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 7 

commissioned Scrutiny Panel 1 to undertake the review.  A short, sharp review commenced 

in June 2013, concluding in November 2013. 

 

A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising eight Councillors and four co-opted members, 

who represented various Friends of Parks Groups.  

 

This review attracted thirteen public attendees over various meetings of the Scrutiny Panel, 

a number of which addressed a meeting. 

 

Recommendations of the Scrutiny Panel were around the themes: 

 

 Communications 

 Observations – the town’s parks 

 Key facilities in the town’s parks 

 Additional facilities in the town’s parks 

 Role of Park Management Committees 

 Membership of Park Management Committees 

A short sharp review took place between June and November 2013. A series of 

interviews with a number of expert advisors were held and a variety of community 

groups and organisations provided written information to inform the review. 

Representatives from the Panel attended various meetings of the Northampton Forums 

and received their responses to the core questions. The Scrutiny Panel undertook a 

number of site visits to various parks around the town.  Desktop research was 

undertaken by the Scrutiny Officer, the findings of which informed the review. 

A great interest was shown by a large number of the public, organisations and forums. 

Councillor Elizabeth Gowen 

Chair, Scrutiny Panel 1 - Improving the Town’s Parks 

 

Being the only co-optee on the Scrutiny Panel from a park not situated in the town 

centre, and not considered to be a premier park it was very interesting to hear the 

problems that these parks experience. All the parks are diverse in character, 

environment, and use, but contrary to my previous view, the problems were much the 

same as experienced by my local parks. The site visits made to both formal parks and 

those with a more natural environment, were very informative, and gave the opportunity 

for members of the panel to highlight and discuss what they considered to be the 

strengths and weaknesses of each area. This and the answers to the core questions 

sent to many local organisations gave a clear picture of the problems that the users of 

the parks experienced.  Some were known to me, others were ones I had not even 

considered. There was the opportunity to exchange ideas which I found most useful, 

and the whole experience will hopefully  benefit all the wonderful green spaces in 

147



Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 8 

Northampton, but especially, as an out of town park containing a Scheduled Monument 

,raise the profile of my local parks and out of town parks in general.    

 

Mavis Wilmshurst 

Chair, West Hunsbury Parks 

Co- Optee – Scrutiny Panel 1 – Improving the Town’s Parks 

 

Co-Opted Members 

 

The Scrutiny process benefitted from the expertise and knowledge of four co-opted 

Members to reviews this year. 

 

On being invited as a co-optee to the Scrutiny Panel for Northampton’s Parks I found a 

door opened that for a lay person is a rare privilege. Not only to understand the 

workings and decision process of NBC, but to express views and feelings that 

represented of the Friends of the Racecourse and other friends groups. The discussions 

and site visits showed the diversity of ideas which not only helped to build the final 

report but to take back to the Friends of Northampton Racecourse (FONR) and 

complement and swell our discussions in the future. Overall an experience I would not 

have missed and would recommend to anyone. 

Alan Borrell 

Vice Chair, Friends of Northampton Racecourse (FONR) 

Co-Optee – Scrutiny Panel 1 – Improving the Town’s Parks 

 

Scrutiny Panels 

 

How has the work of the Scrutiny Panels made a difference to the Council and our 

residents? 

 

Recommendations from three Scrutiny reviews that were undertaken during 2012/2013 are 

being implemented and monitored by the O&S Committee. 

 

Serious Acquisitive Crime (SAC), Violent Crime and Community Safety 

 

This high profile Scrutiny review highlighted the need to: 

 

 To investigate, as a benchmark, Northampton's crime statistics in relation to serious 

acquisitive and violent crime 

 To identify `hotspots' in relation to serious acquisitive and violent crime 

 To identify the impact that serious acquisitive crime and violent crime has on the 

residents of Northampton 

 To identify the serious acquisitive crime and violent crime issues that Northampton 

Borough Council, in partnership with other Agencies, can have an impact upon 

 

148



Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 9 

Recommendations of the review were around the themes: 

 

 Housing 

 Planning/Regeneration 

 Partners and Agencies 

 Neighbourhood Wardens 

 Community Forums 

 Northants Probation Service 

 

Cabinet accepted all of the recommendations contained within the report and Overview and 

Scrutiny will monitor the implementation of its recommendations in September 2014. 

 

Retail Experience 

 

This was another high profile Scrutiny review that received a wealth of evidence from key 

agencies, partners and the general public. 

24 recommendations were included in the report. They were broadly focussed on the retail 

experience, cleansing and partnership working.   

 

Cabinet accepted all of the recommendations contained within the Overview and Scrutiny 

report and congratulated the Scrutiny Panel on its high quality, comprehensive report.   

Overview and Scrutiny will monitor the implementation of its recommendation in June 2014. 

 

Infrastructure Requirements and Section 106 Agreements 
 

This in-depth review focused on: 

 

 Identifying the infrastructure requirements to Northampton and the surrounding 
areas 

 Evaluating how the infrastructure will be delivered through Section 106 
Agreements/Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 Identifying any funding gaps and how these will be filled  

 Understanding the management of S106 funding 
 
The Scrutiny Panel formally informed Cabinet that it was satisfied that the infrastructure 

requirements are identified in the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Infrastructure 

Delivery Plan up to 2026. 

  

Recommendations of the review were around the themes: 

 

 Infrastructure requirements 

 Affordable housing 

 

149



Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 10 

Cabinet accepted the recommendations contained within the Overview and Scrutiny report 

and the Committee will monitor the implementation of the recommendations in the autumn 

2014. 

 

Review work 2013/2014 

 

Overview and Scrutiny at Northampton has undertaken some excellent review work again 

this year. 

 

The best practice Scrutiny review work has continued to be built upon.  Over the last year, 

Scrutiny reviews have attracted interest from both external organisations and the public. 

 

Overview and Scrutiny at Northampton continues to be Councillor-led and focuses on the 

major issues affecting the town.  It has therefore carried out some very high profile reviews 

this year, the impact of which will be reported in next year’s O&S Annual Report: 

 

Improving the Town’s Parks 

 

Please refer to page 6 for a precis of this review. 

 

Management and Regulation of Private Sector Housing (Including HIMOs) 

 

The purpose of this review was to investigate the regulation and management of private 
lettings, both by landlords and agencies. 

 

The O&S Committee, at its work programming event in March 2013, agreed to include a 

review of investigating the regulation and management of private lettings, both by landlords 

and agencies.  These were issues that had been identified by the Cabinet Member for 

Housing as one of her key priorities.  The O&S Committee commissioned Scrutiny Panel 2 

to undertake the review.   An in-depth review commenced in July 2013 and concluded in 

April 2014. 

The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be investigated and linked to 
the realisation of the Council’s corporate priorities: 
 

 Context of private sector housing market including: 

 Changes over the last ten years 

 Future trends 

 

 Baseline data: 

 Private Sector Housing Strategy 

 Existing legislation and options available to local Councils for 

additional legislation 

 Options for licensing of HIMOs 

150



Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 11 

 Empty Homes Programme 

 

 Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

 Evidence from expert external witnesses 

 Desktop research 

 Best practice data 

 

Recommendations were around the themes: 

 

 Licensing and Legislative options 

 Priorities for the Private Rental Sector 

 Best Practice Guide 

An in-depth review took place between July 2013 and the end of April 2014.   

The Scrutiny Panel held a number of interviews with the Cabinet Member (Housing), 
Senior Staff at Northampton Borough Council and external expert witnesses.  
Desktop research was carried out by the Scrutiny Officer. 
 
This was a very informative review; which received a wealth of evidence.  A lot of 
expert advisors gave up their time to attend a meeting of the Scrutiny Panel to 
provide information, advice and comprehensive written evidence. 
 
Councillor Joy Capstick 
Chair, Scrutiny Panel 2 – Management and Regulation of Private Sector 
Housing (Including HIMOs) 

 

Impact of the Welfare Reform Act 

 

The purpose of this review was to evaluate the effect of the Welfare Reform Act on the 

public and Council employees. 

 

The O&S Committee, at its work programming event in March 2013, agreed to include a 

Review of evaluating the effect of the Welfare Reform Act on the public and Council 

employees.  This was an issue that had been identified by the Cabinet Member for Finance 

as one of his key priorities for the year. It was also suggested by members of the public as a 

key issue for scrutiny review.  The O&S Committee commissioned Scrutiny Panel 1 to 

undertake the review.   An in-depth review commenced in January 2014 and will conclude in 

July 2014, reporting the findings to the O&S Committee in the autumn 2014. 

 

Looking ahead 

 

The Work Programme for 2014/2015 has been approved and the Scrutiny Panels will begin 

to scope the reviews shortly.  They will be looking at the following important topics: 

 

151



Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 12 

  Interpersonal Violence 

 Poverty in the town 

 Keep Northampton Tidy 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will look at: 

 

 Arms’ Length Management Organisation (ALMO) 

 The new bus terminal 

 

What are our Challenges for 2014-2015? 

 

 To build on O&S’s achievements as identified in the Overview and Scrutiny 

Excellence Plan (2013-2015).   

 

 To continue to ensure the O&S work programme reflects concerns of service 

users, community and public –  ensuring that a wide range of organisations, 

partners and the public  are consulted with for suggestions for scrutiny review and 

then on the actual work programme.    

 

 To ensure O&S is able to respond effectively to legislative requirements, such as 

the new powers, for example, wider powers to influence policy and public service 

delivery in their area – for example investigated issues beyond its traditional remit 

but affect local people. 

 

 To ensure O&S works with the community and key partners to respond to 

concerns. 

 

 To continue to ensure that the work of O&S has a positive effect on decision-

makers and provide evidence that it has made a real difference.  

Recommendations made in 2013-14 will be monitored and their impact reported 

on in the Annual Report 2014-2015. 

 

 

 To continue to increase public participation in O&S at Northampton by increased 

public suggestions for scrutiny review and increased attendance at O&S 

Committee and Panel meetings.  This process has increased year on year. 

 

15 

152



Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 13 

Glossary of Terms 

 

Call-In 

 

The process by which the O&S Committee considers whether a decision is properly 

taken or is the right decision. 

 

Cabinet (Executive) 

 

The Executive body responsible for day-to-day running of the Council and the 

development of policy.   Cabinet Members have portfolios or areas of responsibility 

(e.g. Housing) for which they take executive decisions.  

 

Councillor (Member) 

 

An elected local representative on the Council, a Councillor represents the interests 

of the people who live in their ward and Northampton as a whole 

Pre-decision Scrutiny: 

O&S may inform Executive decisions on topics on the Forward Plan by making 

evidence based recommendations or advice prior to formal decision by the Executive. 

Review 

A study led by Scrutiny Councillors on a current issue, selected by the Committee. It 

aims to identify areas of good as well as poor practice, compare performance with 

other councils' countrywide, and challenge existing practice where relevant. 

The review will lead to recommendations for improvements to relevant Cabinet 

Members as well as outside agencies, such as health trusts. While these are not 

obliged to support the recommendations, effective consultation has been proven to 

lead to consensus and to Cabinet support for reviews undertaken. 

 

  

 

153



Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 14 

Contact details for more information 

 

Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer, is always very happy to speak to local people about the activities 

of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  If you have any comments or queries, or would 

like to suggest areas which may be appropriate topics for future work, you can speak to her 

by calling 0300 330 7000 or by email. 

 

You can view recent agendas and minutes on the Council’s website at 

www.northampton.gov.uk or by contacting Democratic Services  

 

Overview and Scrutiny has its own dedicated website within the Council’s website.  The 

current work of Overview and Scrutiny and the reports already published are available on 

this site. The address is www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny 

 

Suggest an item for Overview and Scrutiny to investigate? 

 

Do you have any suggestions for issues for inclusion onto the Overview and Scrutiny future 

Work Programme?  If so please complete the form overleaf and return to: - 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Northampton Borough Council 

The Guildhall 

St Giles Square 

Northampton 

NN1 1DE 

 

Email:  Scrutiny 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

154

mailto:ttiff@northampton.gov.uk
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/
mailto:democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk.
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny
mailto:ttiff@northampton.gov.uk


Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 15 

 
Suggest an item for  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Do you have any suggestions for issues 
for inclusion onto the Overview and 
Scrutiny future Work Programme?  If so 
please complete the form opposite and 
return to: - 
 
 Overview and Scrutiny 
 Northampton Borough Council 
 The Guildhall 
 St Giles Square 
 Northampton 
 NN1 1DE 
 
 Email:  Scrutiny 
 
Just as Overview and Scrutiny has 
considerable influence when used in the 
right way, there are times when other 
procedures are more appropriate. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny cannot help in the 
following areas: 
 

 Individual complaints about 
specific issues  - these should 
be taken up through Northampton 
Borough Council's Customer Care 
Procedure. 

 
 Proper accounting for money of 

the Council - this is the 
responsibility of the Audit 
Committee - for information, 
contact  01604 837356 

 
 The conduct or behaviour of a 

councillor or officer - this is the 
responsibility of the Standards 
Committee - for information, 
contact 01604 837101. 

 
It cannot be guaranteed that items raised 
in this way will actually be considered by 
Overview and Scrutiny. 

Suggested Issues for Overview  

and Scrutiny   

Name: 
 
Email: 
 
Telephone 
 

 
Issues suggested for inclusion on the  
Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 
 
 
 
 

 

Overview and Scrutiny to investigate? 

155

mailto:ttiff@northampton.gov.uk


Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 2013/2014 
 

 16 

If English is not your first language and you need help in translating this document please 
contact Tracy Tiff on 01604 837408. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LARGE PRINT AND TAPE 
 
If you would like this document as large print or as a tape recording please call 
01604 837408 

156



 

 
Where indicated a decision or part of a decision may be made in Private – details regarding this can be 
found by clicking here .  Anyone wishing to make representations that this matter should be discussed in 
public, should do so by not later than 12 Calendar Days prior to the meeting, using the details below: 
The Monitoring Officer c/o The Guildhall, St Giles Square, Northampton, NN1 1DE or  
email: democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk 
 

 

 
 

 

Northampton Borough Council 
 

(Section 5 & 9 of The Local Authorities – (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012) 
 

Decision Maker: Cabinet 
  

Directorate: Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning 

Report of: Director of Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning 

Public or Private PUBLIC 

Expected Date of Decision: 11 June 2014 

Title of Expected Decision Community Infrastructure Levy- Draft Charging Schedule 
Consultation 

Record of the expected decision 
to be made: 

To approve the Draft Charging Schedule for the purposes 
of consultation.  

 
 
 
  

Directorate: Chief Executive 

Report of: Chief Executive 

Public or Private PUBLIC 

Expected Date of Decision: 11 June 2014 

Title of Expected Decision Community Wellbeing Services 

Record of the expected decision 
to be made: 

For NBC to lead a partnership of providers in tendering to 
deliver community well-being services in Northampton.  

 
 
 
  

157

Agenda Item 15

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=528


 
Where indicated a decision or part of a decision may be made in Private – details regarding this can be 
found by clicking here .  Anyone wishing to make representations that this matter should be discussed in 
public, should do so by not later than 12 Calendar Days prior to the meeting, using the details below: 
The Monitoring Officer c/o The Guildhall, St Giles Square, Northampton, NN1 1DE or  
email: democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk 
 

 

Directorate: Customers and Communities 

Report of: Director of Customers and Communities 

Public or Private PUBLIC 

Expected Date of Decision: 11 June 2014 

Title of Expected Decision Creation of a Creative Industries Hub 

Record of the expected decision 
to be made: 

In principle decision to create a creative industries hub in 
the town’s Cultural Quarter. 

 
 
 
  

Directorate: Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning 

Report of: Director of Regeneration, Enterprise and Planning 

Public or Private PUBLIC 

Expected Date of Decision: 11 June 2014 

Title of Expected Decision Asset Disposal Programme - 2014/15 

Record of the expected decision 
to be made: 

Authority to dispose of property assets 

 
 
 
 

158


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Monitoring implementation of the accepted recommendations contained in the following Overview and Scrutiny report: Retail Experience
	8 Guidelines of Section 106 Agreements
	10 Community Safety Partnership (CSP Performance)
	11 Licensing Function Performance
	12a Scrutiny Panel 1 - Impact of the Welfare Reform Act
	12b Scrutiny Panel 2 - Management and Regulation of Private Sector Housing (including HIMOs)
	front cover v1
	index
	foreword  final
	executive summary Version 1
	“Landlord's rights and responsibilities
	How to find out who the landlord is


	Final version of the report dated 6 June 2014
	2.5 The Housing Act 2004 contains the principal regulating conditions and standards operated by Northampton Borough Council as the Local Housing Authority (LHA).  This is fully in force and housing conditions within the borough are regularly assessed ...
	Article 4 Directions
	DASH Accreditation
	“Landlord's rights and responsibilities
	How to find out who the landlord is



	Appendices
	Appendix A to the final report
	OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
	July 2013 to April 2014
	Meetings to commence at 6.00 pm
	Various site visits will be programmed during this period.
	Lesley Wearing, Director of Housing, and Fran Rodgers, Head of Strategic Housing, to provide internal advice.
	11.       Final report presented by:
	12.   Monitoring procedure:

	Appendix B to the final report
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15

	Appendix C to the final report
	Appendix D to the final report
	Article 4 Directions
	5T2      5TEXAMPLES OF RECOGNISED BEST PRACTICE

	How the scheme operates
	2.4.6  On application, Landlords and Letting Agents:
	Accredited Landlords and Letting Agents


	12c Scrutiny Panel 1 - Interpersonal Violence
	scoping document 19 May 2014

	12d Scrutiny Panel 2 - Poverty in the Town
	scoping document dated 12 May 2014

	12e Scrutiny Panel 3 - Keep Northampton Tidy
	scoping document version 1

	13 Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2013/2014
	15 Potential future pre decision scrutiny

